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References to the “Company,” the “Registrant,” “iWeis,” or “our” or in this Annual Report on FornDiK refer to Manhattan
Pharmaceuticals, Inc., a Delaware corporation,camctonsolidated subsidiaries, together takenvalsade, unless the context indicates
otherwise.

Forward-Looking Statements

This annual report on Form 10-K contains forwardkiog statements within the meaning of Section27#e Securities Act of
1933, as amended, or the Securities Act, and &6 of the Exchange Act. Any statements abouespectations, beliefs, plans,
objectives, assumptions or future events or perfoice are not historical facts and may be forwaotiltg. These statements are often, but
not always, made through the use of words or pkraiseh as “anticipate,” “estimate,” “plan,” “projéc‘expect,” “may,” “intend” and simila
words or phrases. Accordingly, these statementsvevestimates, assumptions and uncertaintiescthatl cause actual results to differ
materially from those expressed in them. Thesestants are therefore subject to risks and uncégajrknown and unknown, which could
cause actual results and developments to diffeeniadly from those expressed or implied in suchesteents. Such risks and uncertainties
relate to, among other factors:

» the development of our drug candidates;

« the regulatory approval of our drug candidates;

« our use of clinical research centers and otheraotars;

« our ability to find collaborative partners for raseh, development and commercialization of potéptiaducts;
» acceptance of our products by doctors, patienpagers;

« our ability to market any of our products;

» our history of operating losses;

« our ability to compete against other companiesraadarch institutions;
» our ability to secure adequate protection for otellectual property;

« our ability to attract and retain key personnel;

» availability of reimbursement for our product catetes;

« the effect of potential strategic transactions onlmisiness;

» our ability to obtain adequate financing; and

« the volatility of our stock price.

Further, any forward-looking statement speaks aslpf the date on which it is made, and we undentakobligation to update any
forward-looking statement or statements to reféa@nts or circumstances after the date on which statement is made or to reflect the
occurrence of unanticipated events. New factorsrgenieom time to time, and it is not possible farta predict which factors will arise. In
addition, we cannot assess the impact of eachrfaotour business or the extent to which any facdocombination of factors, may cause
actual results to differ materially from those @ined in any forward-looking statements.




PART |
ITEM 1. DESCRIPTION OF BUSINESS
Overview

We are a clinical stage specialty pharmaceuticaipany focused on developing and commercializingwative pharmaceutical
therapies for underserved patient populations. iMet@ acquire rights to these technologies by lkieg or otherwise acquiring an ownership
interest, funding their research and developmedtesentually either bringing the technologies taketor out-licensing. We currently have
four product candidates in development: Hedrin™oweel, non-insecticide treatment for pediculosisah lice); Topical PTH (1-34) for the
treatment of psoriasis; Altoderm™ (topical cromogodium) for the treatment of pruritus associatétl dermatologic conditions including
atopic dermatitis; and Altolyn™ (oral tablet cromiolsodium) for the treatment of mastocytosis. Wehaot received regulatory approval
or generated commercial revenues from marketirggling any drugs.

Our executive offices are located at 810 Seventanie, 4" floor, New York, NY 10019 USA. Our telephone numize(212) 582-
3950 and our internet website address is www.mémiatiarma.com

Corporate History — Merger Transaction(s)

We were incorporated in Delaware in 1993 undemntmae “Atlantic Pharmaceuticals, Inc.” and, in Mag€®0, we changed our
name to “Atlantic Technology Ventures, Inc.” In Z)@ve completed a “reverse acquisition” of private¢ld “Manhattan Research
Development, Inc.” In connection with this transaict we also changed our name to “Manhattan Phaaieals, Inc.” From an accounting
perspective, the accounting acquirer is considerd® Manhattan Research Development, Inc. and-diogy, the historical financial
statements are those of Manhattan Research Devetdpmc.

During 2005 we merged with Tarpan Therapeutics, (fiarpan”). Tarpan was a privately held New Y da&sed biopharmaceutical
company developing dermatological therapeuticsoligh the merger, we acquired Tarpan’s primary pcbdandidate, Topical PTH (1-34)
for the treatment of psoriasis. In considerationtfieir shares of Tarpan’s capital stock, the dtolkers of Tarpan received an aggregate of
approximately 10,731,000 shares of our common stegkesenting approximately 20% of our then outditey common shares. This
transaction was accounted for as a purchase ofiidrp the Company.

Our Research and Development Programs
Hedrin ™

In June 2007, Manhattan Pharmaceuticals enterecimexclusive license agreement with Thornton &Ratd. (“T&R”) and
Kerris, S.A. (“Kerris”) for a product candidate leal Hedrin (the “Hedrin License Agreement”). We aicgd an exclusive North American
license to certain patent rights and other intéligicproperty relating to Hedrin, a non-insecticmteduct candidate for the treatment of head
lice. In addition, and at the same time, we alderenl into a Supply Agreement with T&R pursuanivtich T&R will be the Company’s
exclusive supplier of Hedrin product (the “Hedrinpply Agreement”).




In February 2008, Manhattan Pharmaceuticals anmaltiat it had entered into a joint venture agregmth Nordic Biotech
Advisors ApS (“Nordic”) to develop and commercialigledrin. A 50/50 joint venture entity was formadttnow owns, will develop and will
secure a commercialization partner for the Hedradpct in North America (the “Hedrin JV”). Manhait®harmaceuticals will manage the
day-to-day operations of the Hedrin JV. The joiebhture entity has been independently funded ardwitesponsible for all costs associated
with the Hedrin project, including any necessarytéth States (“U.S.”) clinical trials, patent cosaed future milestones owed to the original
licensor, T&R.

Pediculosis (Head lice)

Head lice (Pediculus humanus capifjsare small parasitic insects that live mainly lba@ human scalp and neck hair. Head lice ar
known to transmit disease, but they are highly @gious and are acquired by direct head-to-headiconith an infested person’s hair, and
may also be transferred with shared combs, hatisptirer hair accessories. They can also live odibgdr upholstered furniture for a brief
period. Head lice are seen across the socioecorspeiirum and are unrelated to personal cleanlmesggiene. Children are more
frequently infested than are adults, and Caucasrare frequently than other ethnic groups. Liceraost commonly found on the scalp,
behind the ears, and near the neckline at the tfattie neck. Common symptoms include a ticklindifeeof something moving in the hair,
itching, irritability caused by poor sleep, andesoon the head caused by scratching. Accordingrtinternal analysis, a majority of the
currently available prescription and over-the-ceurftOTC”) head lice treatments are chemical inses.

Mechanism of Action

Hedrin is a novel, non-insecticide combinationii€snes (dimethicone and cyclomethicone) that asts pediculicidal (lice killing)
agent by disrupting the insect’s mechanism for rgamafluid and breathing. In contrast with mostremtly available lice treatments, Hedrin
contains no chemical insecticides. Because Hedliglice by preventing the louse from excretingsitafluid and by asphyxiation
(smothering), rather than by acting on the cemteatous system, the insects have not build uptegsis to the treatment. Recent studies have
indicated that resistance to chemical insecticidag be increasing and therefore contributing tedtiside treatment failure. Manhattan
Pharmaceuticals believes there is significant nigskigential for convenient, non-insecticide treattraternatives. Both silicones in this
proprietary formulation of Hedrin are used exteabivn cosmetics and toiletries.

Clinical Development

To date, Hedrin has been clinically studied in 3@Bjects and is currently marketed as a medicatdénwr Western Europe and as a
pharmaceutical in the United Kingdom (“U.K.”).

In a randomized, controlled, equivalence, clingtady (conducted in Europe), Hedrin was administéoe253 adult and child
subjects with head lice infestation. The study ltsspublished in the British Medical Journal im&w2005, demonstrated Hedsréquivalenc
when compared to the insecticide treatment, pheimotthe most widely used pediculicide in the UlKaddition, according to the same stt
the Hedrin treated subjects experienced signifigd@ss irritation (2%) than those treated with pbarin (9%).

An additional clinical study published in the Noveen 2007 issue of PLoS One, an international, pegewed journal published by
the Public Library of Science (PL0S), demonstradedrin’s superior efficacy compared to a U.K. fotation of malathion, a widely used
insecticide treatment in both Europe and North Acgern this randomized, controlled, assessor blihgbarallel group clinical trial, 73 adult
and child subjects with head lice infestations wesated with Hedrin or malathion liquid. Usingént-to-treat analysis, Hedrin achieved a
statistically significant cure rate of 70% compate®@3% with malathion liquid. Using the per-pragbanalysis Hedrin achieved a highly
statistically significant cure rate of 77% compare®5% with malathion. In Europe, it has been Widlocumented that head lice has bect
resistant to malathion, and we believe this rests#anay have influenced the study results. To da¢ee have been no reports of malathion
resistance in the U.S. Additionally, Hedrin treasedbjects experienced no irritant reactions, andrideshowed clinical equivalence to
malathion in its ability to inhibit egg hatchingvérall, investigators and study subjects rated heal less odorous, easier to apply, and e
to wash out, and 97% of Hedrin treated subjectedtédney were significantly more inclined to use flroduct again versus 31% of those u
malathion.




In the U.S., Manhattan Pharmaceuticals, throughHigrin JV, is pursuing the development of Hedgraanedical device and has
submitted an initial regulatory package to the Wr&d and Drug Administration (“FDA") Center for {iees and Radiological Health. The
Company expects to be required to complete at tesestlinical trial with this product candidate.

Market and Competition

In Europe, Hedrin has been launched in 21 counarieshas achieved annual sales through its licersfesgproximately $45 million
at in-market public prices, and is the market ledd¢he U.K. with $11 million in sales (23% marlgdtare) and France with a 21% market
share. These figures do not include sales in Geyn&pein and Greece where Hedrin was launcheddrlaté 2007.

According to the American Academy of Pediatricseatimated 6-12 million Americans are infested vhi#fad lice each year, with
pre-school and elementary children and their fasiffected most often. The total U.S. head licekatas estimated to be over $200 million
with prescription and over-the-counter (OTC) théagomprising approximately 50% of that markete Témaining 50% of the market is
comprised of alternative therapies such as teaoflfeemineral oils, and “nit picking”, or physicabmbing to remove lice. We believe there is
significant market potential for a convenient, nogecticide treatment for head lice.

The prescription and OTC segment of the markebmidated by 4 name brand products and numerous, low cost gsnanid stor
brand equivalents. The active ingredients in thpFsemacological therapies are chemical insecticifiles most frequently prescribed
insecticide treatments are Kwell (lindane) and @\ichalathion), and the most frequently purchase@ ®fands are Rid (pyrethrin), Nix
(permethrin), and Pronto (pyrethrin). Lindane hasrbbanned in 52 countries worldwide and has n@m banned in the state of California
due to its toxicity. European formulations of Maliah have experienced widespread resistance. Besesto U.S. formulations of malathion
have not been widely reported, but experts beliengy eventually develop with continued use. Hieelresistance to pyrethrin and
permethrin has been reported in the U.S. and tex@tfailures are common.

See also “Management’s Discussion and Analysis ofnf@ncial Condition and Results of Operations- Liqudity and Capital
Resources- Research and Development Projects- Helfi

Topical PTH (1-34)

As a result of our merger with Tarpan Therapelitica05, we hold an exclusive, worldwide licenseléwelop and commercialize
Topical PTH (1-34) for the treatment of psoria3iarpan acquired the exclusive, worldwide rightsspant to a 2004 license agreement with
IGI, Inc (“IGI"). Topical PTH (1-34) has been tedta a Phase 1/2 clinical study conducted unddnyaipian investigational new drug
application (“P-IND").




Psoriasis

Psoriasis is a common, chronic, immune-mediateebdis that results in the over-production of skitsck healthy skin, immature
skin cells migrate from the lowest layer of thedepimis to the skin’s surface over a period of 2818@s. In psoriasis, these cells reproduce at
an extremely accelerated rate and advance to tfeceun only 7 days. This results in a build uger€ess, poorly differentiated skin cells that
accumulate in dry, thick patches known as plaquieese plaques can appear anywhere on the bodyimgsal skin irritation and disability.

Mechanism of Action

It is believed that Topical PTH (1-34) is an agotist mimics a natural protein responsible foutating the growth of skin cells.
The presence of this natural protein, PTHrp, isificantly reduced in the skin of psoriasis patieleading to skin cell hyperproliferation, p
differentiation of skin cells, and ultimately, thecumulation of dry thick patches of skin (plaquégjing in place of the absent PTHrp, it is
also believed that Topical PTH (1-34) is able ttphestore skin cells’ normal rate of developmenigration and turnover, reducing cell
accumulation and the formation of plaques.

Clinical Development

In 2003, researchers, led by Michael Holick, MDPPRrofessor of Medicine, Physiology, and Biophgsit Boston University
Medical Center, reported positive results from aR¥ase 1 and 2 clinical trial conducted under AP-¢valuating the safety and efficacy of
Topical PTH (1-34) as a topical treatment for pasis. This double-blind, placebo controlled triallb patients compared Topical PTH (1-34)
formulated in the Novasome® Technology versus theddome® vehicle alone. Following 8 weeks of treatmthe topical application of
Topical PTH (1-34) resulted in complete clearindtaf treated lesion in 60% of patients and pact@dring in 85% of patients. Additionally,
there was a statistically significant improvementtie global severity score. Ten patients contimeediving Topical PTH (1-34) in an open
label extension study in which the Psoriasis Amd Severity Index (PASI) was measured; PASI impnoset across all 10 patients achieved
statistically significant improvement compared &séline. This study showed Topical PTH (1-34) toviedl tolerated and efficacious for the
treatment of plaque psoriasis with no patients ggpeing any clinically significant adverse events.

Due to the high response rate seen in patienteeimitial trial with Topical PTH (1-34), we beliexthat it may have an important
clinical advantage over current topical psoriasiatments. A Phase 2a clinical study testing Tod4l (1-34) under a P-IND was initiated
in December 2005 under the auspices of Boston Wsityeln April 2006, and prior to dosing subjects reported a delay in our Phase 2a
clinical study of Topical PTH (1-34) due to a foraition issue. We believe we have resolved thiseisbrough a new gel formulation of
Topical PTH (1-34) and have filed new patent agtians in the U.S. for this new proprietary forntida.

In September 2007, the U.S. FDA accepted our catpdnvestigational New Drug (“IND”) applicationrfthis new gel formulation
of Topical PTH (1-34), and in October 2007, weiatéd and began dosing subjects in a Phase 2aatlstudy of Topical PTH (1-34) for the
treatment of psoriasis. This U.S., multi-centend@mized, double-blind, vehiclesntrolled, parallel group study is designed toleaie safet)
and preliminary efficacy of Topical PTH (1-34) fitre treatment of psoriasis. Approximately 54 sutsjedll be enrolled and randomized to
receive one of two dose levels of Topical PTH ()84 vehicle, for an 8 week treatment period.his study the vehicle is the topical
formulation without the active ingredient, PTH (4}3We expect to announce the results of this sta@ummer 2008.




Market and Competition

According to the National Psoriasis Foundation lye2f6 of the worldwide population, including appnarately 4.5 million
Americans, suffers from psoriasis. In the U.S. [@sis patients are responsible for nearly 2.4 amillisits to dermatologists each year at an
annual cost of nearly $3 billion. Manhattan Pharegicals estimates the U.S. topical psoriasis flertacs market to be approximately $400-
500 million, with the market throughout the restloé world in the same range.

The efficacy and safety profile of Topical PTH (4)®otentially make it an attractive alternativeetasting topical treatments, photo
therapies and systemic treatments such as metht¢rard biologics for the treatment of psoriasis. ke developing Topical PTH @4) as
monotherapy and for use in combination with cutlyeavailable therapies. Some of Topical PTH (1-84)mpetitors would include, but are
not limited to over-the-counter, or “OTC,” prescigm topical treatments, and laser treatment. Tneats such as phototherapy, methotrexate,
cyclosporine, Remicad®(Johnson & Johnson), Enbf@{Amgen), Amiveve® (Astellas), and Raptivé (Genentech) are generally used for
more severe patients due to their harsh side gifefies.

There are a number of treatments available todagdoriasis, including topicals and steroids. Tapteeatments include numerous
OTC ointments that help to reduce inflammation tieskin and enhance the efficacy of other thesaj8eeroids are also prescribed as an
adjunct therapy for pain and anti-inflammation. @ii¢he most frequently prescribed topical treattaém Dovonex® (calcipotriene), which is
an active vitamin D3 analogue. Approximately 60%pafients show some response to Dovdh@xthe first few months of treatment,
however, 60% of these patients become resistargatment in 6-12 months. Dovon®sales in the US in 2006 were $147 million

See also “Management’s Discussion and Analysis off@ncial Condition and Results of Operations - Liqudity and Capital
Resources - Research and Development Projects — Tecgd PTH (1-34).”

Altoderm ™

In April 2007 we entered into a license agreematit W&R, pursuant to which we acquired exclusivghts to develop and
commercialize Altoderm in North America. Altoderns a novel, proprietary formulation of topical crolyn sodium and is designed to
enhance the absorption of cromolyn sodium intositie in order to treat pruritus (itch) associatdthwiermatologic conditions including
atopic dermatitis (eczema).

Atopic Dermatitis (Eczema)

Atopic dermatitis, also know as eczema, is a clerdisease of the skin that is believed to be cabgetdlcombination of hereditary
and environmental factors. The main symptoms giatdermatitis include dry, itchy skin leading ashes on the face, hands, feet, along
inside the elbows and behind the knees. Scratakisgts in redness, swelling, cracking, “weepinigac fluid, and crusting or scaling.

Mechanism of Action

Altoderm is a topical formulation of cromolyn sodiua non-steroidal, anti-inflammatory agent thatategorized as a mast cell
stabilizer. Cromolyn sodium has been shown to bhltdegic reactions by inhibiting the release dfammatory mediators, including
histamine and leukotrienes. Elevated levels ofdteggents result in local and systemic inflammattiad, in turn, leads to conditions such as
atopic dermatitis. By reducing the release of imftaatory agents by mast cells, Manhattan Pharmaedsithelieves that Altoderm may
effectively treat patients suffering from pruritassociated with atopic dermatitis, and possiblgottermatologic conditions. Cromolyn
sodium has been used worldwide for over 35 yean®#d a number of allergic conditions includinhesg, allergic rhinitis (nasal allergies),
allergic conjunctivitis (eye allergies), and intakallergic conditions such as mastocytosis.




Clinical Development

In a Phase 3, randomized, double-blind, placebdrolded, parallel-group, clinical study (conductedEurope by T&R.) the
compound was administered for 12 weeks to 114 steoyeith moderately severe atopic dermatitis. Tlaegbo (vehicle) used in this study
was the Altoderm product without the active ingegdi In the study results, published in the Britislurnal of Dermatology in February 2005,
Altoderm demonstrated a statistically significagduction (36%) in atopic dermatitis symptoms. Dgtihe study, subjects were permitted to
continue with their existing treatment, in mostesathis consisted of emollients and topical stexofdpositive secondary outcome of the
study was a 35% reduction in the use of topicaibgle for the Altoderm treated subjects. Furtheaalgsis of the clinical data, performed by
Manhattan Pharmaceuticals, showed that Altoderatdtesubjects also experienced a 57% reductioruiitys.

Altoderm is currently being tested in a second,cimgy Phase 3, randomized, double-blind, vehicletrotied clinical study (also
conducted in Europe by T&R). Analysis of the préfiary data from the initial 12 week, blinded pontiof this clinical trial has been
completed. The vehicle used in this study was thied&rm product without the active ingredient, cadpm sodium. The preliminary data
indicate Altoderm was safe and well tolerated, simowed a trend toward improvement in pruritus,tbatefficacy results were inconclusive.
Altoderm treated subjects and vehicle only treatgnjects experienced a similar improvement (eaehtgr than 30%), and therefore, the
study did not achieve statistical significance. Tmnpany believes these outcomes were due to soiatudy design where subjects were
unrestricted in their use of concomitant theragigsh as topical steroids and immunomodulatorsitngtudy subjects treated with vehicle
alone in the blinded portion of the study were shéid to Altoderm for the open label portion of #edy. Analysis of the preliminary open
label data beginning at week 13 of the study, shelicle treated subjects demonstrating further ampment when switched to Altoderm.
Given the promising clinical data obtained from tingt European Phase 3 study, and the symptomawgpnents reported in the ongoing
European Phase 3 study, both Manhattan Pharmaalsuticd T&R believe there is significant potential Altoderm and will continue
development of this product candidate.

On March 6, 2008, Manhattan Pharmaceuticals anreabiitdad successfully completed a ¥ meeting with the FDA. Based ol
review of the submitted package for Altoderm, inithg data from the two previously reported Phasébriical studies, the FDA determined
that following completion of certain nonclinicalisies, and the acceptance of an IND, Phase 2 alisiadies may be initiated in the U.S. The
FDA also concurred that the proposed indicatioprafitus associated with dermatologic conditionduding atopic dermatitis can be
pursued.

Market and Competition
According to the National Institutes of Health,estimated 10-20% of all infants and young childred 1-3% of adults have atopic

dermatitis (eczema). This translates to approxiimdt® million Americans suffering from the diseabgsurance companies spend more than
$1 billion annually on the condition.




Topical steroids, topical immunomodulators, systearitihistamines, and moisturizing agents are atigréhe primary
pharmaceutical treatments for atopic dermatitisiveler, these products are not meeting the neeplatieits due to unwanted side effects
including skin thinning, acne, hypopigmentationd @econdary infection, among others, and limitédence to support their long term safi
Based on these limitations of current atopic deitiedteatments, there is a significant market apputy for new, effective therapies.

See also “Management’s Discussion and Analysis off@ncial Condition and Results of Operations- Liqudity and Capital
Resources- Research and Development Projects- Altan.”

M

Altolyn ™

In April 2007 we entered into a license agreematit W&R, pursuant to which we acquired exclusivghts to develop and
commercialize Altolyn in North America. Altolyris a novel, proprietary oral tablet formulationaobmolyn sodium designed to treat
mastocytosis and possibly other gastrointestiradrdiers such as food allergy and symptoms of lidethowel syndrome.

Mastocytosis

Mastocytosis is a rare disorder that occurs in lobildren and adults. It is caused by the presehteo many mast cells in the body.
Mast cells are found in skin, linings of the stomand intestine, and connective tissue (such asacgr and tendons). Mast cells play an
important role in helping the immune systems definede tissues from disease. They release chefalaamns” such as histamine and
cytokines to attract other key players of the imsdefense system to sites in the body where thghtrbe needed. People with mastocytosis
experience abdominal discomfort, nausea and vogititters, diarrhea, and skin lesions.

Mechanism of Action

Altolyn is a novel oral tablet formulation of crolyn sodium that has been formulated using siteifipetrug delivery technology.
This unique formulation targets release of the dnuthe upper region of the small intestine. Croonadodium, which has been used for more
than 35 years to treat a variety of allergic cdndg, is a mast cell stabilizer that reduces mal$tctivation and decreases the release of
inflammatory mediators.

Nonclinical Development

On March 6, 2008, Manhattan Pharmaceuticals anreabiitdad successfully completed a ¥ meeting with the FDA. Based ol
review of the submitted package for Altolyn, theABoncurred that the proposed indication of madiusig can be pursued and that the 505
(b)(2) NDA would be an acceptable approach provietinical bridge is established between Altolyrd &astrocrom®, the oral liquid
formulation of cromolyn sodium currently approvediie U.S. to treat mastocytosis. Section 505(l{2he Food, Drug and Cosmetic Act
allows the FDA to approve a follow-on drug on ttesils of data in the scientific literature or dasediby FDA in the approval of other
drugs.The FDA also affirmed that a single, Phasti8y demonstrating the efficacy of Altolyn oveagbo, may be sufficient to support a
product approval in the U.S. In addition, the FOgoaconcurs that no additional nonclinical studiéls be required to support an IND
application. The Company is working with T&R ane tturrent U.K. manufacturer of Altolyn to develo@aod Manufacturing Process
(“cGMP”) compliant manufacturing process.




Early clinical experience with Altolyn in the U.lKuggests promising activity in patients with vag@llergic disorders, including
food allergy and inflammatory bowel conditions. T@empany may pursue these as additional indications

See also “Management’s Discussion and Analysis off@ncial Condition and Results of Operations- Liqudity and Capital
Resources- Research and Development Projects- Alyal.”

Oleoyl-estrone

On July 9, 2007 the Company announced the reslits twvo Phase 2a clinical trials of oral Oleogt®ne (“OE”). The results of
both randomized, double-blind, placebo controlledligs, one in common obesity and the other in idasbesity, demonstrated no
statistically or clinically meaningful placebo adjed weight loss for any of the treatment armsuatatd. Based on these results, the Company
discontinued its OE programs in both common obesity morbid obesity.

Propofol Lingual Spray
On July 9, 2007 the Company announced that it ditwoed development of Propofol Lingual Spray fog-procedural sedation.
Intellectual Property and License Agreements

Our goal is to obtain, maintain and enforce papeatection for our products, formulations, processeethods and other proprietary
technologies, preserve our trade secrets, and tepeithout infringing on the proprietary rights ather parties, both in the United States and
in other countries. Our policy is to actively sdelobtain, where appropriate, the broadest inteleEqroperty protection possible for our
product candidates, proprietary information andopedary technology through a combination of coctimal arrangements and patents, both in
the U.S. and elsewhere in the world.

We also depend upon the skills, knowledge and épez of our scientific and technical personnelyal as that of our advisors,
consultants and other contractors. none This knigdend experience we call “know-how”. To help pobvour proprietary know-how which
is not patentable, and for inventions for whichepds may be difficult to enforce, we rely on trageret protection and confidentiality
agreements to protect our interests. To this eediequire all employees, consultants, advisorsoéimer contractors to enter into
confidentiality agreements which prohibit the distire of confidential information and, where apgdbie, require disclosure and assignment
to us of the ideas, developments, discoveries mrehtions important to our business.

Hedrin

On June 26, 2007, the Company entered into an gxellicense the Hedrin agreement with T&R and kefursuant to the Hedrin
License Agreement, the Company has acquired angxel North American license to certain patenttsgind other intellectual property
relating to Hedrin™ | a non-insecticide product candidate for the ineait of pediculosis (“head lice”):

1. U.S. Patent Application No. 2007/0142330, entitlddethod and composition for the control of arthods.” Jayne Ansell,
Inventor. Application filed February 12, 2007. Thigplication is a divisional of U.S. applicationrS&o. 10/097,615, filed
Mar. 15, 2002, which is a continuation of Interpatl Application No. PCT/GB00/03540, which desigbthe United
States and was filed on Sep. 14, 2000. This agjgithas not yet issued as a patent. Any patehighaes will expire on
Septemberl14, 2020.




This patent application has numerous, detailedspedific claims related to the use of Hedrin (ndeeinulation of silicon
derivatives) in controlling and repelling arthrogaglich as insects and arachnids, and in particatdarol and eradication of head lice and t
ova.

In addition, on June 26, 2007, the Company entetecthe Hedrin Supply Agreement with T&R pursutmtvhich T&R will be the
Company’s exclusive supplier of the Hedrin product.

In consideration for the license, the Company id€0er&R and Kerris (jointly, the “Licensor'd combined total of 150,000 share
its common stock valued at $120,000. In additibe, Eompany also made a cash payment of $600,00@ tdcensor. Further, the Company
agreed to make future milestone payments to thersiar comprised of various combinations of cashcanamon stock in respective
aggregate amounts of $2,500,000 upon the achievashearious clinical and regulatory milestones@kws: $250,000 upon acceptance by
the FDA of an IND; $1,000,000 upon the achievenuért successful outcome of a Phase 3 clinical, $aD0,000 upon the final approval ¢
New Drug Application “NDA”"), or its equivalent, by the FDA; $300,000 upthe issuance of a U.S. patent on Hedrin: and $280upon
receipt of marketing authorization in Canada.

Through December 31, 2007, none of the milestoage been reached and sales have not commencezfptieewe have not paid
any such milestones or royalties.

The Company also agreed to pay royalties to therisor of 8% (or, under certain circumstances, 4%)ad sales of licensed
products. The Company’s exclusivity under the Hedgreement is subject to an annual minimum royaétyment of $1,000,000 (or, under
certain circumstances, $500,000) in each of thre through seventh years following the first comamdrsale of Hedrin. The Company may
sublicense its rights under the Hedrin Agreemettt wie consent of Licensor and the proceeds raguitom such sublicenses will be shared
with the Licensor.

Pursuant to the Hedrin Supply Agreement, the Compais agreed that it and its sublicensees willlpase their respective
requirements of the Hedrin product from T&R at agreipon prices. Under certain circumstances whé&r i§ unable to supply Hedrin
products in accordance with the terms and conditafrthe Supply Agreement, the Company may obtesdyct from an alternative supplier
subject to certain conditions. The term of the Supgreement ends upon termination of the Hedrimefsgnent.

On February 25, 2008 the Company assigned andéraad its rights in Hedrin to the Hedrin JV . THedrin JV is now responsible
for all of the Company’s obligations under the Hadiicense Agreement and the Hedrin Supply Agredmen

Topical PTH (1-34) License Agreement

In connection with our April 2005 acquisition offpan Therapeutics, Inc., we acquired Tarpan’s sigimder an April 2004
Sublicense Agreement with IGI, Inc. (the “IGI Agment”). Pursuant to this agreement we now havedmode, exclusive license rights to
the U.S. and foreign patents and patent applicationall topical uses of Topical PTH(1-34) for tneatment of hyperproliferative skin

disorders including psoriasis:

1. U.S. Patent No. 5,527,772, entitled “Regulatiocelf proliferation and differentiation using pepsd” M.F. Holick, Inventor.
Application filed July, 28, 1994. Patent issuedelaB, 1996. This patent expires June 18, 2013.
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2. U.S. Patent No. 5,840,690, entitled “Regulatiocealf proliferation and differentation using peptdeM.F. Holick, Inventor.
Application filed June 6, 1995. Patent issued Noven?4, 1998. This patent expires June 18, 2013.

3. U.S. Provisional application No. US60/940,509, tkedi “Topical Compositions comprising a macromoleand methods of
using same.” Application was filed on May 29, 2007.

These patents have numerous, detailed and spelaifins relating to the topical use of Topical PTIH34)

The IGI sublicense agreement requires us to matkaicenilestone payments as follows: $300,000 pkyapon the commencement
of a Phase 2 clinical trial; $500,000 upon the c@ncement of a Phase 3 clinical trial; $1,500,008nupe acceptance of an Investigational
New Drug Application “NDA") by the FDA; $2,400,000 upon the approvalasf NDA by the FDA; $500,000 upon the commencemeat o
Phase 3 clinical trial for an indication other th@soriasis; $1,500,000 upon the acceptance of & &pplication for an indication other th
psoriasis by the FDA; and $2,400,000 upon the aggbraf an NDA for an indication other than psor&ky the FDA.

During 2007 we achieved the milestone of the conteement of a Phase 2 clinical trial. As a result®800 became payable to IGI.
This $300,000 is included in research and developmepense for the year ended December 31, 20Q7étd was made to IGI in February
2008. At December 31, 2008 this $300,000 liabiktyeflected in accounts payable.

In addition, we are obligated to pay IGlI, Inc. amaal royalty of 6% on annual net sales up to $X0MO00. In any calendar year in
which net sales exceed $200,000,000, we are obtigatpay IGl, Inc. an annual royalty of 9% anmet sales. Through December 31, 2007
sales have not commenced, therefore we have nbapgisuch royalties.

IGI, Inc. may terminate the agreement (i) upon &¢sdnotice if we fail to make any required milestcor royalty payments, or (ii) if
we become bankrupt or if a petition in bankrup&filed, or if we are placed in the hands of a ingareor trustee for the benefit of creditors.
IGI, Inc. may terminate the agreement upon 60 daysten notice and an opportunity to cure in therd we commit a material breach or
default. We may terminate the agreement in wholesdio any portion of the PTH patent rights upor@gs’ notice to IGI, Inc.

Altoderm

On April 3, 2007, the Company entered into a lieeagreement for Altoderm (the “Altoderm Agreementith T&R. Pursuant to tr
Altoderm Agreement, the Company acquired an exeduliorth American license to certain patent rigirtd other intellectual property
relating to Altoderm, a topical skin lotion prodwezindidate with the active ingredient cromolyn soa{also known as sodium cromoglicate)
for the treatment of pruritis (itch) associatedhadiermatologic conditions including atopic dermstit

1. U.S. Patent No. 7,109,246, entitled “Pharmaceutioaipositions comprising an amphoteric surfactardlkoxylated cetyl
alcohol and a polar drugBrian Hawtin, Inventor. Application filed May 20999. Patent issued September 19, 2006. This |
expires on May 20, 2019.

2. U.S. Application Publication No. 2007/0036860, #adti “Treatment of allergic conditions.” AlexandiEmes Wigmore,
Inventor. Any patent that issues will expire on Mmber 9, 2019. This patent covers both Altoderm/Asdimyn.
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These patents have numerous, detailed and spelaifins related to the use of Altoderm (compositibropically administered
cromolyn sodium) for treating atopic dermatitiszema).

In accordance with the terms of the Altoderm Agreamthe Company issued 125,000 shares of its canstoek, valued at
$112,500, and made a cash payment of $475,000 B Ubn the execution of the agreement. FurtherCtivapany agreed to make future
milestone payments to T&R comprised of various cioiaiions of cash and common stock in respectiveeagge amounts of $5,675,000 and
875,000 shares of our common stock upon the admientof various clinical and regulatory milestoresfollows: $450,000 upon
acceptance by FDA of an IND; 125,000 shares ofcourmon stock upon the first dosing of a patierthanfirst Phase 2 clinical trial; 250,000
shares of our common stock and $625,000 upon tstedidsing of a patient in the first Phase 3 chhtdal; $1,000,000 upon the achievement
of a successful outcome of a Phase 3 clinical tik|100,000 upon the acceptance for filing of af\#pplication by the FDA; 500,000 shares
of our common stock and $2,000,000 upon the fipptaval of an NDA by the FDA; and $500,000 uporeiptof marketing authorization in
Canada.

In addition, we are obligated to pay T&R an anrmoghlty of 10% on annual net sales of up to $100,000; 15% of the amount of
annual net sales in excess of $100,000,000 andd2@@tnual net sales in excess of $200,000,000.€Tisea minimum royalty of $1,000,000
per year. There is a one-time success fee of $2M00 upon the achievement of cumulative net sl8400,000,000. Through December
31, 2007, none of the milestones have been reauiebdales have not commenced, therefore, we haymibany such milestones or
royalties.

Altolyn

On April 3, 2007, the Company and T&R also enténtd a license agreement for Altolyn (the “Altohgreement”).Pursuant to tr
Altolyn Agreement, the Company acquired an exclidiorth American license to certain patent rigims ather intellectual property relating
to Altolyn, an oral tablet formulation product cagate using sodium cromolyn for the treatment oftoeytosis, food allergies, and
inflammatory bowel disorder.

1. U.S. Patent No. 7,258,872, entitled “Chromone éntetease formulation.” Alexander James Wigmoneehtor. Application filed
November 9, 1999, claiming the benefit of a GB aggpion filed November 11, 1998. Patent issued Ata@d, 2007. The expect
date of expiration, which was November 9, 2019, lleen extended by 793 days (expiration date JaRQUR).

2. U.S. Application Publication No. 2007/0036860, #adi “Treatment of allergic conditions.” AlexandiEmes Wigmore, Inventor.
Application filed October 13, 2006, claiming thenleét of a prior U.S. application, which claimedtthenefit of a PCT application
filed November 9, 1999. This application has ndtigeued as a patent. Any patent that issues isctag to expire on November 9,
2019. This patent covers both Altoderm and Altolyn.

These patents have numerous, detailed and speleiiins related to Altolyn (as an oral tablet dradj\wkry composition), and the
pending application discloses and may be usedimdhe use of Altolyn (composition of orally adnsiered sodium cromolyn) for the
treatment of allergic conditions, specifically foallergies.

In accordance with the terms of the Altolyn Agream¢éhe Company made a cash payment of $475,008Bupon the execution
of the agreement. Further, the Company agreed ke ifiadure milestone payments to T&R comprised afowss combinations of cash and
common stock in respective aggregate amounts 67$5)00 upon the achievement of various clinical mgulatory milestones. as follows:
$450,000 upon acceptance filing by the FDA of aB;$625,000 upon the first dosing of a patienthia first Phase 3 clinical trial;
$1,000,000 upon the achievement of a successfabme of a Phase 3 clinical trial; $1,100,000 ugmnacceptance for filing of a NDA
application by the FDA; $2,000,000 upon the finap@val of an NDA by the FDA; and $500,000 uporeiptof marketing authorization in
Canada.
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In addition, we are obligated to pay T&R an annmoghlty of 10% on annual net sales of up to $100,000; 15% of the amount of
annual net sales in excess of $100,000,000 andd2@#¥tnual net sales in excess of $200,000,000.€Tisea minimum royalty of $1,000,000
per year. There is a one-time success fee of $aM00 upon the achievement of cumulative net szl8400,000,000. Through December
31, 2007, none of the milestones have been reaaiebdales have not commenced, therefore, we haymibany such milestones or
royalties.

Oleoyl-estrone

On July 9, 2007 the Company announced the resiilts twvo Phase 2a clinical trials of oral OE. Tresults of both randomized,
double-blind, placebo controlled studies, one impwn obesity and the other in morbid obesity, destrated no statistically or clinically
meaningful placebo adjusted weight loss for antheftreatment arms evaluated. Based on thesegeghdtCompany discontinued its OE
programs in both common obesity and morbid obesity.
Propofol Lingual Spray

On July 9, 2007 the Company announced that it ditwoed development of Propofol Lingual Spray fog-procedural sedation.

Manufacturing

We do not have any manufacturing capabilities. Wéemcontact with several contract cGMP manufaasifor the supply of
Topical PTH(1-34), Hedrin, Altoderm and Altolyn thaill be necessary to conduct human clinical sial

Government Regulation

The research, development, testing, manufactuvelifey, promotion, advertising, distribution, andnketing, among other things, of
our products are extensively regulated by govertat@uthorities in the United States and other twes In the United States, the FDA
regulates drugs under the Federal Food, Drug, asthétic Act, or the FDCA, and its implementing regions. Failure to comply with the
applicable U.S. requirements may subject us to aidinative or judicial sanctions, such as FDA rafue approve pending NDAs, warning

letters, product recalls, product seizures, totgdastial suspension of production or distributiotiunctions, and/or criminal prosecution.

Drug Approval ProcesdNone of our drugs may be marketed in the U.S. timtildrug has received FDA approval. The stepsined,
before a drug may be marketed in the U.S. include:

« nonclinical laboratory tests, animal studies, avdnulation studies,
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» submission to the FDA of an IND for human cliniéagting, which must become effective before huniiical trials may
begin,

« adequate and well-controlled human clinical trtalgstablish the safety and efficacy of the drugefich indication,
« submission to the FDA of an NDA,

» satisfactory completion of an FDA inspection of thanufacturing facility or facilities at which tldeug is produced to assess
compliance with current good manufacturing prastice cGMPs, and

« FDA review and approval of the NDA.

Nonclinical tests include laboratory evaluatiorpodduct chemistry, toxicity, and formulation, aslivées animal studies. The conduct
of the nonclinical tests and formulation of the gaands for testing must comply with federal regole and requirements. The results of the
nonclinical tests, together with manufacturing mfiation and analytical data, are submitted to thé s part of an IND, which must becol
effective before human clinical trials may begim IND will automatically become effective 30 dayteareceipt by the FDA, unless before
that time the FDA raises concerns or questionstabsues such as the conduct of the trials asneatlin the IND. In such a case, the IND
sponsor and the FDA must resolve any outstandirgy Eihcerns or questions before clinical trials pamceed. We cannot be sure that
submission of an IND will result in the FDA allovgrelinical trials to begin.

Clinical trials involve the administration of thaviestigational drug to human subjects under thersigion of qualified investigator
Clinical trials are conducted under protocols digigithe objectives of the study, the parametetsstaised in monitoring safety, and the
effectiveness criteria to be evaluated. Each poytowist be submitted to the FDA as part of the IND.

Clinical trials typically are conducted in threggential phases, but the phases may overlap. Thg ptotocol and informed conse
information for study subjects in clinical trialaust also be approved by an Institutional ReviewrBdar each institution where the trials will
be conducted. Study subjects must sign an infortnedent form before participating in a clinicadtriPhase 1 usually involves the initial
introduction of the investigational drug into peapb evaluate its short-term safety, dosage toterametabolism, pharmacokinetics and
pharmacologic actions, and, if possible, to gairarty indication of its effectiveness. Phase 2ailgunvolves trials in a limited patient
population to (i) evaluate dosage tolerance andogpiate dosage; (ii) identify possible adverseet and safety risks; and (iii) preliminarily
evaluate the efficacy of the drug for specific gations. Phase 3 trials usually further evaluateazl efficacy and test further for safety by
using the drug in its final form in an expandedg#tpopulation. There can be no assurance thatePhaPhase 2, or Phase 3 testing will be
completed successfully within any specified pexadtime, if at all. Furthermore, we or the FDA mayspend clinical trials at any time on
various grounds, including a finding that the suatgeor patients are being exposed to an unaccephallth risk.

The FDCA permits FDA and the IND sponsor to agrewiiting on the design and size of clinical stgdigtended to form the

primary basis of an effectiveness claim in an Npplecation. This process is known as Special Patéssessment, or SPA. These
agreements may not be changed after the cliniodlest begin, except in limited circumstances.
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Assuming successful completion of the requiredicdintesting, the results of the nonclinical anidickl studies, together with other
detailed information, including information on thanufacture and composition of the drug, are subdhib the FDA in the form of a NDA
requesting approval to market the product for an@ore indications. The testing and approval precequires substantial time, effort, and
financial resources. The agencies review the agijidic and may deem it to be inadequate to supperntdgistration and we cannot be sure
any approval will be granted on a timely basisitiéll. The FDA may also refer the applicationtte appropriate advisory committee,
typically a panel of clinicians, for review, evalitm and a recommendation as to whether the apigicahould be approved. The FDA is not
bound by the recommendations of the advisory cotemit

The FDA has various programs, including fast trgeigrity review, and accelerated approval, thatiatended to expedite or
simplify the process for reviewing drugs, and/anypde for approval on the basis surrogate endpo@éserally, drugs that may be eligible
one or more of these programs are those for seoplife-threatening conditions, those with theguital to address unmet medical needs, and
those that provide meaningful benefit over existimgtments. We cannot be sure that any of oursdmily qualify for any of these programs,
or that, if a drug does qualify, that the reviemeiwill be reduced.

Section 505(b)(2) of the FDCA allows the FDA to epfe a followen drug on the basis of data in the scientifiaditere or data us:
by FDA in the approval of other drugs. This proaedpotentially makes it easier for generic drug ufacturers to obtain rapid approval of
new forms of drugs based on proprietary data obtiginal drug manufacturer. We intend to rely acton 505(b)(2) to obtain approval for
Altolyn.

Before approving an NDA, the FDA usually will ingpehe facility or the facilities at which the driggmanufactured, and will not
approve the product unless cGMP compliance isfaaty. If the FDA evaluates the NDA and the maetiiring facilities as acceptable, the
FDA may issue an approval letter, or in some camespprovable letter followed by an approval teBoth letters usually contain a number
of conditions that must be met in order to secimal fapproval of the NDA. When and if those coratis have been met to the FDA’s
satisfaction, the FDA will issue an approval letfEine approval letter authorizes commercial manketif the drug for specific indications. As
a condition of NDA approval, the FDA may requirespmarketing testing and surveillance to moniterdiug’s safety or efficacy, or impose
other conditions.

After approval, certain changes to the approvedyxt such as adding new indications, making aertsnufacturing changes, or
making certain additional labeling claims, are sabjo further FDA review and approval. Before va@ enarket our product candidates for
additional indications, we must obtain additiongpeovals from FDA. Obtaining approval for a newigadion generally requires that
additional clinical studies be conducted. We cafmgosure that any additional approval for new iatians for any product candidate will be
approved on a timely basis, or at all.

Post-Approval RequirementsOften times, even after a drug has been approvedeblfDA for sale, the FDA may require that
certain post-approval requirements be satisfiedyding the conduct of additional clinical studidfssuch post-approval conditions are not
satisfied, the FDA may withdraw its approval of tireg. In addition, holders of an approved NDA i@guired to: (i) report certain adverse
reactions to the FDA, (ii) comply with certain réguments concerning advertising and promotionatlialy for their products, and (iii)
continue to have quality control and manufactupngcedures conform to cGMP after approval. The Fi2Aodically inspects the sponsor’s
records related to safety reporting and/or manufagj facilities; this latter effort includes asse®nt of compliance with cGMP.
Accordingly, manufacturers must continue to exptéme, money, and effort in the area of productiad guality control to maintain cGMP
compliance. We intend to use third party manufagtito produce our products in clinical and comia¢guantities, and future FDA
inspections may identify compliance issues at #udifies of our contract manufacturers that magrupt production or distribution, or require
substantial resources to correct. In addition,aliscy of problems with a product after approval magult in restrictions on a product,
manufacturer, or holder of an approved NDA, inchgdivithdrawal of the product from the market.
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Orphan Drug.The FDA may grant orphan drug designation to dingnded to treat a “rare disease or conditievhich generally i
a disease or condition that affects fewer than@@®jndividuals in the United States. Orphan dragighation must be requested before
submitting an NDA. If the FDA grants orphan drugid@ation, which it may not, the identity of theethpeutic agent and its potential orphan
use are publicly disclosed by the FDA. Orphan dtegignation does not convey an advantage in, ateshthe duration of, the review and
approval process. If a product that has an orphag designation subsequently receives the first Epproval for the indication for which it
has such designation, the product is entitled plvan exclusivity, meaning that the FDA may not apprany other applications to market the
same drug for the same indication, except in aektary limited circumstances, for a period of seyears. Orphan drug designation does not
prevent competitors from developing or marketinffedént drugs for that indication.

Non-United States RegulationBefore our products can be marketed outside obttited States, they are subject to regulatory
approval similar to that required in the Unitedt8sa although the requirements governing the canafudinical trials, including additional
clinical trials that may be required, product lisgr, pricing and reimbursement vary widely fronutsy to country. No action can be taken
to market any product in a country until an appiaprapplication has been approved by the regylatothorities in that country. The current
approval process varies from country to country, gue time spent in gaining approval varies froat tequired for FDA approval. In certain
countries, the sales price of a product must atésagproved. The pricing review period often begifter market approval is granted. Even if a
product is approved by a regulatory authority,sfatitory prices may not be approved for such produc

In Europe, marketing authorizations may be subuhitttea centralized, a decentralized or nationallévhe centralized procedure is
mandatory for the approval of biotechnology produwtd provides for the grant of a single markesintihorization that is valid in all
European Union (“EU") members states. As of Jand&85, a mutual recognition procedure is availabline request of the applicant for all
medicinal products that are not subject to theradineéd procedure. There can be no assurancetthahbsen regulatory strategy will secure
regulatory approvals on a timely basis or at all.

Employees
We currently have 1 part time and 6 full time enygles, including 1 person devoted to research anelajgment and 6 persons in business

development, administration and finance, including senior management. None of our employees isredwy a collective bargaining unit.
We believe our relations with our employees isséaditory.

16




Risk Factors

An investment in our securities is speculativedture, involves a high degree of risk, and showtlre made by an investor who
cannot bear the economic risk of its investmenafoimdefinite period of time and who cannot afftird loss of its entire investment. You
should carefully consider the following risk fact@nd the other information contained elsewherthig Annual Report before making an
investment in our securities.

Risks Related to Our Business

We currently have no product revenues and will neetb raise additional funds in the future. If we areunable to obtain the funds
necessary to continue our operations, we will be geiired to delay, scale back or eliminate one or merof our drug development
programs.

We have generated no product revenues to date dntbtwintil, and if, we receive approval from tR®A and other regulatory
authorities for our product candidates. We haveaaly spent substantial funds developing our pakeptoducts and business, however, and
we expect to continue to have negative cash fleamfour operations for at least the next severaisyées of December 31, 2007, we had
$649,686 of cash and cash equivalen¥§e received additional funding of approximatelyr#lion net from a joint venture agreement in
February 2008. We will still have to raise substdradditional funds to complete the developmentwfdrug candidates and to bring them to
market. Beyond the capital requirements mentiofede@, our future capital requirements will depenchamerous factors, including:

« the results of any clinical trials;

» the scope and results of our research and develdgmagrams;

» the time required to obtain regulatory approvals;

« our ability to establish and maintain marketingaaites and collaborative agreements; and

« the cost of our internal marketing activities.

Additional financing may not be available on acedybt terms, if at all. If adequate funds are natilable, we will be required to
delay, scale back or eliminate one or more of augdlevelopment programs or obtain funds througingements with collaborative partn
or others that may require us to relinquish rigbtsertain of our technologies or products thatweelld not otherwise relinquish.

We are not currently profitable and may never becore profitable.

We have a history of losses and expect to incustanitial losses and negative operating cash flowhi foreseeable future, and we
may never achieve or maintain profitability. We @ancurred losses in every period since our inoaptin August 6, 2001. For the year en
December 31, 2007 and for the period from Augu&081 (inception) through December 31, 2007, warirexl net losses applicable to
common shares of $12,032,252, and $54,999,070cataplg. Even if we succeed in developing and comaiadizing one or more of our
product candidates, we expect to incur substalasaks for the foreseeable future and may nevembe@rofitable. We also expect to

continue to incur significant operating and capigbenditures and anticipate that our expensesneilbase substantially in the foreseeable
future as we:
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« continue to undertake nonclinical development dimdcal trials for our product candidates;

« seek regulatory approvals for our product candijate

« implement additional internal systems and infrastrce;

« lease additional or alternative office facilitiesd

« hire additional personnel.

We also expect to experience negative cash flokhforeseeable future as we fund our operatisgel® and capital expenditures.
As a result, we will need to generate significavienues in order to achieve and maintain profitgbWWe may not be able to generate these
revenues or achieve profitability in the future.r@ailure to achieve or maintain profitability cauhegatively impact the value of our comn
stock.
We have a limited operating history upon which to bse an investment decision.

We are a development-stage company and have ndeyainstrated any ability to perform the functioesessary for the successful
commercialization of any product candidates. Theesssful commercialization of our product candidat@l require us to perform a variety

of functions, including:

« continuing to undertake nonclinical development aliical trials;

participating in regulatory approval processes;
« formulating and manufacturing products; and
« conducting sales and marketing activities.

Since inception as Manhattan Research Developrivent,our operations have been limited to orgagjzind staffing, and acquirin
developing and securing our proprietary technolagg undertaking nonclinical and clinical trialspsincipal product candidates. These
operations provide a limited basis for you to asses ability to commercialize our product candédadnd the advisability of investing in our
securities.

We may not obtain the necessary U.S. or worldwideegulatory approvals to commercialize our product cadidates.

We will need FDA approval to commercialize our protdcandidates in the U.S. and approvals from & Equivalent regulatory
authorities in foreign jurisdictions to commerczaliour product candidates in those jurisdictionsrter to obtain FDA approval of any of
our product candidates, we must first submit toRB& an IND, which will set forth our plans for olcal testing of our product candidates. In
September 2007, the FDA accepted our IND for Tdg#da(1-34). Our remaining three products, HedAiipderm, and Altolyn, are
currently considered pre-clinical. We are unablegtimate the size and timing of the clinical aond clinical trials required to bring our four
product candidates to market and, accordingly, ceestimate the time when development of theseymtorhndidates will be completed.
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When the clinical testing for our product candidatecomplete, we will submit to the FDA a NDA damstrating that the product
candidate is safe for humans and effective fonitesnded use. This demonstration requires sigmificasearch and animal tests, which are
referred to as nonclinical studies, as well as huteats, which are referred to as clinical tri8latisfaction of the FDA’s regulatory
requirements typically takes many years, depends tige type, complexity and novelty of the prodeentdidate and requires substantial
resources for research, development and testingzaivieot predict whether our research and clinippft@aches will result in drugs that the
FDA considers safe for humans and effective foiciadd uses. The FDA has substantial discretidhardrug approval process and may
require us to conduct additional nonclinical anidichl testing or to perform postarketing studies. The approval process may alstelayec
by changes in government regulation, future lejeteor administrative action or changes in FDAippthat occur prior to or during our
regulatory review. Delays in obtaining regulatoppeovals may:

« delay commercialization of, and our ability to derproduct revenues from, our product candidates;

« impose costly procedures on us; and

» diminish any competitive advantages that we magmiise enjoy.

Even if we comply with all FDA requests, the FDAyndtimately reject one or more of our NDAs. We ganbe sure that we will
ever obtain regulatory clearance for any of oudpmat candidates. Failure to obtain FDA approvamyf of our product candidates will
severely undermine our business by reducing ouheurof salable products and, therefore, correspgnglioduct revenues.

In foreign jurisdictions, we must receive approfram the appropriate regulatory authorities befesecan commercialize our drugs.
Foreign regulatory approval processes generalludtecall of the risks associated with the FDA appi@rocedures described above. We
have not yet made any determination as to whiokidorjurisdictions we may seek approval and haveundertaken any steps to obtain
approvals in any foreign jurisdiction.

Clinical trials are very expensive, time consumingnd difficult to design and implement.

Human clinical trials are very expensive and diffico design and implement, in part because theysabject to rigorous regulatory
requirements. The clinical trial process is algeeticonsuming. We estimate that clinical trials wf product candidates will take at least
several years to complete. Furthermore, failureazur at any stage of the trials, and we couldenter problems that cause us to abandon
or repeat clinical trials. The commencement andpetion of clinical trials may be delayed by sevéaators, including:

« unforeseen safety issues;

» determination of dosing issues;

« lack of effectiveness during clinical trials;

« slower than expected rates of patient recruitment;

» inability to monitor patients adequately duringafter treatment; and

« inability or unwillingness of medical investigatdrsfollow our clinical protocols.
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In addition, we or the FDA may suspend our clinicalls at any time if it appears that we are ekppgarticipants to unacceptable
health risks or if the FDA finds deficiencies inrdMD submissions or the conduct of these trials.

The results of our clinical trials may not supportour product candidate claims.

Even if our clinical trials are completed as plathnge cannot be certain that their results willgan our product candidate claims.
Success in nonclinical testing and early clinic@l$ does not ensure that later clinical trial e successful, and we cannot be sure that the
results of later clinical trials will replicate thesults of prior clinical trials and nonclinicaisting. The clinical trial process may fail to
demonstrate that our product candidates are safeufoans or effective for indicated uses. Thisufailwould cause us to abandon a product
candidate and may delay development of other ptochradidates. Any delay in, or termination of, olinical trials will delay the filing of ou
NDAs with the FDA and, ultimately, our ability t@mmercialize our product candidates and generatdugt revenues. In addition, \
anticipate that our clinical trials will involve na small patient population. Accordingly, theults of such trials may not be indicative of
future results over a larger patient population.

Physicians and patients may not accept and use odrugs.

Even if the FDA approves our product candidategsjoians and patients may not accept and use theaeptance and use of our
product will depend upon a number of factors inoigd

« perceptions by members of the health care commuinitiuding physicians, about the safety and eiffeciess of our drugs;
« cost-effectiveness of our product relative to cotimgeproducts;

» availability of reimbursement for our products frgmvernment or other healthcare payers; and

« effectiveness of marketing and distribution effdiysus and our licensees and distributors, if any.

Because we expect sales of our current productidates, if approved, to generate substantiallpfadlur product revenues for the
foreseeable future, the failure of any of thesgdito find market acceptance would harm our busiaes could require us to seek additional
financing.

Our drug-development program depends upon third-paty researchers who are outside our control.

We currently are collaborating with several thirHy researchers, for the development of our prodaiedidates. Accordingly, the
successful development of our product candidatésiepend on the performance of these third parfieese collaborators will not be our
employees, however, and we cannot control the atrauiming of resources that they will devote tar programs. Our collaborators may
assign as great a priority to our programs or putham as diligently as we would if we were undén@g such programs ourselves. If outside
collaborators fail to devote sufficient time andaarces to our drug-development programs, or if frerformance is substandard, the
approval of our FDA applications, if any, and aotréoduction of new drugs, if any, will be delay@dhese collaborators may also have
relationships with other commercial entities, savheghom may compete with us. If our collaboratasist our competitors at our expense,
our competitive position would be harmed.

20




We rely exclusively on third parties to formulate aand manufacture our product candidates.

We have no experience in drug formulation or mactuféng and do not intend to establish our own nfiacturing facilities. We lack
the resources and expertise to formulate or maturour own product candidates. We intend to eatiwith one or more manufacturers to
manufacture, supply, store and distribute drug Bepjfor our clinical trials. If any of our product candidates receive FDA apptpwe will
rely on one or more third-party contractors to nfaoture our drugs. Our anticipated future reliaoge limited number of third-party
manufacturers, exposes us to the following risks:

« We may be unable to identify manufacturers on aed®@ terms or at all because the number of patemtnufacturers is
limited and the FDA must approve any replacementreator. This approval would require new testing aompliance
inspections. In addition, a new manufacturer wdidde to be educated in, or develop substantiallyvatent processes for,
production of our products after receipt of FDA apy@l, if any.

e Our third-party manufacturers might be unable tonfidlate and manufacture our drugs in the volumeddrtde quality required
to meet our clinical needs and commercial needs)yf

« Our future contract manufacturers may not perfosragreed or may not remain in the contract manufiact business for the
time required to supply our clinical trials or tacsessfully produce, store and distribute our pctslu

« Drug manufacturers are subject to ongoing periadennounced inspection by the FDA, the Drug Enfoee Agency, and
corresponding state agencies to ensure strict ¢gang@ with good manufacturing practice and otheregament regulations and
corresponding foreign standards. We do not have@oover third-party manufacturers’ compliancewtibhese regulations and
standards.

« If any third-party manufacturer makes improvemente manufacturing process for our products, veg mot own, or may
have to share, the intellectual property rightth®innovation.

We have no experience selling, marketing or distrilting products and no internal capability to do so.

We currently have no sales, marketing or distrinuttapabilities. We do not anticipate having treoteces in the foreseeable future
to allocate to the sales and marketing of our psed@roducts. Our future success depends, ingradir ability to enter into and maintain
such collaborative relationships, the collaborasttategic interest in the products under deveéapirand such collaborator’s ability to
successfully market and sell any such productsinféad to pursue collaborative arrangements reggritie sales and marketing of our
products, however, there can be no assurance thaiilhbe able to establish or maintain such callative arrangements, or if able to do so,
that they will have effective sales forces. Toeeent that we decide not to, or are unable teranto collaborative arrangements with
respect to the sales and marketing of our proppeadiicts, significant capital expenditures, manag#mesources and time will be required
to establish and develop an in-house marketingsates force with technical expertise. There cam lbésno assurance that we will be able to
establish or maintain relationships with third gartllaborators or develop in-house sales andibligton capabilities. To the extent that we
depend on third parties for marketing and distidnutany revenues we receive will depend upon tfogte of such third parties, and there can
be no assurance that such efforts will be succkedsfaddition, there can also be no assurancevtkatill be able to market and sell our
product in the United States or overseas.
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If we cannot compete successfully for market sharggainst other drug companies, we may not achievef§igient product revenues and
our business will suffer.

The market for our product candidates is charaxdrby intense competition and rapid technologidaiances. If our product
candidates receive FDA approval, they will compeith a number of existing and future drugs andap&rs developed, manufactured and
marketed by others. Existing or future competingdpicts may provide greater therapeutic conveniencéinical or other benefits for a
specific indication than our products, or may offemparable performance at a lower cost. If oudpets fail to capture and maintain market
share, we may not achieve sufficient product reesrand our business will suffer.

We will compete against fully integrated pharmammltcompanies and smaller companies that arelmiding with larger
pharmaceutical companies, academic institutiongegonent agencies and other public and privateareReorganizations. Many of these
competitors have product candidates that will compéth ours already approved or in developmenaddition, many of these competitors,
either alone or together with their collaboratiatpers, operate larger research and developmegtagms and have substantially greater
financial resources than we do, as well as siggnifily greater experience in:

» developing drugs;

« undertaking nonclinical testing and human clinicils;

« obtaining FDA and other regulatory approvals ofgd;u

« formulating and manufacturing drugs; and

» launching, marketing and selling drugs.

Developments by competitors may render our productsr technologies obsolete or non-competitive.

Many of the organizations competing with us havessantially greater capital resources, larger mebeand development staffs and

facilities, longer drug development history in dbiag regulatory approvals and greater manufactuaind marketing capabilities than we do.

These organizations also compete with us to attpaalified personnel, parties for acquisitionspjaientures or other collaborations.

If we fail to adequately protect or enforce our intllectual property rights or secure rights to patets of others, the value of our
intellectual property rights would diminish.

Our success, competitive position and future reegsmill depend in part on our ability and the ateifi of our licensors to obtain and

maintain patent protection for our products, methguiocesses and other technologies, to presenteagie secrets, to prevent third parties
from infringing on our proprietary rights and toevpte without infringing the proprietary rightstbfrd parties.
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We currently do not directly own the rights to asgued patents. We license the exclusive rightsttial of four issued patents
relating to our current product candidates, whigbire from 2013 to 2022. See “Business — IntellatbRroperty and License Agreements.”.

However, with regard to the patents covered bylioense agreements and any future patents issugbitt we will have rights, we
cannot predict:

« the degree and range of protection any patentsaffidtd us against competitors including whethéndtparties will find ways to
invalidate or otherwise circumvent our patents;

« if and when patents will issue;

« whether or not others will obtain patents claimaspects similar to those covered by our patentgpateht applications; or

« whether we will need to initiate litigation or admstrative proceedings which may be costly whetiemwin or lose.

Our success also depends upon the skills, knowladdexperience of our scientific and technicaspenel, our consultants and
advisors as well as our licensors and contraciarielp protect our proprietary know-how and oweintions for which patents may be
unobtainable or difficult to obtain, we rely ondeasecret protection and confidentiality agreemérdghis end, we require all of our
employees, consultants, advisors and contractaster into agreements which prohibit the disclesafrconfidential information and, where
applicable, require disclosure and assignment tf tise ideas, developments, discoveries and inwemimportant to our business. These
agreements may not provide adequate protectioouiotrade secrets, know-how or other proprietafgrination in the event of any
unauthorized use or disclosure or the lawful dgwelent by others of such information. If any of tnade secrets, know-how or other
proprietary information is disclosed, the valueaf trade secrets, know-how and other proprietghts would be significantly impaired and
our business and competitive position would suffer.

If we infringe the rights of third parties we could be prevented from selling products, forced to pagamages, and defend against
litigation.

Our business is substantially dependent on théiénteal property on which our product candidatestzased. To date, we have not
received any threats or claims that we may berigfing on another’s patents or other intellectuapprty rights. If our products, methods,
processes and other technologies infringe the @iy rights of other parties, we could incur gahtial costs and we may have to:

» obtain licenses, which may not be available on cencially reasonable terms, if at all;

« redesign our products or processes to avoid irériment;

« stop using the subject matter claimed in the patkeld by others;

« pay damages; or

« defend litigation or administrative proceedings ethimay be costly whether we win or lose, and wisimhld result in a
substantial diversion of our valuable managemesdueces.
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Our ability to generate product revenues will be dininished if our drugs sell for inadequate prices opatients are unable to obtain
adequate levels of reimbursement.

Our ability to commercialize our drugs, alone othwdollaborators, will depend in part on the extenivhich reimbursement will be
available from:

« government and health administration authorities;
« private health maintenance organizations and héewtirers; and
« other healthcare payers.

Significant uncertainty exists as to the reimbursetstatus of newly approved healthcare produaslthcare payers, including
Medicare, are challenging the prices charged fattioad products and services. Government and othalthrcare payers increasingly attempt
to contain healthcare costs by limiting both cogerand the level of reimbursement for drugs. E¥euii product candidates are approved by
the FDA, insurance coverage may not be availallé raimbursement levels may be inadequate, to aawedrugs. If government and other
healthcare payers do not provide adequate covaradjeeimbursement levels for any of our produatsecapproved, market acceptance of
our products could be reduced.

We may not successfully manage our growth.

Our success will depend upon the expansion of parations and the effective management of our drowhich will place a
significant strain on our management and on ourimidtmative, operational and financial resourcesnfanage this growth, we must expand
our facilities, augment our operational, finan@atl management systems and hire and train additjoadfied personnel. If we are unable to
manage our growth effectively, our business mafesuf

If we are unable to hire additional qualified persanel, our ability to grow our business may be harme.

We will need to hire additional qualified personméth expertise in nonclinical testing, clinicabearch and testing, government
regulation, formulation and manufacturing and sales$ marketing. We compete for qualified individuaith numerous biopharmaceutical
companies, universities and other research inistitsit Competition for such individuals is intenaad we cannot be certain that our search for
such personnel will be successful. Attracting astdining qualified personnel will be critical torauccess.

We may incur substantial liabilities and may be reqired to limit commercialization of our products in response to product liability
lawsuits.

The testing and marketing of medical products éatainherent risk of product liability. If we caoisuccessfully defend ourselves
against product liability claims, we may incur statmgial liabilities or be required to limit commatzation of our products. We currently
carry clinical trial insurance in an amount up §000,000, which may be inadequate to protect agawtential product liability claims or
may inhibit the commercialization of pharmaceutigalducts we develop, alone or with corporate baltators. Although we intend to
maintain clinical trial insurance during any cliaidrials, this may be inadequate to protect usnasgany potential claims. Even if our
agreements with any future corporate collaboratatile us to indemnification against losses, sademnification may not be available or
adequate should any claim arise.
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We are controlled by current officers, directors ard principal stockholders.
Our directors, executive officers and principak&tmwlders beneficially own approximately 27 peroefihdur outstanding voting sto
and, including shares underlying outstanding optiand warrants. Accordingly, these persons and thgpective affiliates will have the

ability to exert substantial influence over thecéten of our Board of Directors and the outcoméssties submitted to our stockholders.

Risks Related to Our Securities

Our stock price is, and we expect it to remain, vetile, which could limit investors’ ability to sell stock at a profit.

During the last two fiscal years, our stock pries lraded at a low of $0.09 in the fourth quarfe#0®7 to a high of $1.64 in the first
guarter of 2006. The volatile price of our stockkesit difficult for investors to predict the valoétheir investment, to sell shares at a profit
at any given time, or to plan purchases and salagvance. A variety of factors may affect the neigice of our common stock. These
include, but are not limited to:

» publicity regarding actual or potential clinicabtgts relating to products under development bycoumpetitors or us;

« delay or failure in initiating, completing or analgrg nonclinical or clinical trials or the unsatisfory design or results of these
trials;

« achievement or rejection of regulatory approval®bycompetitors or us;

« announcements of technological innovations or nemroercial products by our competitors or us;
» developments concerning proprietary rights, inclgddatents;

« developments concerning our collaborations;

« regulatory developments in the United States angida countries;

« economic or other crises and other external factors

» period-to-period fluctuations in our revenues atiteoresults of operations;

« changes in financial estimates by securities atglgsid

« sales of our common stock.

We will not be able to control many of these fast@nd we believe that period-to-period comparisdraur financial results will not
necessarily be indicative of our future performance

In addition, the stock market in general, and tlaekat for biotechnology companies in particulais baperienced extreme price and

volume fluctuations that may have been unrelatedisproportionate to the operating performancendividual companies. These broad
market and industry factors may seriously harmmtlagket price of our common stock, regardless ofoparating performance.
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We have delisted from the American Stock Exchange .

As a result of our delisting , the liquidity of ooommon stock may be reduced, not only in termi@humber of shares that can be
bought and sold at a given price, but also thradgjhys in the timing of transactions and reductiosecurity analysts’ and the media’s
coverage of us. This may result in lower pricesdier common stock than might otherwise be obtaaredicould also result in a larger spread
between the bid and asked prices for our commarksto

We have never paid dividends.

We have never paid dividends on our common stodkdamot anticipate paying any dividends for the$eeable future. You shol
not rely on an investment in our stock if you requdividend income. Further, you will only realimeome on an investment in our stock in
the event you sell or otherwise dispose of youreshat a price higher than the price you paid @uryshares. Such a gain would result only
from an increase in the market price of our comstock, which is uncertain and unpredictable.
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ITEM 2. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

Swiss Pharma Contract LTD (“Swiss Pharma”), a clihsite that the Company used in one of its opséls, gave notice to the
Company that Swiss Pharma believes it is entitegteive an additional payment of $322,776 fovises in connection with that clinical
trial. While the contract between the Company awtsS Pharma provides for additional payments ifaierconditions are met, Swiss Parma
has not specified which conditions they believeehagen achieved and the Company does not beliav&tiss Pharma is entitled to
additional payments and has not accrued any oétbests as of December 31, 2007. The contract kettbee Company and Swiss Pharma
provides for arbitration in the event of a dispwigch as this claim for an additional payment. SWkarma has filed for arbitration. As the
Company does not believe that Swiss Pharma idezhtit additional payments, it intends to defesditsition in arbitration. The arbitration
process is currently in its initial stage.

ITEM 3. DESCRIPTION OF PROPERTY

Our executive offices are located at 810 Seventbriye, 4th Floor, New York, New York 10019. We cathg occupy this space
pursuant to a written lease that expires on Septe®b, 2008 under which we pay rent of approxinya$dll,800 per month.

We believe that our existing facilities are adeguatmeet our current requirements. We do not awreal property.
ITEM 4. SUBMISSION OF MATTERS TO A VOTE OF SECURITY HOLDERS.

We held our Annual Meeting of Stockholders at theekican Stock Exchange, 86 Trinity Place, New Yd&t&w York on May 24,
2007. The stockholders took the following actions:

() The stockholders elected seven directors teesantil the next Annual Meeting of StockholderbeTstockholders present in
person or by proxy cast the following numbers afgdn connection with the election of directoesulting in the election of all nominees:

Nominee Votes For Votes Withheld
Douglas Abel 35,536,89 65,13:
Neil Herskowitz 35,376,09 225,93:
Malcolm Hoenlein 35,518,49 83,52¢
Timothy Mclnerney 35,538,69 63,33:
Joan Pons Gimbert 35,154,37 447 ,64¢
Richard I. Steinhart 35,529,73 72,28¢
Michael Weiser 34,493,24 1,108,77!

(i) The stockholders ratified the amendment to 2003 Stock Option Plan increasing the number afehavailable for issuance
thereunder from 7,400,000 to 10,400,000. 34,440y®1ds were cast for the proposal; 1,107,853 wytse cast against the proposal, shares
representing 53,200 votes abstained; and there meebeoker non-votes.

(iii) The stockholders ratified the appointmentldfi. Cohn LLP as our independent registered pataiéounting firm for fiscal 2007.

35,519,099 votes were cast for the proposal; 8y28&s were cast against the proposal, shares esyieg 74,720 votes abstained; and there
were no broker non-votes.
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PART Il
ITEM 5. MARKET FOR COMMON EQUITY AND RELATED STOCKH OLDER MATTERS
Market for Common Stock
Our common stock traded on the American Stock BxgedAMEX"under the symbol “MHA” during the yearsided December 31,

2006 and 2007. The following table lists the higil éow price for our common stock as quoted, in.d@lars, on the American Stock
Exchange during each quarter within the last twodi years:

Price Range
2007 2006
Quarter Ended High Low High Low
March 31 $ 0.9¢ $ 0.7C $ 1.64C $ 1.16(
June 30 1.1C 0.6¢ 1.36( 0.07¢
September 30 0.7¢ 0.22 0.88( 0.62(
December 31 0.2 0.0¢ 0.92( 0.62(

On March 26, 2008 our common stock was voluntaldijsted from the AMEX and began trading on the IQlie Counter Bulletin
Board (“OCTBB") under the symbol “MHAN".

Record Holders
The number of holders of record of our common s&xkf March17, 2008 was 460.
Dividends

We have not paid or declared any dividends on ommaon stock and we do not anticipate paying dividesn our common stock in
the foreseeable future.

Stock Repurchases
We did not make any repurchases of our common stodkg 2007.
Securities authorized for issuance under equity copensation plans.

See Note 6 to Consolidated Financial Statements .
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ITEM 6. MANAGEMENT’'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FIN ANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS.
Overview

We were incorporated in Delaware in 1993 undemntmae “Atlantic Pharmaceuticals, Inc.” and, in Mag€®0, we changed our
name to “Atlantic Technology Ventures, Inc.” In Z)@ve completed a “reverse acquisition” of private¢ld “Manhattan Research
Development, Inc”. In connection with this transaict we also changed our name to “Manhattan Phaaieals, Inc.” From an accounting
perspective, the accounting acquirer is considerd® Manhattan Research Development, Inc. and-diogy, the historical financial
statements are those of Manhattan Research Devetdpinc.

During 2005 we merged with Tarpan Therapeutics, (flarpan”). Tarpan was a privately held New Y d&sed biopharmaceutical
company developing dermatological therapeuticsoligh the merger, we acquired Tarpan’s primary pcbdandidate, Topical PTH (1-34)
for the treatment of psoriasis. In consideratiantiieir shares of Tarpan’s capital stock, the dtotdkers of Tarpan received an aggregate of
approximately 10,731,000 shares of our common stegkesenting approximately 20% of our then outdittg common shares. This
transaction was accounted for as a purchase ofiidrp the Company.

We are a clinical-stage specialty pharmaceuticaipgany focused on developing and commercializingwative pharmaceutical
therapies for underserved patient populations. iMet@acquire rights to these technologies by kieg or otherwise acquiring an ownership
interest, funding their research and developmedtesentually either bringing the technologies taketor out-licensing. We currently have
four product candidates in development: Hedringzeh non-insecticide treatment of pediculitis (thdiae); topical PTH (1-34) for the
treatment of psoriasis; Altoderm for the treatnapruritis (itch) associated with dermatologic ddions including atopin dermatitis; and
Altolyn for the treatment of mastocystosis. We hawéreceived regulatory approval for, or genera@uimercial revenues from marketing
selling any drugs.

You should read the following discussion of oumtesof operations and financial condition in cargtion with the consolidated
financial statements and notes thereto appearggyvblere in this Form 10-K. This discussion inclutfesvard-looking” statements that
reflect our current views with respect to futureets and financial performance. We use words ssated'expect,” “anticipate,” “believe,”
and “intend” and similar expressions to identifyviard-looking statements. Investors should be awetactual results may differ materially
from our expressed expectations because of rigksiacertainties inherent in future events, paréidylthose risks identified under the
heading “Risk Factors” following Item 1 in this Amal Report, and should not unduly rely on these/dwod looking statements. All share and
per share information in this discussion has befusted for the 1-for-5 combination of our commawck effected on September 25, 2003.

Results Of Operations
2007 versus 2006

During each of the years ended December 31, 2002@@6, we had no revenues, and are consideredetogenent stage company.
We do not expect to have revenues relating to mauycts prior to December 31, 2008.
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Years ended December 31,

Increase % Increase
2007 2006 (decrease) (decrease)
Costs and expenses
Research and development
Share-based compensation $ 539,00 $ 529,000 $ 10,00( 1.8%
In-license, milestone and related fees 2,245,001 250,00( 1,995,00!I 798.0(%
Other research and development expenses 5,752,00! 5,394,00! 358,00( 6.64%
Total research and development expenses 8,536,00! 6,173,00! 2,363,00! 38.2¢%
General and administrative
Share-based compensation 902,00( 1,147,00! (245,000 -21.36%
Other general and administrative expenses 2,706,00! 2,680,00! 26,00( 0.97%
Total general and administrative expenses 3,608,001 3,827,001 (219,000 -5.72%
Other income 112,00( 305,00 (193,000 -63.2¢%
Net loss $ 12,032,000 $ 9,695,000 $ 2,337,001 24.11%

For the year ended December 31, 2007 researcheaedbgpment expense was $8,536,000 as compared1té3$600 for the year
ended December 31, 2006. This increase of $2,363@®8.3%, is primarily comprised of an increasm-license, milestone and related
fees of $1,995,000, an increase in other researdtilavelopment expenses of $358,000 and an incieasack based compensation of
$10,000.

For the year ended December 31, 2007 general anohistiative expense was $3,608,000 as compar$d,&827,000 for the year
ended December 31, 2006. This decrease of $2190807%, is primarily comprised of a decreasetatls based compensation of $245,000
partially offset by an increase in other genera administrative expense of $26,000.

For the year ended December 31, 2007 other incoasebd12,000 as compared to $305,000 for the yekdeDecember 31, 2006.
This decrease of $193,000, or 63.3%, is primatilg tb a decrease in interest income which reséited lower average balances in interest
bearing and short-term investment accounts.

Net loss for the year ended December 31, 2007 %293$2,000 as compared to $9,695,000 for the yededDecember 31, 2006.
This increase of $2,337,000, or 24.11%, is prirgatile to an increase in in-license, milestone atated fees of $1,995,000, an increase in
other research and development expenses of $358r2DA decrease of $193,000 in other income fsrtfket by a decrease in stock based
compensation of $235,000.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

From inception to December 31, 2007, we incurréeéfécit during the development stage of $54,999 GMarily as a result of our
net losses, and we expect to continue to incuttiaddil losses through at least December 31, 2088arthe foreseeable future. These losses
have been incurred through a combination of rebeand development activities related to the vartesinologies under our control and
expenses supporting those activities.

We have financed our operations since inceptiomgily through equity financing. During the yeaded December 31, 2007, we
had a net decrease in cash and cash equivalep®s339,000. This decrease resulted largely frontash used in operating activities of
$10,230,000 partially offset by net cash providgdibancing activities of $7,859,000. Total liquiesources as of December 31, 2007 were
$650,000 compared to $3,029,000.
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Our current liabilities as of December 31, 2007ev$1,872,000 compared to $1,943,000 at Decemb&0BB, a decrease of
$71,000. As of December 31, 2007, we had workirgtabdeficit of $1,006,000 compared to working italpof $1,350,000 at December 31,
2006.

In February 2008, we completed a joint venturesaation. We received net proceeds of approxim&2I9 million from this joint
venture transaction.

Our available working capital and capital requiretsewill depend upon numerous factors, includinggpess of our research and
development programs, our progress in and theatasigoing and planned nonclinical and clinicatiteg the timing and cost of obtaining
regulatory approvals, the cost of filing, prosecgtidefending, and enforcing patent claims andratitellectual property rights, in-licensing
activities, competing technological and market digmments, changes in our existing collaborative lazahsing relationships, the resources
that we devote to developing manufacturing and ceraializing capabilities, the status of our comfoesi, our ability to establish
collaborative arrangements with other organizatams our need to purchase additional capital eqeipm

Our continued operations will depend on whetheraveeable to raise additional funds through varjpatential sources, such as
equity and debt financing, other collaborative agnents, strategic alliances, and our ability tdizeahe full potential of our technology in
development. Such additional funds may not becoraéadble on acceptable terms and there can beswartce that any additional funding
that we do obtain will be sufficient to meet oueds in the long term. Through December 31, 20@fgrificant portion of our financing has
been through private placements of common stocknardhants. Unless our operations generate signifieavenues and cash flows from
operating activities, we will continue to fund ogtons from cash on hand and through the similarces of capital previously described. We
can give no assurances that any additional capaidlwe are able to obtain will be sufficient toeheur needs. We believe that we will
continue to incur net losses and negative cashsffoem operating activities for the foreseeableffet Based on the resources available to us
at December 31, 2007 and the net proceeds frolRghruary 2008 joint venture transaction, manageteligves we do not have sufficient
capital to fund our operations through the enddf& Management believes that we will need addiequity or debt financing or will need
to generate revenues through licensing our produatsitering into strategic alliances during 2008¢ able to sustain our operations during
2008 and we will need additional financing thereatintil we can achieve profitability, if ever.

We have reported net losses of $12,032,000 an®$960 for the years ended December 31, 2007 &bl 26spectively. The net
loss attributable to common shares from date adption, including preferred stock dividends, Augsis001 to December 31, 2007, amot
to $54,999,000. Management believes that we wiiticoe to incur net losses through at least Dece®bg2008.

Joint Venture Agreement

In February 2008, the Company and Nordic Bioteckigats ApS through its investment fund Nordic Badte/enture Fund Il K/S
(“Nordic”) entered into a 50/50 joint venture agresnt (the “Hedrin JV"Yo develop and commercialize the Company's NortleAcan right:
(under license) to its Hedrin product.

Pursuant to the Hedrin JV Agreement, Nordic forraatew Danish limited partnership (the "Hedrin J&fd provided it with initial

funding of $2.5 million. The Company assigned anadisferred its North American rights in Hedrinte Hedrin JV in return for a $2.0
million cash payment and equity in the Hedrin Jpresenting 50% of the nominal equity interesthiedrin JV .
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Should the Hedrin JV be successful in achievingyapent milestone, namely that by September 30, , 20@8-DA determines to
treat Hedrin as a medical device, Nordic will pursé an additional $2.5 million of equity in the HadV, whereupon the Hedrin JV will pay
the Company an additional $1.5 million in cash msdie to the Company an additional $2.5 millioequity in the Hedrin JV, thereby
maintaining the Company’s 50% ownership intereshenHedrin JV.

The Hedrin JV will be responsible for the developitr@nd commercialization of Hedrin for the North &rican market and all
associated costs including clinical trials, if reeqd, regulatory costs, patent costs, and fututestune payments owed to T&R, the licensor of
Hedrin.

The Hedrin JV will engage the Company to providenagement services to the Limited Partnership ithamge for an annualized
management fee, which for 2008, on an annualizebia $527,000.

Nordic paid to the Company a non-refundable fe$l&0,000 at the closing for the right to receiweaarant covering 7.1 million
shares of the Comparsstommon stock, exercisable for $0.14 per share widrrant is issuable 90 days from closing, pradiNerdic has nc
exercised all or a part of its put, as describddvieThe per share exercise price of the warrarst based on the volume weighted average
price of the Company’s common stock for the pepadr to the signing of the Hedrin JV Agreement.

Nordic has an option to put all or a portion ofétguity interest in the Hedrin JV to the Compangxchange for the Company’s
common stock. The shares of the Company’s comnauk $0 be issued upon exercise of the put will dlewdated by multiplying the
percentage of Nordic’s equity in the Hedrin JV attNordic decides to put to the Company multipligdhe dollar amount of Nordic’s
investment in Limited Partnership divided by $0.44 adjusted from time to time. The put optionxsreisable immediately and expires at
earlier of ten years or when Nordic’s distributidram the Limited Hedrin JV exceed five times theaunt Nordic invested in the Hedrin JV.

The Company has an option to call all or a portbhordic’s equity interest in the Hedrin JV in éenge for the Company’s
common stock. The Company cannot begin to exeitsigall until the price of the Company’s commoaocst has closed at or above $1.40 per
share for 30 consecutive trading days. During iits¢ 30 consecutive trading day period in which @@mpany’s common stock closes at or
above $1.40 per share the Company can exercise 25 of its call option. During the second 30 emsive trading day period in which 1
Company’s common stock closes at or above $1.48lmre the Company can exercise up to 50% of litejgion on a cumulative basis.
During the third 30 consecutive trading day peiiodhich the Compang common stock closes at or above $1.40 per shar€dampany ca
exercise up to 75% of its call option on a cumukatiasis. During the fourth 30 consecutive tradiag period in which the Company’s
common stock closes at or above $1.40 per shai@dh®any can exercise up to 100% of its call optinra cumulative basis. The shares of
the Company’s common stock to be issued upon eseegfithe call will be calculated by multiplyingetbercentage of Nordic’s equity in the
Limited Partnership that the Company calls, as rilesg above, multiplied by the dollar amount of Nicts investment in the Hedrin JV
divided by $0.14. Nordic can refuse the Companglslay either paying the Company up to $1.5 millmrforfeiting all or a portion of their
put, calculated on a pro rata basis for the peaggnbf the Nordic equity interest called by the @any.
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The Hedrin JV 's Board will consist of 4 membersppointed by the Company and 2 appointed by NoNtiedic has the right to
appoint one of the directors as chairman of ther@0Bhe chairman has certain tie breaking powerthé event that the payment milestone
described above is not achieved by June 30, 26868,the Hedrin JV 's Board will increase to 5 merab2 appointed by the Company and 3
appointed by Nordic.

After the closing, at Nordic's request, the Compailynominate a person identified by Nordic toseon the Company’s Board of
Directors.

The Company will grant Nordic registration rights the shares to be issued upon exercise of themiathe put or the call. The
Company is required to file an initial registratistatement within 10 calendar days of filing itsfdL0-K for the year ended December 31,
2007. The Company is required to file additiongis&ation statements, if required, within 45 daj¢he date the Company first knows that
such additional registration statement was requiféé Company is required to use commercially realste efforts to cause the registration
statement to be declared effective by the Secaréiel Exchange Commission (“SEC”) within 105 caserdhys from the filing date. If the
Company fails to file a registration statementiametor if a registration statement is not declafdctive by the SEC within 105 days of
filing the Company will be required to pay to Nardor its assigns, an amount in cash, as parjaidated damages, equal to 0.5% per month
of the amount invested in the Hedrin JV by Norditilthe registration statement is declared effecby the SEC. In no event shall the
aggregate amount payable by the Company exceed 8% amount invested in the Hedrin JV by Nordic.

The profits of the Hedrin JV will be shared by thempany and Nordic in accordance with their respe@quity interests in Limite
Partnership, which are currently 50% to each, exitegt Nordic will get a minimum guaranteed rettnom the Hedrin JV equal to 5% on
Hedrin sales, as adjusted for any change in Naa@iquity interest in the Limited Partnership. E tHedrin JV realizes a profit equal to or
greater than a 10% royalty on Hedrin sales, thefitpiwill be shared by the Company and Nordicdinadance with their respective equity
interests in the Limited Partnership. However hia évent of a liquidation of the Limited Partnepsilordic’s distribution in liquidation will
be at least equal to the amount Nordic investetiérHedrin JV ($5 million if the payment milestoescribed above is met, $2.5 million if it
is not met) plus 10% per year, less the cumulatistributions received by Nordic from the Hedrin. Rdarther, in no event shall Nordic’s
distribution in liquidation be greater than assatailable for distribution in liquidation.

American Stock Exchange

In September 2007, we received notice from thd efaAMEX, indicating that we were not in compliamwith certain continued
listing standards set forth in the American Stogkltange Company guide. Specifically, the AmericttiS Exchange naotice cited our failure
to comply, as of June 30, 2007, with section 10§ af the AMEX Company Guide as we had less tB4r000,000 of stockholders’ equity
and had losses from continuing operations andeblasses in three or four of our most recent figears and with section 1003(a)(iii) which
requires us to maintain $6,000,000 of stockholdegsiity if we have experienced losses from contiguiperations and /or net losses in its
five most recent fiscal years.

In order to maintain our AMEX listing, we were récpd to submit a plan to AMEX advising the exchaoféhe actions we have
taken, or will take, that would bring us into compice with all the continued listing standards hgriAl6, 2008. We submitted such a plan in
October 2007. If we are not in compliance with ¢oatinued listing standards at the end of the pkniod, or if we do not make progress
consistent with the plan during the period, AME&Af6may initiate delisting proceedings.
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Under the terms of the Joint Venture Agreementntimaber of potentially issuable shares represdmydtie put and call features of
the Hedrin agreement, and the warrant issuableotdib would exceed 19.9% of our total outstandihgres and would be issued at a price
below the greater of book or market value. As alteander AMEX regulations, we would not have bebie to complete the transaction
without first receiving either stockholder approf@i the transaction, or a formal “financial viahyi exception from AMEX'’s stockholder
approval requirement. We estimated that obtainiagkbolder approval to comply with AMEX regulatiowsuld take a minimum of 45 days
to complete. We discussed the financial viabilitgeption with AMEX for several weeks and had naittezeived the exception nor been
denied the exception. We determined that our firskmondition required us to complete the transecimmediately, and that the Company’s
financial viability depended on its completion béttransaction without further delay.

Accordingly, to maintain the Comparsyfinancial viability, on February 28, 2008 we annoed that we had formally notified AME
that we intend to voluntarily delist our commonctdrom AMEX. The delisting became effective on a6, 2008.

Our common stock now trades on the Over the ColBudetin Board (“OCTBB”) under the symbol “MHAN'We intend to
maintain corporate governance, disclosure and tieggrrocedures consistent with applicable law.

Commitments
General

We often contract with third parties to facilitab®ordinate and perform agreed upon research aredagement of our product
candidates. To ensure that research and develomoststare expensed as incurred, we record moatialyials for clinical trials and
nonclinical testing costs based on the work peréatmnder the contracts.

These contracts typically call for the paymenteads for services at the initiation of the contaad/or upon the achievement of
certain milestones. This method of payment oftegsdwot match the related expense recognition neguit either a prepayment, when the
amounts paid are greater than the related resaartdevelopment costs recognized, or an accrueititiiawhen the amounts paid are less
than the related research and development cosignmzed.

Expenses associated with the clinical trials in g@wn obesity and morbid obesity, which were conaludiering 2007, were
recognized on this activity based basis. At Decartie 2007 we recognized accrued expenses of $J4dbated to these clinical trials. The
are no remaining financial commitments for thegaicdl trials.

The Company is developing Topical PTH (1-34) agpacal treatment for psoriasis. Expenses assocwitbdthe manufacture of
clinical and non-clinical supplies of Topical PTH34) are recognized on this activity based metdodecember 31, 2007 we recognized
prepaid expense of $30,000 related to the manufacfuTopical PTH (1-34). The remaining financiahemitment related to the manufacture
of Topical PTH (1-34) is negligible.

During 2007 we entered into an agreement with Teutics, Inc. for the conduct of a Phase 2a clinita of Topical PTH (1-34).
The amount of the agreement is approximately $&4b,8t December 31, 2007 we recognized researctdenelopment expense of
$483,000 related to the conduct of this clinicelltrAt December 31, 2007 we recognized prepaicasp of $19,000 related to this clinical
trial. The remaining financial commitment relatedte conduct of the clinical trial is approxim&t&340,000. This clinical trial is expectec
conclude in the second quarter of 2008.
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Swiss Pharma Contract LTD (“Swiss Pharma”), a clihsite that the Company used in one of its op&séls, gave notice to the
Company that Swiss Pharma believes it is entitbe@teive an additional payment of $322,776 fovises in connection with that clinical
trial. While the contract between the Company awtsS Pharma provides for additional payments ifaierconditions are met, Swiss Parma
has not specified which conditions they believeehagen achieved and the Company does not beliav&triss Pharma is entitled to
additional payments and has not accrued any oétbests as of December 31, 2007. The contract kettbee Company and Swiss Pharma
provides for arbitration in the event of a dispwigch as this claim for an additional payment. SWkarma has filed for arbitration. As the
Company does not believe that Swiss Pharma idezhtit additional payments, it intends to defesdibsition in arbitration. The arbitration
process is currently in its initial stage.

In February 2007, a former employee of the Comimged an ownership interest in two of the Com{mpyovisional patent
applications covering our discontinued product dtgwment program for Oleoyl-estrone. Also, withottiaulating precise legal claims, the
former employee contends that the Company wrongfiflaracterized the former employee’s separatiom femployment as a resignation
instead of a dismissal in an effort to harm therfer employee’s immigration sponsorship efforts,,dadher, to wrongfully deprive the
former employee of the former employee’s alleggtits in two of the Company’s provisional patentlaggpions. The former employee is
seeking an unspecified amount in damages. The Quymeéutes the former employee’s contentions atehits to vigorously defend itself
should the former employee file claims againstGoenpany. There have been no further developmetitsregpect to these contentions.

Development Commitmen
Hedrin

On June 26, 2007, the Company entered into an sixellicense agreement for Hedrin (the “Hedrin Agment”) with T&R and
Kerris, S.A. (“Kerris”). Pursuant to the Hedrin Agment, the Company has acquired an exclusive Monirican license to certain patent
rights and other intellectual property relatingtedrin ™ a non-insecticide product candidate for the treatroépediculosis (head lice). In
addition, on June 26, 2007, the Company enteredar8upply Agreement with T&R pursuant to which T&# be the Company’s exclusive
supplier of Hedrin product.

In consideration for the license, the Company id40€r &R and Kerris (jointly, the “Licensord combined total of 150,000 share
its common stock valued at $120,000. In additibe, Gompany also made a cash payment of $600,00@ tacensor. These amounts are
included in research and development expense.

Further, the Company agreed to make future milespayments to T&R comprised of various combinatiohsash and common
stock in respective aggregate amounts of $2,500yp00 the achievement of various clinical and retuy milestones as follows: $250,000
upon acceptance by the U. S. Food and Drug Admatish (“FDA”) of an Investigational New Drug apgéition (“IND”); $1,000,000 upon
the achievement of a successful outcome of a Phabeical trial; $700,000 upon the final approedélan NDA by the FDA; $300,000 upon
the issuance of a U.S. patent on Hedrin: and $280ypon receipt of marketing authorization in Canad
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The Company also agreed to pay royalties of 8%ufuder certain circumstances, 4%) on net salesaided products. The
Company'’s exclusivity under the Hedrin Agreemerstubject to an annual minimum royalty payment gd$0,000 (or, under certain
circumstances, $500,000) in each of the third thhoseventh years following the first commerciaésafl Hedrin. The Company may
sublicense its rights under the Hedrin Agreemettt tie consent of Licensor and the proceeds raguitom such sublicenses will be shared
with the Licensor.

Through December 31, 2007, none of the milestoage been reached and sales have not commencesfptieewe have not paid
any such milestones or royalties.

Pursuant to the Supply Agreement, the Company dy@ed that it and its sublicensees will purchas@ tiespective requirements of
the Hedrin product from T&R at agreed upon pri¢éisder certain circumstances where T&R is unabkufaply Hedrin product in accordal
with the terms and conditions of the Supply Agreetnthe Company may obtain products from an altereaupplier subject to certain
conditions. The term of the Supply Agreement erqatnutermination of the Hedrin Agreement.

Topical PTH (1-34)

Through our April 2005 acquisition of Tarpan Therafics, Inc., we acquired a Sublicense Agreemetht Mal, Inc. dated April 14,
2004. Under the IGI sublicense agreement we h@dHKelusive, world-wide, royalty bearing sublicetseevelop and commercialize the
licensed technology. Under the terms of the IGlisehse agreement, we are responsible for theofdake nonclinical and clinical
development of the project, including research @exklopment, manufacturing, laboratory and clinteating and trials and marketing of
licensed products.

The IGI sublicense agreement requires us to makaicenilestone payments as follows: $300,000 pkyapon the commencement
of a Phase 2 clinical trial; $500,000 upon the canoement of a Phase 3 clinical trial; $1,500,008nue acceptance of an NDA applical
by the FDA; $2,400,000 upon the approval of an N@yAhe FDA; $500,000 upon the commencement of aé&Balinical trial for an
indication other than psoriasis; $1,500,000 up@natceptance of and NDA application for an indaratither than psoriasis by the FDA; and
$2,400,000 upon the approval of an NDA for an iatlan other than psoriasis by the FDA.

During 2007, we achieved the milestone of the comrament of Phase 2 clinical trial. As a result $800 became payable to IGI.
This $300,000 is included in research and developrmepense for the year ended December 31, 20Qétd was made to IGI in February
2008. At December 31, 2007 this $300,000 liabiktyeflected in accounts payable.

In addition, we are obligated to pay IGI, Inc. aimaal royalty of 6% on annual net sales up to $XDMO00. In any calendar year in
which net sales exceed $200,000,000, we are obtigatpay IGl, Inc. an annual royalty of 9% on seghess. Through December 31, 2007,
sales have not commenced, therefore, we have itbapg such royalties.

IGI, Inc. may terminate the agreement (i) upon &9sdnotice if we fail to make any required milestoor royalty payments, or (ii) if
we become bankrupt or if a petition in bankrup&filed, or if we are placed in the hands of a inggreor trustee for the benefit of creditors.
IGI, Inc. may terminate the agreement upon 60 daysten notice and an opportunity to cure in therd we commit a material breach or
default. Eighteen months from the date of the I@lisense agreement, we may terminate the agreemeititole or as to any portion of the
PTH patent rights upon 90 days’ notice to IGl, Inc.
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Altoder m

On April 3, 2007, the Company entered into a lieeagreement for “Altoderm” (the “Altoderm Agreemgntith T&R. Pursuant to
the Altoderm Agreement, the Company acquired atusike North American license to certain patenhtigand other intellectual property
relating to Altoderm, a topical skin lotion prodwezindidate with the active ingredient cromolyn soa{also known as sodium cromoglicate)
for the treatment of atopic dermatitis. In accomawith the terms of the Altoderm Agreement, thenPany issued 125,000 shares of its
common stock, valued at $112,500, and made a ashent of $475,000 to T&R upon the execution ofageeement. These amounts have
been included in research and development expense.

Further, the Company agreed to make future milespayments to T&R comprised of various combinatioihsash and common
stock in respective aggregate amounts of $5,675608@875,000 shares of our common stock upon thiexsement of various clinical and
regulatory milestones. as follows: $450,000 upareptance by the U. S. Food and Drug AdministraieiDA”) of an Investigational New
Drug application (“IND"); 125,000 shares of our cmmn stock upon the first dosing of a patient infitet Phase 2 clinical trial; 250,000
shares of our common stock and $625,000 upon ttstedidsing of a patient in the first Phase 3 chhidal; $1,000,000 upon the achievement
of a successful outcome of a Phase 3 clinical k100,000 upon the acceptance for filing of avNIFug Application (“NDA”") application
by the FDA; 500,000 shares of our common stock%h@a00,000 upon the final approval of an NDA by Bi@A; and $500,000 upon receipt
of marketing authorization in Canada.

In addition, we are obligated to pay T&R an annmoghlty of 10% on annual net sales of up to $100,000; 15% of the amount of
annual net sales in excess of $100,000,000 andd2@¥tnual net sales in excess of $200,000,000.€Tisea minimum royalty of $1,000,000
per year. There is a one-time success fee of $2M00 upon the achievement of of cumulative netssaf $100,000,000. Through December
31, 2007, none of the milestones have been reamiddales have not commenced, therefore, we hdaymitbany such milestones or
royalties.

Through December 31, 2007, none of the milestoage been reached and sales have not commencezfptieewe have not paid
any such milestones or royalties.

Altolyn

On April 3, 2007, the Company and T&R also entantd a license agreement for Altolyn (the “Altohgreement”).Pursuant to tr
Altolyn Agreement, the Company acquired an exclidiorth American license to certain patent rigims ather intellectual property relating
to Altolyn, an oral formulation product candidatgng cromolyn sodium for the treatment of mastosigofood allergies, and inflammatory
bowel disorder. In accordance with the terms ofAhielyn Agreement, the Company made a cash paywied475,000 to T&R upon the
execution of the agreement. This amount is includedsearch and development expense.

Further, the Company agreed to make future milespayments to T&R comprised of various combinatioihsash and common
stock in respective aggregate amounts of $5,675)000 the achievement of various clinical and retuy milestones. as follows: $450,000
upon acceptance for filing by the FDA of an IND256000 upon the first dosing of a patient in thistfiPhase 3 clinical trial; $1,000,000 upon
the achievement of a successful outcome of a Phabeical trial; $1,100,000 upon the acceptanadifing of a New Drug Application
(“NDA") application by the FDA; $2,000,000 upon tfiral approval of an NDA by the FDA; and $500,0@8bn receipt of marketing
authorization in Canada.
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In addition, we are obligated to pay T&R an annmoghlty of 10% on annual net sales of up to $100,000; 15% of the amount of
annual net sales in excess of $100,000,000 andd2@#¥tnual net sales in excess of $200,000,000.€Tisea minimum royalty of $1,000,000
per year. There is a one-time success fee of $aM00 upon the achievement of cumulative net sz18400,000,000.

Through December 31, 2007, none of the milestoage been reached and sales have not commencezfptieewe have not paid
any such milestones or royalties.

Oleoyl-estrone

On July 9, 2007, the Company announced the resiits two Phase 2a clinical trials of oral OE. Tresults of both randomized,
double-blind, placebo controlled studies, one impwn obesity and the other in morbid obesity, destrated no statistically or clinically
meaningful placebo adjusted weight loss for antheftreatment arms evaluated. Based on thesegeghdtCompany discontinued its Oleoyl-
estrone programs in both common obesity and matbésity.

Propofol Lingual Spray

On July 9, 2007, the Company announced that iisisotitinued development of Propofol Lingual Spraydre-procedural sedation.
Research and Development Projects
Hedrin

In collaboration with Nordic and through the Hediv we are developing Hedrin for the treatmentedipulosis (head lice). To da
Hedrin has been clinically studied in 326 subjectd is currently marketed as a device in Westemofiguand as a pharmaceutical in the
United Kingdom (U.K.).

In a randomized, controlled, equivalence clini¢catly conducted in Europe by T&R, Hedrin was adntérisd to 253 adult and child
subjects with head louse infestation. The studyltgspublished in the British Medical Journal im& 2005, demonstrated Hedrin's
equivalence when compared to the insecticide treatnphenothrin, the most widely used pediculiégidéhe U.K. In addition, according to
the same study, the Hedrin-treated subjects expmtkesignificantly less irritation (2%) than thdesated with phenothrin (9%).

An additional clinical study published in the Noveen 2007 issue of PLoS One, an international, pegewed journal published by
the Public Library of Science (PL0S), demonstradedrin’s superior efficacy compared to a U.K. fotation of malathion, a widely used
insecticide treatment in both Europe and North Aozern this randomized, controlled, assessor klihgarallel group clinical trial, 73 adult
and child subjects with head lice infestations wesated with Hedrin or malathion liquid. Usingént-to-treat analysis, Hedrin achieved a
statistically significant cure rate of 70% compate®@3% with malathion liquid. Using the per-pragbanalysis Hedrin achieved a highly
statistically significant cure rate of 77% compate®5% with malathion. In Europe it has been widdcumented that head lice had become
resistant to European formulations of malathiom ae believe this resistance had influenced theslysesults. To date, there have been no
reports of resistance to U.S. formulations of nfatat. Additionally, Hedrin treated subjects expeded no irritant reactions, and Hedrin
showed clinical equivalence to malathion in itdigbto inhibit egg hatching. Overall, investigasoaind study subjects rated Hedrin as less
odorous, easier to apply, and easier to wash ndt9@% of Hedrin treated subjects stated they wigimraficantly more inclined to use the
product again versus 31% of those using malathion.
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In the United States, Manhattan Pharmaceuticadarisuing the development of Hedrin as a medicaicgdeand has submitted a
regulatory package to the FDA'’s Center for Deviaed Radiological Health. The Company expects trehaired to complete at least one
clinical trial with this product candidate.

To date, we have incurred $1,070,000 of projectscfus the development of Hedrin. All of such costse incurred during 2007.
Topical PTH (1-34).

We are developing Topical PTH @Y) as a topical treatment for psoriasis. In Au@@3, researchers, led by Michael Holick, Pt
MD, Professor of Medicine, Physiology, and Bioplegsat Boston University Medical Center, reportedifie results from a US Phase 1/2
clinical trial evaluating the safety and efficadyTmpical PTH (1-34) as a topical treatment fornssis. This double-blind, placebo controlled
trial in 15 patients compared Topical PTH (1-34nfalated in the Novasome® Technology versus theadome®vehicle alone. Following
weeks of treatment, the topical application of TapPTH (1-34) resulted in complete clearing of tifeated lesion in 60% of patients and
partial clearing in 85% of patients. Additionalthere was a statistically significant improvementtie global severity score. Ten patients
continued into an open label extension study inctvltihe Psoriasis Area and Severity Index, or PA@E measured; PASI improvement
across all 10 patients achieved statistically $iggnt improvement compared to baseline. This sahttywed Topical PTH (1-34) to be a safe
and effective treatment for plaque psoriasis witpatients experiencing any clinically significanlverse events.

Due to the high response rate seen in patientgeimitial trial with Topical PTH (1-34) we belietkat it may have an important
clinical advantage over current topical psoriasiatments. A follow on physician IND Phase 2a tnablving Topical PTH (1-34) was
initiated in December 2005 under the auspices at@oUniversity. In April 2006, we reported a deiayts planned Phase 2a clinical study
of Topical PTH (1-34) due to a formulation issuee ¥elieve that we have resolved this issue thr@augbw gel formulation of Topical PTH
(1-34) and have filed new patent applications sthS. for this new proprietary formulation.

In September 2007, the U.S. FDA accepted our catpdnvestigational New Drug (IND) application this new gel formulation of
Topical PTH (1-34), and in October 2007, we ingthtaind began dosing subjects in a phase 2a clstiody of Topical PTH (1-34) for the
treatment of psoriasis. This U.S. multi-centerd@mized, double-blind, vehicle-controlled, paratiebup study is desiged to evaluate safety
and preliminary efficacy of Topical PTH (1-34) fitre treatment of psoriasis. Approximately 54 sutsjedll be enrolled and randomized to
receive one of two dose levels of Topical PTH ()84 vehicle, for an 8 week treatment period.His study the vehicle is the topical
formulation without the active ingredient, PTH (4)3

To date, we have incurred $5,122,000 of projectscedated to our development of Topical PTH (1-34jese project costs have
been incurred since April 1, 2005, the date offtagpan Therapeutics acquisition. During 2007, $2,d@0 of these costs were incurred.

As with the development of our other product caatiid, we do not currently have sufficient capitafuind our planned development
activities of Topical PTH (1-34) beyond the ongopttase 2a trial. We will, therefore, need to raidditional capital in order to complete our
planned R&D activities for Topical PTH (1-34) . Tiee extent additional capital is not available whenneed it, we may be forced to
sublicense our rights to Topical PTH (1-34) or atamour development efforts altogether, either bicly would have a material adverse
effect on the prospects of our business.
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Since PTH (1-34) is already available in the ipbi¢ form, we should be able to utilize much ofdaga that is publicly available in
planning our future studies. However, since PTE4) will be used topically, bridging studies wiked to be performed and we are not able
to realistically predict the size and the desigthoke studies at this time.

Altoderm

We are developing Altoderm for the pruritis (it@gsociated with dermatologic conditions includitapéc dermatitis. In a Phase 3,
randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled, gatajroup, clinical study (conducted in Europe b§R.) the compound was administered
for 12 weeks to 114 subjects with moderately sea&wpic dermatitis. The placebo (vehicle) usedia study was the Altoderm product
without the active ingredient. In the study resyisblished in the British Journal of DermatologyHebruary 2005, Altoderm demonstrated a
statistically significant reduction (36%) in atogiermatitis symptoms. During the study, subjecteevpermitted to continue with their
existing treatment, in most cases this consistedragdllients and topical steroids. A positive se@gdutcome of the study was a 35%
reduction in the use of topical steroids for théoderm treated subjects. Further analysis of timicel data, performed by Manhattan
Pharmaceuticals showed that Altoderm treated stgoso experienced a 57% reduction in pruritus.

Altoderm is currently being tested in a second,cimgy Phase 3, randomized, double-blind, vehicletodied clinical study (also
conducted in Europe by T&R). Analysis of the preéfiary data from the initial 12 week, blinded porntiof this clinical trial has been
completed. The vehicle used in this study was thied&rm product without the active ingredient, catym sodium. The preliminary data
indicate Altoderm was safe and well tolerated, simowed a trend toward improvement in pruritus,thatefficacy results were inconclusive.
Altoderm treated subjects and vehicle only treaigujects experienced a similar improvement (eaehtgr than 30%), and therefore, the
study did not achieve statistical significance. Tmmnpany believes these outcomes were due to soiatudy design where subjects were
unrestricted in their use of concomitant theragigsh as topical steroids and immunomodulators.pléeebo (vehicle) used in this study was
the Altoderm product without the active ingrediergmolyn sodium. Analysis of the preliminary ogehel data beginning at week 13 of the
study, show vehicle treated subjects demonstrétiriger improvement when switched to Altoderm. Gitke promising clinical data
obtained from the first European Phase 3 study tlladymptom improvements reported in the ongoimgpgean Phase 3 study, both
Manhattan Pharmaceuticals and Thornton & Ross kufriielieve there is significant potential for Akoch and will continue development of
this product candidate.

On March 6, 2008, Manhattan Pharmaceuticals anmalindad successfully completed a g meeting with the FDA. Based ol
review of the submitted package for Altoderm, iihg data from the two previously reported Phaskrical studies, the FDA determined
that following completion of certain nonclinicalslies, and the acceptance of an IND, Phase 2 alisiadies may be initiated in the U.S. The
FDA also concurred that the proposed indicatioprafitus associated with dermatologic conditiorduding atopic dermatitis can be
pursued.

To date we have incurred $1,012,000 for the deveéy of Altoderm. All of such costs were incurrad2007.
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Altolyn

We are developing Altolyn for the treatment of noagstosis. On March 6, 2008, Manhattan Pharmacadstimnounced it had
successfully completed a pre-IND meeting with tRAFBased on a review of the submitted packageé\ftmiyn, the FDA concurred that the
proposed indication of mastocytosis can be pursmeldthat the 505(b)(2) NDA would be an acceptapfg@ach provided a clinical bridge is
established between Altolyn and Gastrocf®nthe oral liquid formulation of cromolyn sodiumreently approved in the U.S. to treat
mastocytosis. The FDA also affirmed that a sinBlease 3 study demonstrating the efficacy of Altalyer placebo, may be sufficient to
support a product approval in the U.S. In addititwe, FDA also concurs that no additional nonclihgtadies will be required to support an
IND application. The Company is working with T&Rathe current U.K. manufacturer of Altolyn to deygla GMP compliant
manufacturing process.

Early clinical experience with Altolyn in the U.lKuggests promising activity in patients with vag@llergic disorders, including
food allergy and inflammatory bowel conditions. TGempany may pursue these as additional indications

To date we have incurred $790,000 for the develaoproRAltolyn. All of such costs were incurred i0Q7.
Oleoyl-estrone

On July 9, 2007, the Company announced the resiits two Phase 2a clinical trials of oral OE. Tresults of both randomized,
double-blind, placebo controlled studies, one impwn obesity and the other in morbid obesity, destrated no statistically or clinically
meaningful placebo adjusted weight loss for antheftreatment arms evaluated. Based on thesesgethdtCompany discontinued its Oleoyl-
estrone programs in both common obesity and matbésity.

To date, we have incurred $15,510,000 for the agwveéent of OE, $3,209,000 of which was incurred my2007.
Propofol Lingual Spray

On July 9, 2007, the Company announced that ibdisicued development of Propofol Lingual Spraygdeoe-procedural sedation.

To date, we have incurred $2,984,000 for the dgrent of Propofol Lingual Spray, $27,000 of whichsancurred during 2007.
Summary of Contractual Commitments
Employment Agreement

We have employment agreements with two employeethéopayment of aggregate annual base salar®s3f,000 as well as

performance based bonuses. All of these agreerhamésterms of three years and have a remainingatfdin of $394,000 as of December
2007.
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Leases

Rent expense for the years ended December 31,8002006 was $141,012 and $141,012, respectivatyr& minimum rental
payments subsequent to December 31, 2007 undqrezatimg lease for the Company’s office facilitg as follows:

Years Ending December 31, Commitment
2008 $100,000
2009 and subsequent $0

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements
We have not entered into any off-balance sheehgemaents.
Critical Accounting Policies

In December 2001, the SEC requested that all ragist discuss their most “critical accounting pgelt in management’s discussion
and analysis of financial condition and result®pérations. The SEC indicated that a “critical acttimg policy” is one which is both
important to the portrayal of the company’s finahciondition and results and requires managemera® difficult, subjective or complex
judgments, often as a result of the need to matk@a&t®s about the effect of matters that are inftgreincertain

Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in confeymiith accounting principles generally acceptethi@ United States of America
requires management to make estimates and assms it affect certain reported amounts of assetdiabilities and disclosure of
contingent assets and liabilities at the date effittencial statements and the reported amoundgpédnses during the reporting period. Actual
results could differ from those estimates.

Research and development expen

All research and development costs are expensied@sed and include costs of consultants who conrksearch and development
on behalf of the Company and its subsidiaries. Cadated to the acquisition of technology rightd patents for which development work is
still in process are expensed as incurred and deresi a component of research and development costs

The Company often contracts with third partiesatilitate, coordinate and perform agreed upon reseand development of a new
drug. To ensure that research and development amsexpensed as incurred, the Company recordshigatcruals for clinical trials and
preclinical testing costs based on the work peréamtmnder the contracts.

These contracts typically call for the paymentesdd for services at the initiation of the conteaud/or upon the achievement of
certain milestones. This method of payment oftessdwt match the related expense recognition neguit either a prepayment, when the
amounts paid are greater than the related resaactdevelopment costs expensed, or an accruelityiatvhen the amounts paid are less t
the related research and development costs expensed
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Share-Based Compensation

We have stockholder-approved stock incentive planemployees, directors, officers and consultaptgr to January 1, 2006, we
accounted for the employee, director and officanplusing the intrinsic value method under thegeition and measurement provisions of
Accounting Principles Board (“APB”) Opinion No.2%\ccounting for Stock Issued to Employeesid related interpretations, as permitte
Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (“SFAG"Statement”) No. 123, “Accounting for Stock-BasCompensation.”

Effective January 1, 2006, we adopted SFAS No.RR3Share-Based Payment,” (“Statement 123(R)")employee options using
the modified prospective transition method. StateM@3(R) revised Statement 123 to eliminate th®opo use the intrinsic value method
and required us to expense the fair value of afileyee options over the vesting period. Under tloglifired prospective transition method,
recognized compensation cost for the years endedrbleer 31,2007 and 2006 which includes a) periotpemsation cost related to share-
based payments granted prior to, but not yet veatedf January 1, 2006, based on the grant diateslae estimated in accordance with the
original provisions of Statement 123; and b) pedochpensation cost related to share-based paymetted on or after January 1, 2006,
based on the grant date fair value estimated iardaoce with Statement 123(R). In accordance \mighnodified prospective method, we
have not restated prior period results.

New Accounting Pronouncemen

In September 2006, the FASB issued SFAS No. 154ir Value Measurements” (“SFAS 157"), which definfair value,
establishes a framework for measuring fair valuadoordance with generally accepted accountingiplies (‘GAAP”) in the United States
of America, and expands disclosures about fairevat@easurements. SFAS 157 does not require anyaiewafue measurements under
GAAP and is effective for fiscal years beginningealNovember 15, 2007. The Company will adopt SEAS as of January 1, 2008. The
effects of adoption will be determined by the typémstruments carried at fair value in our finemhatatements at the time of adoption, as
well as the method utilized to determine their faitues prior to adoption. Based on the Company'senit use of fair value measurements,
SFAS 157 is not expected to have a material effadts results of operations or financial position.

In February 2007, the FASB issued SFAS No. 158he Fair Value Option for Financial Assets anddfinial Liabilities,” (“SFAS
159"), which provides companies with an optionepart selected financial assets and liabilitiefiatvalue. SFAS 159 establishes
presentation and disclosure requirements designttilitate comparisons between companies thabshdifferent measurement attributes
for similar types of assets and liabilities andhtights the effect of a company’s choice to usevalue on its earnings. It also requires a
company to display the fair value of those assadsliabilities for which it has chosen to use fatue on the face of the balance sheet. SFAS
159 will be effective beginning January 1, 2008 andot expected to have a material impact on t@@any’s consolidated financial
statements.

In June 2007, the FASB issued EITF No. 07-3\ccounting for Nonrefundable Advance PaymentsGmods or Services Received
for use in Future Research and Development Aas/it{(“EITF No. 07-3"). EITF No. 07-3 states thatmefundable advance payments for
goods or services that will be used or rendereduftiore research and development activities shbaldeferred and capitalized. Such amounts
should be recognized as an expense as the relateld gre delivered or the related services ar@peed. Entities should continue to evalt
whether they expect the goods to be deliveredmicss to be rendered. If an entity does not exflecgoods to be delivered or services to be
rendered, the capitalized advance payment shoubtthéeed to expense. The provisions of EITF No3 0wl be effective for the Company
on a prospective basis beginning January 1, 20@8,&ted on a contract by contract basis and iexected to have a material impact on
Company'’s consolidated financial statements.
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In December 2007, the FASB issued SFAS No. 14HRyyvised version of SFAS No. 141Business Combinations.” The revision
is intended to simplify existing guidance and cageerulemaking under U.S. generally accepted adamyprinciples with international
accounting standards. This statement applies pctsply to business combinations where the acdarsidate is on or after the beginning of
the first annual reporting period beginning on fteraDecember 15, 2008. An entity may not applyefore that date. The Company is
currently evaluating the impact of the provisioshe revision on its consolidated results of ofieres and financial condition.

In December 2007, the FASB issued SFAS No. 189¢ncontrolling Interests in Consolidated Finan8tdtements” (SFAS 160),
which will require noncontrolling interests (preusly referred to as minority interests) to be edas a separate component of equity, no
liability or other item outside of permanent equithis statement applies to the accounting for naotrolling interests and transactions with
noncontrolling interest holders in consolidatedfinial statements. SFAS 160 will be applied prospely to all noncontrolling interests,
including any that arose before the effective @aigept that comparative period information mustdmast to classify noncontrolling interests
in equity, attribute net income and other comprehanincome to noncontrolling interests, and previther disclosures required by
Statement 160. SFAS 160 is effective for periodsiriméng on or after December 15, 2008. We are ctyevaluating the impact that SFAS
160 will have on our consolidated financial statatee

The FASB and the Securities and Exchange Commis$sidrissued certain other accounting pronouncenasnté December 31,
2007 that will become effective in subsequent pvidowever, the Company does not believe thabéityose pronouncements would have
significantly affected its financial accounting rsaees or disclosures had they been in effect duheyears ended December 31, 2007 and
2006 and for the period from August 6, 2001 (ineeptto December 31, 2007 or that will have a digant effect at the time they become
effective.
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ITEM 7. CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For a list of the consolidated financial statemditesl as part of this report, see the Index to €iidated Financial Statements
beginning at Page F-1 of this Annual Report.

ITEM 8. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTAN TS ON ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE
None.

ITEM 8A(T). CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

As of December 31, 2007, we carried out an evalnatinder the supervision and with the participatibour Chief Executive
Officer and Chief Financial Officer, of the effa@ness of the design and operation of our discdosantrols and procedures (as defined in
Rules13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) of the Securities &xgh Act of 1934, as amended). Based upon thatatiah, our Chief Executive Officer
and Chief Financial Officer concluded that our thisare controls and procedures were effective d@isaifdate in alerting them on a timely
basis to material information required to be disetbour reports to the Securities and Exchange Gssion. There were no changes in our
internal controls over financial reporting durifggtquarter ended December 31, 2007 that have mljtexifected, or are likely to materially
affect, our internal controls over financial repogt

Our management, including our Chief Executive @ifiand its Chief Financial Officer, does not exphat disclosure controls or
internal controls over financial reporting will ment all errors or all instances of fraud, evethassame are improved to address any
deficiencies. The design of any system of contiolsased in part upon certain assumptions abodikitléhood of future events, and there can
be no assurance that any design will succeed ile@ol its stated goals under all potential futcoaditions. A control system, no matter how
well designed and operated, can provide only resdennot absolute, assurance that the contradisystobjectives will be met. Over time,
controls may become inadequate because of chamgesdlitions or deterioration in the degree of ciamge with policies or procedures.
Further, the design of a control system must réflee fact that there are resource constraintsttamtienefits of controls must be considered
relative to their costs. Because of the inherenitditions in all control systems, no evaluatiorcoftrols can provide absolute assurance that
all control issues and instances of fraud, if amghin the Company have been detected.

Because of the inherent limitation of a cost-effectontrol system, misstatements due to erroraard may occur and not be
detected. These inherent limitations include ttadities that judgments in decision-making can hétya and that breakdowns can occur
because of a simple error or mistake. Controlsatsm be circumvented by the individual acts of sgmesons, by collusion of two or more
people, or by management override of the controls.

Managemer's Report on Internal Control

Our management is responsible for establishingnaaidtaining adequate internal control over finah@aorting and for the
assessment of the effectiveness of internal cootret financial reporting. As defined by the SE@ernal control over financial reporting is a
process designed by, or under the supervision ioponcipal executive and principal financial offis and effected by our Board of Directors,
management and other personnel, to provide reapassurance regarding the reliability of financegorting and the preparation of the
financial statements in accordance with U.S. gdlyesacepted accounting principles.
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Our internal control over financial reporting indks those policies and procedures that (1) peidaime maintenance of records that,
in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflaat transactions and dispositions of our assBjgrovide reasonable assurance that
transactions are recorded as necessary to perepiaration of the financial statements in accordavitte U.S. generally accepted accounting
principles, and that our receipts and expenditaredeing made only in accordance with authorinatiof our management and directors; and
(3) provide reasonable assurance regarding preveatitimely detection of unauthorized acquisitiose or disposition of our assets that
could have a material effect on the financial stegets.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal cohtver financial reporting may not prevent or @¢tmisstatements. Also projections
of any evaluation of effectiveness to future pesiade subject to the risk that controls may becmméequate because of changes in
conditions, or that the degree of compliance whithpolicies or procedures may deteriorate.

In connection with the preparation of our annuaficial statements, management has undertakesessagent of the effectiveness
of our internal control over financial reporting@sDecember 31, 2007, based on criteria estaldighénternal Control - Integrated
framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoringa@izations of the Treadway Commission, or COSO Ekaonk. Management's
assessment included an evaluation of the designrahternal control over financial reporting aegting of the operational effectiveness of
those controls.

Based on this evaluation, management has concthdédur internal control over financial reportisgeffective as of December 31,
2007.

This annual report does not include an attestaport of the Company’s independent registeredipaaicounting firm regarding
internal control over financial reporting. Managertie report was not subject to attestation by tbenfany’s independent registered public
accounting firm pursuant to temporary rules of $f6C that permit the Company to provide only managgis report on internal control in
this report.

ITEM 8B. OTHER INFORMATION

On March 28, 2008 the employment agreement bettvee@ompany and Douglas Abel, the Company’s prasialed chief
executive officer, was extended by mutual agreerfegrda period of one year, through April 1, 2009.

ITEM 9. DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS, AND CORPORAT E GOVERNANCE

Information in response to this Item is incorpoddterein by reference to our 2008 Proxy Stateneeheftfiled pursuant to
Regulation14A within 120days after the end of tisedl year covered by this Form 10-K.
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PART IlI
ITEM 10. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

Information in response to this Item is incorpoddterein by reference to our 2008 Proxy Stateneeheftfiled pursuant to
Regulation14A within 120 days after the end offikeal year covered by this Form 10-K.

ITEM 11. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL O WNERS AND MANAGEMENT AND RELATED
STOCKHOLDERS MATTERS

Information in response to this Item is incorpoddterein by reference to our 2008 Proxy Stateneehetfiled pursuant to Regulati
14A within 120 days after the end of the fiscalryeavered by this Form 10-K.

ITEM 12. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACT IONS AND DIRECTOR INDEPENDENCE

Information in response to this Item is incorpoddterein by reference to our 2008 Proxy Stateneeheffiled pursuant to Regulati
14A within 120 days after the end of the fiscalryeavered by this Form 10-K.
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ITEM 13. EXHIBITS LIST — REVIEW WITH ANTHONY

The following documents are included or referenicetthis report.

Exhibit No. Description

2.1 Agreement and Plan of Merger among the Company hisliéan Pharmaceuticals Acquisition Corp. and Maahat
Research Development, Inc. (formerly Manhattan Rbaeuticals, Inc.) dated December 17, 2002 (incatpd by
reference to Exhibit 2.1 from Form 8-K filed Marsh2003).

2.2 Agreement and Plan of Merger among the Registia@rhan Therapeutics, Inc. and Tarpan AcquisitiorpGalated April
1, 2005 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit Z.the Registrant’s Form 8-K/A filed June 15, 2005).

3.1 Certificate of incorporation, as amended througpt&aber 25, 2003 (incorporated by reference tolixBil to the
Registrant’s Form 10-QSB for the quarter ended &apéer 30, 2003).

3.2 Bylaws, as amended to date (incorporated by referénom Registrant’s registration statement on F6BR, as amende
(File N0.33-98478)).

4.1 Specimen common stock certificate (incorporateddfgrence from Registrant’s registration statenoenEorm SB-2, as
amended (File N0.33-98478)).

4.2 Form of warrant issued by Manhattan Research Dpuamt, Inc., which automatically converted into raats to
purchase shares of the Registrant’'s common stoak tig merger transaction with such company (inm@fed by
reference to Exhibit 4.1 to the Registrant’s Fo®nQSB for the quarter ended March 31, 2003).

4.3 Form of warrant issued to placement agents in atfiorewith the Registrant's November 2003 prival@cpment of
Series A Convertible Preferred Stock and the Resgiss January 2004 private placement (incorporbateceference to
Exhibit 4.18 to the Registrant’s Registration Staat on Form SB-2 filed January 13, 2004 (File 888-111897)).

4.4 Form of warrant issued to investors in the RegigtsaAugust 2005 private placement (incorporateddigrence to
Exhibit 4.1 of the Registrant’s Form 8-K filed Septber 1, 2005).

4.5 Form of warrant issued to placement agents in ggidRant’s August 2005 private placement (incoapea by reference
to Exhibit 4.2 of the Registrant’s Form 8-K fileé@ember 1, 2005).

10.1 1995 Stock Option Plan, as amended (incorporataéfieyence to Exhibit 10.18 to the Registrant’stRd0-QSB for the
guarter ended September 30, 1996).

10.2 Form of Notice of Stock Option Grant issued to esgpks of the Registrant from April 12, 2000 to Fetoy 21, 2003

(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 99.2 of tregRtrant’s Registration Statement non Form SegifMarch 24, 1998
(File 333-48531)).
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10.3

10.4

10.5

10.6

10.7

10.8

10.9

10.10

10.11

10.12

10.13

10.14

10.15

Schedule of Notices of Stock Option Grants, thenfof which is attached hereto as Exhibit 4.2.

Form of Stock Option Agreement issued to employddke Registrant from April 12, 2000 to Februafly 2003
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 99.3 to thegiRtrant’s Registration Statement on Form S-8 flearch 24, 1998
(File 333-48531)).

License Agreement dated on or about February 28 p@tween Manhattan Research Development, Ikéa (flanhattan
Pharmaceuticals, Inc.) and Oleoyl-Estrone Develagm8L (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 1@.6he Registrant’s
Amendment No. 2 to Form 10-QSB/A for the quartetexhMarch 31, 2003 filed on March 12, 2004).

License Agreement dated April 4, 2003 between thgistrant and NovaDel Pharma, Inc. (incorporatedeligrence to
Exhibit 10.1 to the Registrant’'s Amendment No. Feom 10-QSB/A for the quarter ended June 30, 283 on March
12, 2004).++

2003 Stock Option Plan (incorporated by referendexhibit 4.1 to Registrant’s Registration StatetranForm S-8 filed
February 17, 2004).

Employment Agreement dated April 1, 2005, betwéenRegistrant and Douglas Abel (incorporated bgresfce to
Exhibit 10.1 to the Registrant’s Form 8-K/A filednk 15, 2005).

Sublicense Agreement dated April 14, 2004 betwespan Therapeutics, Inc., the Registrant’s whollyred subsidiary,
and IGI, Inc. (incorporated by reference to Exhilfit109 to IGI Inc.’s Form 10-Q for the quarter eddMarch 31, 2004
(File No. 001-08568).

Form of subscription agreement between the Registirad the investors in the Registrant’s Augusta2fivate
placement (incorporated by reference as Exhibit 1®the Registrant’s Form 8-K filed Septemberd0%).

Separation Agreement between the Registrant and @ldHarris December 21, 2007

Employment Agreement dated July 7, 2006 betweeRdgstrant and Michael G. McGuinness (incorporatedeferenc
to Exhibit 10.1 of the Registrant’s Form 8-K filddly 12, 2006).

Summary terms of compensation plan for Registrardis-employee directors (incorporated by refergndexhibit 10.1
of Registrant’s Form 8-K filed February 5, 2007).

Form of Stock Option Agreement issued under theisRegnt's 2003 Stock Option Plan.

Exclusive License Agreement for “Altoderm” betweBmornton & Ross Ltd. and Manhattan Pharmaceutitats,dates
April 3, 2007. Incorporated by reference to Exhitiit3 of the registrant’s form 10-Q for the quagaded June 30, 2007
filed on August 14, 2007.
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10.16 Exclusive License Agreement for “Altolyn” betweehdrnton &Ross Ltd. and Manhattan Pharmaceuticats,dated
April 3, 2007. Incorporated by reference to Exhiliit4 of the registrant’s form 10-Q for the quagaded June 30, 2007
filed on August 14, 2007.

10.17 Exclusive License Agreement for “Hedrin” betweerofiiton &Ross Ltd. , Kerris, S.A. and Manhattan Pieceuticals,
Inc. dated June 26, 2007. Incorporated by referemé&sxhibit 10.5 of the registrant’s form ID{or the quarter ended Ju
30, 2007 filed on August 14, 2007.

10.18 Supply Agreement for “Hedrin” between Thornton &98d_td. and Manhattan Pharmaceuticals, Inc. dated 26, 2007.
Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.6 of thgisgrant’s form 10-Q for the quarter ended June2B07 filed on August
14, 2007.

10.19 Joint Venture Agreement between Nordic Biotech fUi¢fS and Manhattan Pharmaceuticals, Inc. to tlsvand

commercialize “Hedrin” dated January 31, 2008.

10.20 Amendment No. 1, dated February 25, 2008, to tived $®nture Agreement between Nordic Biotech fuhid/E and
Manhattan Phaarmaceuticals, Inc. to develop andrengialize “Hedrin” dated January 31, 2008.

10.21 Assignment and Contribution Agreement between hhellhiarmaceuticals K/S and Manhattan Pharmaceytloalsdated
February 25, 2008.

10.22 Registration Rights Agreement between Nordic Bibtéenture Fund Il K/S and Manhattan Pharmaceuti¢ats dated
February 25, 2008.

10.23 Amendment to Employment Agreement by and betweenhdtian Pharmaceuticals, Inc. and Douglas Abel
23.1 Consent of J.H. Cohn LLP.
31.1 Certification of Principal Executive Officer.
31.2 Certification of Principal Financial Officer.
32.1 Certifications pursuant to Section 906 of the Sa#lsaOxley Act of 2002.
++ Confidential treatment has been granted as toingstations of this exhibit pursuant to Rule 24bf2zhe Securities Exchange Act of

1934, as amended.
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ITEM 14. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTANT FEES AND SERVICES .
Fees Billed to the Company by Its Independent Auddrs — MIKE TO UPDATE

The following is a summary of the fees billed tolysJ.H. Cohn LLP, our independent registered juinticounting firm for professional
services rendered for fiscal years ended Decenthe27 and 2006;

J.H. Cohn LLP

Fee Category Fiscal 2007 Fee Fiscal 2006 Fee
Audit Fees $ 103,94( $ 100,11:

Audit-Related Fees (1) 11,52( 22,94

Tax Fees (2) 18,70¢ 21,16¢

All Other Fees (3) - -

Total Fees $ 134,16¢ $ 144,21¢

(1) AuditRelated Fees consist principally of assurance aladed services that are reasonably related tpghfermance of the au

or review of the Company’s financial statements tatt reported under the caption “Audit FeeEtiese fees include review of registra
statements.

2 Tax Fees consist of fees for tax compliatee advice and tax planning.

) All Other Fees consist of aggregate fees billedpfmducts and services provided by the indepenasyistered public accounti
firm, other than those disclosed above.

Policy on Audit Committee Pre-Approval of Audit and Permissible Non-Audit Services of Independent Regfiered Public Accounting
Firm

At present, our audit committee approves each eargagt for audit or non-audit services before weagegour independent
registered public accounting firm to provide thesevices. Our audit committee has not establishggee-approval policies or procedures
that would allow our management to engage our iedéent registered public accounting firm to provade specified services with only an
obligation to notify the audit committee of the aggment for those services. None of the serviaegged by our independent registered
public accounting firm for fiscal 2007 was obtairiedeliance on the waiver of the pre-approval iegaent afforded in SEC regulations.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 1&f(the Securities Exchange Act, of 1934, the tegiig has duly caused this report
to be signed on its behalf by the undersignedetimo duly authorized, on March 31, 2008.

Manhattan Pharmaceuticals, Inc.

By: /s/ Douglas Abel

Douglas Abel
Chief Executive Officer and President

In accordance with the Securities Exchange Acs, iaport has been signed below by the followingges on behalf of Manhattan
Pharmaceuticals, Inc. and in the capacities anti@dates indicated.

Signature Title Date

/sl Douglas Ab¢  Chief Executive Officer, President and March 31, 2008
Douglas Abel Director (principal executive officer)

Isl Michael G. McGuinne  Secretary and Chief Financial Officer March 31, 2008
Michael G. McGuinness (principal accounting and financial officer)

/sl Neil Herskow Director March 31, 2008

Neil Herskowitz

Is/ Malcolm Hoenle Director March 31, 2008

Malcolm Hoenlein

Isl Timothy Mclnern Director March 31, 2008

Timothy Mclnerney

Is/ Richard Steinhe Director March 31, 2008

Richard Steinhart

Is/ Michael Weise Director March 31, 2008

Michael Weiser
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Index to Consolidated Financial Statements

Report of Independent Registered Public Accourfdinm

Consolidated Balance Sheets as of December 31, &0D2006

Consolidated Statements of Operations for the YEaded December 31, 2007 and 2006 and the cumeilpgitiod from Augus

6, 2001 (inception) to December 31, 2007

Consolidated Statement of Stockholders’ Equity {@ehcy) for the Years Ended December 31, 20072006 and the
cumulative period from August 6, 2001 (inceptiomecember 31, 2007

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the Yeaded December 31, 2007 and 2006 and the cumellagikiod from Augus

6, 2001 (inception) to December 31, 2007

Notes to Consolidated Financial Stateme
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTINKERM

The Board of Directors and Stockholders
Manhattan Pharmaceuticals, Inc.

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balsineets of Manhattan Pharmaceuticals, Inc. ahsidaries (a development stage
company) as of December 31, 2007 and 2006, anctkhied consolidated statements of operationskistdders' equity (deficiency) and cash
flows for the years then ended, and for the pefiooh August 6, 2001 (date of inception) to Decen®ier2007. These consolidated financial
statements are the responsibility of the Compangisagement. Our responsibility is to express aniopion these consolidated financial
statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with thedstals of the Public Company Accounting OversighamioUnited States). Those
standards require that we plan and perform thet &amdbtain reasonable assurance about whethdindmecial statements are free of material
misstatement. An audit includes examining, on glasis, evidence supporting the amounts and digids in the financial statements. An
audit also includes assessing the accounting ptesiused and significant estimates made by marnageas well as evaluating the overall
financial statement presentation. We believe thatadits provide a reasonable basis for our opinio

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statetegaferred to above present fairly, in all matenégpects, the consolidated financial posi
of Manhattan Pharmaceuticals, Inc. and Subsidiasesf December 31, 2007 and 2006, and their cioladet! results of operations and cash
flows for the years then ended and for the peniothfAugust 6, 2001 (date of inception) to Decen8er2007, in conformity with accountil
principles generally accepted in the United StafeSmerica.

The accompanying consolidated financial statemiese been prepared assuming that the Companyamilintie as a going concern. As
discussed in Note 2 to the consolidated finan¢a&kments, the Company has incurred net lossesegative cash flows from operating
activities from its inception through December 3207 and has an accumulated deficit and negativkimgpcapital as of December 31, 20
These matters raise substantial doubt about thep@oy’s ability to continue as a going concern. Mpgment’s plan regarding these matters
are also described in Note 2. The accompanyingatioiaged financial statements do not include anjystthents that might result from the
outcome of this uncertainty.

As discussed in Note 3 to the consolidated findrst&ements, the Company changed the manner ichvithdccounts for share-based
compensation in fiscal 2006.

/s/ J.H. Cohn LLP

Roseland, New Jersey
March 28, 2008
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MANHATTAN PHARMACEUTICALS, INC. and SUBSIDIARIES
(A Development Stage Company)

Consolidated Balance Sheets

December 31, December 31,

2007 2006
Assets
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents $ 649,68t $ 3,029,111
Prepaid expenses 215,85 264,58¢
Total current assets 865,53 3,293,70.
Property and equipment, net 44 ,53: 83,74:
Other assets 70,50¢ 70,50¢
Total assets $ 980,57° $ 3,447,95!
Liabilities and Stockholders’ Equity (Deficiency)
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable $ 1,279,48" $ 1,393,29
Accrued expenses 592,17 550,02¢
Total liabilities 1,871,66. 1,943,32!
Commitments and contingencies
Stockholders’ equity (deficiency):
Preferred stock, $.001 par value. Authorized 1800 shares; no shares issued and outstandil
December 31, 2007 and 20
Common stock, $.001 par value. Authorized 150,000 ¢hares; 70,624,232 and 60,120,038
shares issued and outstanding at December 31,&2@DDecember 31, 2006, respectively 70,62¢ 60,12(
Additional paid-in capital 54,037,36 44,411,32
Deficit accumulated during the development stage (54,999,07) (42,966,81)
Total stockholders’ equity (deficiency) (891,08 1,504,62
Total liabilities and stockholders' equity (defiviy) $ 980,57 $ 3,447,95.

See accompanying notes to consolidated financssients.
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MANHATTAN PHARMACEUTICALS, INC. and SUBSIDIARIES
(A Development Stage Company)

Consolidated Statements of Operations

Revenue
Costs and expenses:
Research and development
General and administrative
In-process research and development charge
Impairment of intangible assets
Loss on disposition of intangible assets
Total operating expenses
Operating loss
Other (income) expense:
Interest and other income
Interest expense
Realized (gain)/loss on sale of marketable eq@tusties
Total other income
Net loss
Preferred stock dividends (including imputed ameynt

Net loss applicable to common sha

Net loss per common sha
Basic and diluted

Weighted average shares of common stock outstanding
Basic and diluted

See accompanying notes to consolidated financstistents.

F-4

Years ended December 31,

Cumulative
period from

August 6, 2001
(inception) to

December 31,

2007 2006 2007
— % — % —
8,535,68 6,172,84! 26,489,04
3,608,27! 3,827,48; 13,852,36
— — 11,887,80
— — 1,248,23
— — 1,213,87
12,143,95 10,000,32 54,691,32
(12,143,95) (10,000,32) (54,691,32)
(112,18) (307,87) (821,89
47€ 1,668 26,03
— 1,007 (76,032)
(111,705 (305,20:) (871,895
(12,032,25) (9,695,12) (53,819,42)
— — (1,179,64)
(12,032,25) $  (9,695,12) $ (54,999,07)
0.16) $ (0.1€)
68,015,07 60,112,33




MANHATTAN PHARMACEUTICALS, INC. and SUBSIDIARIES
(A Development Stage Company)

Consolidated Statement of Stockholders’ Equity {Eeihcy)

Deficit Dividends

Series A Series A accumulated payable in  Accumulated Total
convertible convertible Additional during Series A other Unearned stockholders’
preferred preferred Common Common paid-in  Subscription developmeni preferred comprehensive consulting equity
stock stock stock stock capital receivable stage stock income (loss) services (deficiency)
Shares  Amount Shares Amount Amount Amount Amount Amount Amount Amount Amount
Stock issued at $0.0004 per share for
subscription receivable —$ — 10,167,74 $ 10,16¢ $ (6,168 $ (4,000 $ — % — % — $ — $ =
Net loss — — — — — — (56,79¢) — — — (56,79¢)
Balance at December 31, 2001 — — 10,167,74 10,16¢ (6,16¢) (4,000 (56,796 — = = (56,796
Proceeds from subscription receivable — — — — — 4,00( — — — — 4,00(
Stock issued at $0.0004 per share for
license rights — — 2,541,93 2,54z (1,547) — — — — — 1,00¢
Stock options issued for consulting
services — — — — 60,58¢ — — — — (60,589 —
Amortization of unearned consulting
services — — — — — — — — — 22,72 22,72
Common stock issued at $0.63 per sk
net of expenses — — 3,043,33 3,04: 1,701,27! — — — — — 1,704,31
Net loss — — — — —  (1,037,32) — — —  (1,037,32)
Balance at December 31, 2002 — — 15,753,00 15,75: 1,754,15: — (1,094,11) — — (37,86%) 637,92:
Common stock issued at $0.63 per sk
net of expenses — — 1,321,800 1,322 742,36¢ — — — — — 743,69:
Effect of reverse acquisition — —  6,287,58 6,287  2,329,95 — — — — — 2,336,24
Amortization of unearned consulting
costs — — — — — — — — — 37,86¢ 37,86¢
Unrealized loss on short-term
investments — — — — — — — — (7,760 — (7,760
Payment for fractional shares for stoc
combination — — — — (300 — — — — — (300
Preferred stock issued at $10 per sha
net of expenses 1,000,001 1,00¢ — — 9,045,171 — — — — — 9,046,171
Imputed preferred stock dividend 418,18. — (418,18)) — —
Net loss — — — — — —  (5,960,90) — — —  (5,960,90)
Balance at December 31, 2003 1,000,001 1,00 23,362,39 23,36: 14,289,53 — (7,473,20) — (7,760 — 6,832,93
Exercise of stock options — — 27,60( 27 30,07: — — — — — 30,10(
Common stock issued at $1.10, net of
expenses — —  3,368,95: 3,36¢ 3,358,34! — — — — — 3,361,71
Preferred stock dividend accrued — — — — — — (585,799 585,79¢ — — —
Preferred stock dividends paid by
issuance of shares 24,90: 25 — — 281,07 — — (282,38Y) — — (1,290
Conversion of preferred stock to
common stock at $1.10 per share (170,52¢ (171 1,550,23 1,551 (1,380 — — — — — —
Warrants issued for consulting service — — — — 125,55¢ — — — — (120,969 4,59(
Amortization of unearned consulting
costs — — — — — — — — — 100,80( 100,80(
Unrealized gain on short-term
investments and reversal of
unrealized loss on short-term
investments — — — — — — — — 20,997 — 20,99
Net loss — — — — — — (5,896,03) — — — (5,896,03)
Balance at December 31, 2004 854,37 854 28,309,18 28,30¢ 18,083,20 —  (13,955,03) 303,41: 13,237 (20,169 4,453,811
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MANHATTAN PHARMACEUTICALS, INC. and SUBSIDIARIES
(A Development Stage Company)

Consolidated Statement of Stockholders’ Equity {@efhcy)

Deficit Dividends

Series A Series A accumulated payable in  Accumulated Total

convertible convertible Additional during Series A other Unearned stockholders’

preferred preferred Common Common paid-in  Subscription developmeni preferred comprehensive consulting equity
stock stock stock stock capital receivable stage stock income (loss) services (deficiency)
Shares  Amount Shares Amount Amount Amount Amount Amount Amount Amount Amount

Common stock issued at $1.11 and

$1.15, net of expenses — — 11,917,68 11,91¢ 12,238,29 — — — — — 12,250,20
Common stock issued to vendor at $1

per share in satisfaction of account

payable — — 675,67¢ 67€ 749,32¢ — — — — — 750,00(
Exercise of stock options — — 32,40( 33 32,361 — — — — — 32,40(
Exercise of warrants — — 279,84! 27¢ 68,217 — — — — — 68,49:
Preferred stock dividend accrued — — — — — — (175,66  175,66: — — —
Preferred stock dividends paid by

issuance of shares 41,78: 42 — — 477,73¢ — — (479,079 — — (1,296
Conversion of preferred stock to

common stock at $1.10 per share (896,159 (89€) 8,146,85! 8,147 (7,25)) — — — — — —
Share-based compensation — — — — 66,971 — — — — 20,16¢ 87,13¢
Reversal of unrealized gain on shtetmr

investments — — — — — — — — (12,250 — (12,250)

Stock issued in connection with
acquisition of Tarpan Therapeutics

Inc. — — 10,731,05 10,73: 11,042,25 — — — — — 11,052,98
Net loss — — — — — — (19,140,99) — — —  (19,140,99)
Balance at December 31, 2005 — — 60,092,69 60,09! 42,751,11 —  (33,271,69) —_ 987 — 9,540,491
Cashless exercise of warrants — — 27,34 27 (27) — — — — — —
Share-based compensation — — — — 1,675,49! — — — — — 1,675,49
Unrealized loss on short-term
investments — — — — — — — — (987) — (987)
Costs associated with private placeme — — — — (15,257 — — — — — (15,257
Net loss — — — — — —  (9,695,12) — — —  (9,695,12)
Balance at December 31, 2006 — — 60,120,083 60,12( 44,411,32 —  (42,966,81) — — — 1,504,62

Common stock issued at $0.84 and $!(

per shares, net of expenses — — 10,185,50 10,18¢ 7,841,99! — — — — — 7,852,18!
Common stock issued to directors at

$0.72 per share in satisfaction of

accounts payable — — 27,77¢ 28 19,97: — — — — — 20,00(
Common stock issued to in connectiol

with in-licensing agreement at $0.9

per share — — 125,00( 12t 112,37¢ — — — — — 112,50(
Common stock issued to in connectiol

with in-licensing agreement at $0.8

per share — — 150,00( 15C 119,85( — — — — — 120,00(
Exercise of warrants — — 10,327 15 7,21¢ — — — — — 7,23¢
Cashless exercise of warrants — — 5,58¢ — (6) — — — — — (6)
Share-based compensation — — — — 1,440,95! — — — — — 1,440,95!
Warrants issued for consulting 83,67( 83,67(
Net loss — — — — = —  (12,032,25) — = —  (12,032,25)

Balance at December 31, 2007 — — $70,624,23 70,62¢ $54,037,36 $ — $(54,999,07) $ — $ — $ — $ (891,08)

See accompanying notes to consolidated financ#tsients.
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MANHATTAN PHARMACEUTICALS, INC. and SUBSIDIARIES
(A Development Stage Company)

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

Cash flows from operating activities:
Net loss

Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash usegerating activities:

Share-based compensation
Shares issued in connection with in-licensing apeg
Warrants issued to consultant
Amortization of intangible assets
(Gain)/loss on sale of marketable equity securities
Depreciation
Non cash portion of in-process research and dexedopcharge
Loss on impairment and disposition of intangiblseds
Other
Changes in operating assets and liabilities, natqgtiisitions:
Decrease (increase) in prepaid expenses and attrent assets
Increase in other assets
Increase (decrease) in accounts payable
Increase in accrued expenses
Net cash used in operating activities
Cash flows from investing activities:
Purchase of property and equipment
Cash paid in connection with acquisitions
Net cash provided from the purchase and sale of-$fon investments
Proceeds from sale of license
Net cash (used in) provided by investing activities
Cash flows from financing activities:
Repayments of notes payable to stockholders
Proceeds (costs) related to sale of common statk, n
Proceeds from sale of preferred stock, net
Proceeds from exercise of warrants and stock option
Other, net
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities
Net (decrease) increase in cash and cash equisalent
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period
Cash and cash equivalents at end of period

Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information:
Interest paid

Supplemental disclosure of noncash investing amehfiing activities:

Years ended December 31,

Cumulative

period from
August 6, 2001
(inception) to
December 31,

2007 2006 2007
$ (12,032,25) $  (9,695,12) $ (53,819,42)
1,440,95! 1,675,49' 3,364,98:
232,50( — 232,50(
83,67( — 83,67(
— — 145,16:
— 1,00z (76,037)
48,34t 60,18¢ 195,82!
— — 11,721,62
— — 2,462,10:
— — 5,59(
48,73« (69,810 (157,60
— — (70,506
(93,817 (224,19)) 1,699,609
42,14¢ 501,70: 51,85¢
(10,229,71) (7,750,73) (34,160,55)
(9,139 (37,057 (230,639
— — (26,03))
— 1,005,82! 435,93¢
— — 200,00:
(9,139 968,77 379,27:
— — (884,90:)
7,852,18! (15,25 25,896,26
— — 9,046,17!
7,22¢ — 138,21
— — 235,21+
7,859,41: (15,257 34,430,96
(2,379,43) 6,797,21 649,68t
3,029,11 9,826,33 —
$ 649,68t $ 3,029,111 $ 649,68t
$ 475 $ 1,665 $ 26,03




Common stock issued in satisfaction of accountspley $ 20,000 $ — 3 770,00(

Imputed preferred stock dividend — — 418,18:
Preferred stock dividends accrued — — 761,46.
Conversion of preferred stock to common stock — — 1,067
Preferred stock dividends paid by issuance of share — — 759,13:
Issuance of common stock for acquisitions — — 13,389,22
Issuance of common stock in connection with infgiag agreement 232,50( 232,50(
Marketable equity securities received in connectidth sale of license — — 359,90°
Warrants issued to consultant 83,67( — 83,67(
Net liabilities assumed over assets acquired ifmiegs combination — — (675,416
Cashless exercise of warrants 6 27 33

See accompanying notes to consolidated financsistents.
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MANHATTAN PHARMACEUTICALS, INC. and SUBSIDIARIES
(A Development Stage Company)
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(1) Merger and Nature of Operations
2003 Reverse Merger

On February 21, 2003, the Company (formerly knowf/dlantic Technology Ventures, Inc.”) completedexerse acquisition of
privately held Manhattan Research Development, (iManhattan Research”) (formerly Manhattan Phareuticals, Inc.), a
Delaware corporation. At the effective time of therger, the outstanding shares of common stockasfidttan Research
automatically converted into shares of the Compangmmon stock representing 80 percent of the Cayipautstanding voting
stock after giving effect to the merger. Sincedtackholders of Manhattan Research received therityapf the voting shares of the
Company, the merger was accounted for as a reaecgesition whereby Manhattan Research was theuatiog acquirer (legal
acquiree) and the Company was the accounting amj(legal acquirer) under the purchase methodaufuating. In connection with
the merger, the Company changed its name from fiida echnology Ventures, Inc.” to “Manhattan Phaomuticals, Inc.” The
results of the combined operations have been iedud the Company’s financial statements since tratpr2003.

As described above, the Company resulted from #deUary 21, 2003 reverse merger between Atlantihielogy Ventures, Inc.
(“Atlantic”), which was incorporated on May 18, 18%nd privately-held Manhattan Research Developntec., incorporated on
August 6, 2001. The Company was incorporated irStlage of Delaware. In connection with the mertje,former stockholders of
Manhattan Research received a number of sharefaftis's common stock so that following the mertpay collectively owned 80
percent of the outstanding shares. Upon comple&tidhe merger, Atlantic changed its name to MammRharmaceuticals, Inc. and
thereafter adopted the business of Manhattan Resear

The Company is a clinical stage biopharmaceuticaigany focused on developing and commercializingwative pharmaceutical
therapies for underserved patient populations.Gtypany acquires rights to these technologiesdayn$ing or otherwise acquiring
an ownership interest, funding their research anetibpment and eventually either bringing the tettgies to market or out-
licensing. We currently have four product candidatedevelopment: Hedrin™, a novel, nimsecticide treatment of pediculitis (he
lice); Topical PTH (134) for the treatment of psoriasis; Altoderm™ (t@bicromolyn sodium) for the treatment of pruriassociate
with dermatologic conditions including atopic detitis; and Altolyn™ (oral tablet cromolyn sodiungrfthe treatment of
mastocytosis. During 2007, the Company discontirdedalopment of Oleoyl-estrone and Propofol Lingsjatay.

Acquisition of Tarpan Therapeutics, Inc.

On April 1, 2005, the Company entered into an Agreet and Plan of Merger (the “Agreement”) with Tamplr herapeutics, Inc., a
Delaware corporation (“Tarpan”), and Tarpan Acdigsi Corp., a Delaware corporation and wholly-owseatsidiary of the
Company (“TAC").Under the Agreement TAC merged with and into Tarpdth Tarpan remaining as the surviving corponatmd
a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company (the “MatQy The Merger was completed April 1, 2005. Imsmleration for their
shares of Tarpan capital stock and in accordantrethé Agreement, the stockholders of Tarpan reckh0,731,052 shares of the
Company’s common stock such that, upon the effedtive of the Merger, the Tarpan stockholders ctllely
receivedapproximately 20 percent of the Comparhes toutstanding common stock on a fully-diluted$a3ased on the five day
average price of the Company’s common stock of3pér share, the value of the shares issued tdtdle®d52,984. In addition,
there were $166,184 of acquisition costs. At theetof the Merger, Tarpan had outstanding indebtesln€$651,000 (inclusive of
5% accrued interest) resulting from a series ofisgory notes issued to Paramount BioCapital Invests, LLC and Horizon
BioMedical Ventures, LLC, both of which are ownedcontrolled by Dr. Lindsay Rosenwald. The notesenrepaid in full by the
Company in two installments on April 15, 2005 arpp®mber 6, 2005.
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MANHATTAN PHARMACEUTICALS, INC. and SUBSIDIARIES
(A Development Stage Company)
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The acquisition of Tarpan has been accounted fahédyCompany under the purchase method of accauintiaccordance with
Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (“SPASS. 141 “Business Combinations”. Under the pusehaethod, assets
acquired and liabilities assumed by the Companyeerded at their estimated fair values and thaltg of operations of the
acquired company are consolidated with those oCvapany from the date of acquisition.

Several of Tarpan’s former stockholders were diecor significant stockholders of the Companyhattime of the transaction. Dr.
Rosenwald and various trusts established for thefiiteof Dr. Rosenwald and members of his immediareily collectively
beneficially owned approximately 46 percent of Earjs common stock and beneficially owned approxétya26 percent of the
Company’s common stock at the time of the traneactn addition, Joshua Kazam, David Tanen, Dr.Hd& Weiser and Timothy
Mclnerney, all of whom were members of the Compargard of directors at the time of the transactiotiectively owned
approximately 13.4 percent of Tarpan’s outstandimgmon stock. At the time of the transaction, Dei¥ér and Mr. Mclnerney
were employed by Paramount BioCapital, Inc., aityentvned and controlled by Dr. Rosenwald. As ailtesf such relationships
between the Company and Tarpan, the Company'’s ludatidectors established a special committee tesicler and approve the
Agreement. The members of the special committe@didhave any prior relationship with Tarpan.

The excess purchase price paid by the Companyqudrache net assets of Tarpan was allocated toimzhiin-process research and
development totaling $11,887,807. As required maRcial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) Intexation No. 4,
“Applicability of FASB Statement No. 2 to Businesambinations Accounted for by the Purchase MetHtélN 4”), the Company
recorded a charge in its consolidated statemeopeifations for the year ended December 31, 2008 &in-process research and
development. Tarpan was a biopharmaceutical compaggged in the development of the Phase Il phauti@al product
candidate, PTH (1-34).

(2) Liquidity and Basis of Presentation
Liquidity
The Company incurred a net loss of $12,032,252nagehtive cash flows from operating activities 00 £P9,711 for the year ended
December 31, 2007 and a net loss of $9,695,123agdtive cash flows from operating activities of@D,738 for the year ended
December 31, 2006. The net loss applicable to camshares from date of inception, August 6, 200DQ¢cember 31, 2007 amou
to $54,999,070.

The Company received approximately $7.9 millionfnetn a private placement of common stock and wasran March 2007. This
private placement is more fully described in Nate 5
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MANHATTAN PHARMACEUTICALS, INC. and SUBSIDIARIES
(A Development Stage Company)
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Company received approximately $2.0 milliomira joint venture agreement in February 2008. Jdirg venture agreement is
more fully described in Note 12.

Management believes that the Company will contitaui@cur net losses through at least December @18 2nd for the foreseeable
future thereafter. Based on the resources of thep@ay available at December 31, 2007 and the oeepds received from the
February 2008 joint venture agreement managemes# ot believe that the Company has sufficienttabfn fund its operations
through 2008. Management believes that the Compélhypeed additional equity or debt financing oflwieed to generate revenues
through licensing of its products or entering istategic alliances to be able to sustain its dperathrough 2008. Furthermore, we
will need additional financing thereafter to contpldevelopment and commercialization of our prosluthere can be no assurances
that we can successfully complete development anthtercialization of our products.

These matters raise substantial doubt about thep@oy’s ability to continue as a going concern. @aheompanying consolidated
financial statements do not include any adjustmérasmight result from the outcome of this undetia

The Company’s continued operations will dependtembility to raise additional funds through vasqotential sources such as
equity and debt financing, collaborative agreemesitategic alliances and its ability to realize fall potential of its technology in
development. Additional funds may not become atglan acceptable terms, and there can be no assuttsat any additional
funding that the Company does obtain will be sidfit to meet the Company’s needs in the long-term.

(3) Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Basis of Presentation

The Company has not generated any revenue froopésations and, accordingly, the consolidated firdrstatements have been
prepared in accordance with the provisions of SR8, “Accounting and Reporting by Development Stamterprises.”

Principles of Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include twwants of the Company and its wholly-owned subsi€ls. All intercompany
balances and transactions have been eliminateshisotidation. All of the Compang’subsidiaries were dissolved as of Decembe
2006.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in confeymiith accounting principles generally acceptethia United States of America
requires management to make estimates and assas it affect certain reported amounts of assetdiabilities and disclosure

contingent assets and liabilities at the date effittencial statements and the reported amourggpdnses during the reporting
period. Actual results could differ from those psites.
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MANHATTAN PHARMACEUTICALS, INC. and SUBSIDIARIES
(A Development Stage Company)
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Research and Development

All research and development costs are expenset@sed and include costs of consultants who cohdesearch and development
on behalf of the Company and its subsidiaries. €agated to the acquisition of technology rightd patents for which development
work is still in process are expensed as incurretlamnsidered a component of research and develdpuosts.

The Company often contracts with third partiesatcilitate, coordinate and perform agreed upon rekeand development of a new
drug. To ensure that research and development amsexpensed as incurred, the Company recordshigaucruals for clinical
trials and preclinical testing costs based on thekwerformed under the contracts.

These contracts typically call for the paymenteads for services at the initiation of the contaad/or upon the achievement of
certain milestones. This method of payment oftegsdwot match the related expense recognition regtiit either a prepayment,
when the amounts paid are greater than the relassdrch and development costs expensed, or aredd@bility, when the
amounts paid are less than the related researctiearetbpment costs expensed.

Acquired in-process research and development

Costs to acquire in-process research and develdgngects and technologies which have no altevedtiture use at the date of
acquisition are expensed.

Income Taxes

Income taxes are accounted for under the assdiadnility method. Deferred tax assets and lial@htiare recognized for the future
consequences attributable to temporary differebetseen financial statement carrying amounts dfteeg assets and liabilities, and
their respective tax bases and operating lossandréedit carryforwards. Deferred tax assets aatfullities are measured using
enacted tax rates expected to apply to taxableneda the years in which those temporary differsrare expected to be recovered
or settled. The effect on deferred tax assetsiabdilies of a change in tax rates is recognizethcome in the period that includes
the enactment date. A valuation allowance is pediethen it is more likely than not that some parto all of the deferred tax ass
will not be realized.

Computation of Net Loss per Common Share

Basic net loss per common share is calculatedwglidg net loss applicable to common shares byatbighted-average number of
common shares outstanding for the period. Dilutetdass per common share is the same as basiossgbér common share, since
potentially dilutive securities from stock optioss$ock warrants and convertible preferred stockld/biave an antidilutive effect
because the Company incurred a net loss duringmerabd presented. The amounts of potentially didusecurities excluded from
the calculation were 16,903,292 and 13,383,22%shatrDecember 31, 2007 and 2006, respectively.
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MANHATTAN PHARMACEUTICALS, INC. and SUBSIDIARIES
(A Development Stage Company)
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Share-Based Compensation

The Company has stockholder-approved stock incemplians for employees, directors, officers and ahiasts. Prior to January 1,
2006, the Company accounted for the employee,tdirend officer plans using the intrinsic value hoet under the recognition and
measurement provisions of Accounting PrinciplesrBq&APB”) Opinion No.25, “Accounting for Stock leed to Employees” and
related interpretations, as permitted by StateroERtnancial Accounting Standards (“SFAS” or “Staent”) No. 123, “Accounting
for Stock-Based Compensation.”

Effective January 1, 2006, the Company adopted SHASL23(R), “Share-Based Payment,” (“Statemen{RY3 for employee
options using the modified prospective transitiogtimod. Statement 123(R) revised Statement 123ninelte the option to use the
intrinsic value method and required the Compangxjoense the fair value of all employee options dheresting period. Under the
modified prospective transition method, the Compaatpgnized compensation cost for the years endégegmber 31, 2007 and 2C
which includes a) period compensation cost reladesharebased payments granted prior to, but not yet veatedf January 1, 20(
based on the grant date fair value estimated iardeace with the original provisions of Stateme2;land b) period compensation
cost related to share-based payments granted afteordanuary 1, 2006, based on the grant datedhie estimated in accordance
with Statement 123(R). In accordance with the mediprospective method, the Company has not respater period results.

The Company recognizes compensation expense rétagtdck option grants on a straight-line basisrdkie vesting period. For the
years ended December 31, 2007 and 2006, the Compeognized share-based employee compensationfc®$i447,560 and
$1,670,661, respectively, in accordance with Statemi23(R). $890,124 of the $1,447,560 of expeasegnized in 2007 resulted
from the grant of stock options to officers, dimst and employees of the Company on or prior toebB®er 31, 2005. $1,500,690 of
the $1,670,661 of the expense recognized in 2088teel from the grants of stock options to officelisectors and employees of the
Company on or prior to December 31, 2005. The le@affor the years ended December 31, 2007 and&0E#57,436 and
$169,971, respectively, relate to the grantingtotls options to employees and officers on or afteruary 1, 2006. The Company
not capitalize any share-based compensation cost.

Options granted to consultants and other non-enegl®ware accounted for in accordance with EITF Bel®"Accounting for Equit
Instruments That Are Issued to Other than Employ@eAcquiring, or in Conjunction with Selling, Gdse or Services". According|
such options are recorded at fair value at the afaggant and subsequently adjusted to fair valtleaend of each reporting
perioduntil such options vest, and the fair valtithe options, as adjusted, is amortized to coimgukxpenseover the related vesting
period. As a result of adjusting consultant anagption-employee options to fair value as of Decer8the2007 and 2006
respectively, net of amortization, the Company geized an increase to general and administratide@search and development
expenses of $6,604 for the year ended Decemb@08%, and a reduction to general and administramnceresearch and developn
expenses of $4,838 for the year ended Decemb&0BB,
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The Company has allocated share-based compensaststo general and administrative and researdiianelopment expenses as
follows:

2007 2006

General and administrative expense:
Share-based employee compensation cost $ 891,89° $ 1,176,61
Share-based consultant and non-employee cost 10,55( (29,842
$ 902,44 $ 1,146,77

Research and development expense
Share-based employee compensation cost $ 555,66: $ 494,04:
Share-based consultant and non-employee cost (17,159) 34,68(
$ 538,50¢ $ 528,72:

&+

Total share-based cost 1,440,951 $ 1,675,49

As a result of adopting Statement 123(R), netfosshe year ended December 31, 2006 was greadaritithe Company had
continued to account for share-based compensatiderltAPB 25 by approximately $1,671,000. The efté@dopting Statement 123
(R) on basic and diluted earnings per share foyéze ended December 31, 2006 was $0.03 per share.

To compute compensation expense in 2007 and 2@06dmpany estimated the fair value of each optward on the date of grant
using the Black-Scholes model. The Company basedxpected volatility assumption on a volatilitdéx of peer companies as the
Company did not have a sufficient number of yedtsgtorical volatility of its common stock for thapplication of Statement 123
(R). The expected term of options granted represiet period of time that options are expectedcetoutstanding. The Company
estimated the expected term of stock options bitmplified method as prescribed in Staff AccougtBulletin No. 107. The
expected forfeiture rates are based on the hisiagimployee forfeiture experiences. To deterriigerisk-free interest rate, the
Company utilized the U.S. Treasury yield curveffie@ at the time of grant with a term consisteittwvthe expected term of the
Company's awards. The Company has not declareddedd on its common stock since its inception las no intentions of
declaring a dividend in the foreseeable future thedefore used a dividend yield of zero.

The following table shows the weighted average mgsions the Company used to develop the fair vakignates for the
determination of the compensation charges in 20@72806:

2007 2006
Expected volatility 93% 84% - 98%
Dividend yield — —
Expected term (in years) 5-10 5-10
Risk-free interest rate 3.6% - 4.9% 4.45% - 5.1%
Forfeiture rate 7% 4%
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Financial Instruments

At December 31, 2007 and 2006, the fair valuesash@and cash equivalents and accounts payablexapate their carrying values
due to the short-term nature of these instruments.

Cash and Cash Equivalents
Cash equivalents consist of cash or short termstnvents with original maturities at the time of ghase of three months or less.
Property and Equipment

Property and equipment are stated at cost. Depiatia provided using the straight-line methodrestimated useful lives. When
assets are retired or otherwise disposed of, teeaca related accumulated depreciation are remipgedthe accounts, and any
resulting gain or loss is recognized in operatifmnghe period. Amortization of leasehold improvenseis calculated using the
straight-line method over the remaining term ofl#eese or the life of the asset, whichever is gnofthe cost of repairs and
maintenance is charged to operations as incurigifisant renewals and improvements are capitdlize

Short-term Investments

Short-term investments are carried at market vsiluee they are marketable and considered avaifablsale. The Company did not
have any short-term investments at December 31 20Q006.

New Accounting Pronouncements

In September 2006, the FASB issued SFAS No. 154ir Value Measurements” (“SFAS 157"), which definfair value,
establishes a framework for measuring fair valuadoordance with generally accepted accountingiplies (“GAAP”) in the Unitec
States of America, and expands disclosures aboutaflue measurements. SFAS 157 does not requyr@en fair value
measurements under GAAP and is effective for figeals beginning after November 15, 2007. The Compall adopt SFAS 157
as of January 1, 2008. The effects of adoptionlv@ldetermined by the types of instruments caatddir value in our financial
statements at the time of adoption, as well asrtéthod utilized to determine their fair values ptmadoption. Based on the
Company'’s current use of fair value measuremeii8SS157 is not expected to have a material effadtoresults of operations or
financial position.

In February 2007, the FASB issued SFAS No. 158he Fair Value Option for Financial Assets anddfinial Liabilities,” (SFAS
159), which provides companies with an option tworé selected financial assets and liabilitiesa@it falue. SFAS 159 establishes
presentation and disclosure requirements designfatilitate comparisons between companies thabvehdifferent measurement
attributes for similar types of assets and lialelitand highlights the effect of a company’s chaéacase fair value on its earnings. It
also requires a company to display the fair valutase assets and liabilities for which it hassdmto use fair value on the face of
the balance sheet. SFAS 159 will be effective b@gtnJanuary 1, 2008 and is not expected to hawatarial impact on the
Company’s consolidated financial statements.
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In June 2007, the FASB issued EITF No. 07-3ccounting for Nonrefundable Advance PaymentsGmods or Services Received
for use in Future Research and Development A@®It{“EITF No. 07-3"). EITF No. 07-3 states thatmefundable advance
payments for goods or services that will be usegtodered for future research and developmentiiesisshould be deferred and
capitalized. Such amounts should be recognized ax@ense as the related goods are delivered oeltdited services are performed.
Entities should continue to evaluate whether theyeet the goods to be delivered or services teehdared. If an entity does not
expect the goods to be delivered or services teheered, the capitalized advance payment shoubthéaged to expense. The
provisions of EITF No. 07-3 will be effective fdre Company on a prospective basis beginning Jariy@08, evaluated on a
contract by contract basis and is not expectedte la material impact on the Company’s consolidfiteshcial statements.

In December 2007, the FASB issued SFAS No. 14HRgyised version of SFAS No. 141Business Combinations.” The revision
is intended to simplify existing guidance and cageerulemaking under U.S. generally accepted adomyprinciples with
international accounting standards. This staterapplies prospectively to business combinations w/ttee acquisition date is on or
after the beginning of the first annual reportirggipd beginning on or after December 15, 2008. Atityemay not apply it before th
date. The Company is currently evaluating the inhpathe provisions of the revision on its consatietl results of operations and
financial condition.

In December 2007, the FASB issued SFAS No. 160ntdatrolling Interests in Consolidated Financiat8ments” (“SFAS 160"),
which will require noncontrolling interests (preusly referred to as minority interests) to be edads a separate component of
equity, not as a liability or other item outsidepgfrmanent equity. This statement applies to tkewtting for noncontrolling intere:
and transactions with noncontrolling interest hodda consolidated financial statements. SFAS 180 applied prospectively to
all noncontrolling interests, including any thavse before the effective date except that comparariod information must be
recast to classify noncontrolling interests in &guattribute net income and other comprehensiverime to noncontrolling interests,
and provide other disclosures required by SFAS $6®&S 160 is effective for periods beginning orafter December 15, 2008. We
are currently evaluating the impact that SFAS 1@Dhave on our consolidated financial statements.

The FASB and the Securities and Exchange Commis$sidrissued certain other accounting pronouncenasnté December 31,
2007 that will become effective in subsequent pksidowever, the Company does not believe thabéityose pronouncements
would have significantly affected its financial acating measures or disclosures had they beerdantefuring the years ended
December 31, 2007 and 2006 and for the period fkagust 6, 2001 (inception) to December 31, 200that will have a significant
effect at the time they become effective.

(4) Property and Equipment

Property and equipment consists of the followinatember 31:

2007 2006
Property and equipment $ 226,01( $ 244,04(
Less accumulated depreciation (181,47) (160,29)
Net property and equipme $ 4453 $ 83,74
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(5) Stockholders’ Equity

As described in Note 1 the Company completed arsevacquisition of privately held Manhattan Resed&evelopment, Inc. on
February 21, 2003. In July 2003, the Board of Divecadopted a resolution authorizing an amendreethie certificate of
incorporation providing for a 1-for-5 combinatiohtbe Company’s common stock. The resolution apipgpthe 1-for5 combinatiol
was thereafter consented to in writing by holdéra majority of the Company’s outstanding commatktand became effective in
September 2003. Accordingly, all share and peresimiormation in these consolidated financial stetats has been restated to
retroactively reflect the 1-for-5 combination ahe effects of the Reverse Merger.

2001
During 2001, the Company issued 10,167,741 shdriés @ommon stock to investors for subscriptioeseivable of $4,000 or
$0.0004 per share. During 2002, the Company reddhe $4,000 subscription receivable.

2002

During 2002, the Company issued 2,541,935 shariégs obmmon stock to Oleoyl-estrone Developments, SOED”) in
conjunction with a license agreement (the OED LseeAgreement”), as more fully described in Not&@/@. valued these shares at
their then estimated fair value of $1,000.

During 2002, the Company issued options to purcha®@?,294 shares of its common stock in conjunaiiéh several consulting
agreements. The fair value of these options wass880 The Company expensed $22,721 in 2002 an@&3 2003.

During 2002 and 2003 the Company completed twoapeiplacements. During 2002, the Company issuetB3B082 shares of its
common stock at $0.63 per share and warrants thpse 304,333 of its common stock in a privateqgutent. After deducting
commissions and other expenses relating to thatgriplacement, the Company received net proceebls, 604,318.

2003

During 2003, the Company issued an additional 1,@®l.shares of its common stock at $0.63 per sradtevarrants to purchase
132,181 shares of its common stock. After deduatmgmissions and other expenses relating to thaterplacement, the Company
received net proceeds of $743,691. In connectith thiese private placements, the Company issuigetplacement agent warrants
to purchase 1,658,753 shares of its common stock.

As described in Note 1, during 2003, the Companyleted a reverse acquisition. The Company issy@8ré82 shares of its
common stock with a value of $2,336,241 in the reg@cquisition.

In November 2003, the Company issued 1,000,00Gstwrits newly-designated Series A Convertiblde®red Stock (the
“Convertible Preferred”) at a price of $10 per €hera private placement. After deducting commissiand other expenses relating
to the private placement, the Company receivegragteeds of $9,046,176. Each share of ConvertitdéeRed was convertible at
the holder’s election into shares of the Compamgmmon stock at a conversion price of $1.10 pares The conversion price of t
Convertible Preferred was less than the marketvafuhe Company’s common stock on the date ofisse. Accordingly for the
year ended December 31, 2003 the Company recorgegaaate charge to deficit accumulated duringldpweent stage for the
beneficial conversion feature associated with siseance of Convertible Preferred of $418,182. Tovev€Ertible Preferred had a
payment-in-kind annual dividend of five percent.Xifia Group, LLC of New York, together with Paramo@swpital, Inc., a related
party, acted as the placement agents in connegitbrthe private placement.
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2004

During 2004, the Company issued 3,368,952 shari#s obmmon stock at a price of $1.10 per sha@pnivate placement. After
deducting commissions and other expenses relaitiget private placement, the Company received metgeds of $3,361,718. In
connection with the common stock private placenagtthe Convertible Preferred private placemeet@bmpany issued to the
placement agents a warrant to purchase 1,235,%88ssbf its common stock.

During 2004 the Company recorded a dividend orCthevertible Preferred of $585,799. 24,901 shareSavivertible Preferred we
issued in payment of $282,388 of this in-kind dend. Also during 2004, 170,528 shares of Converfireferred were converted
into 1,550,239 shares of the Company’s common sab&4.10 per share.

During 2004 the Company issued 27,600 shares ofrmmmnstock upon the exercise of stock options.

During 2004, the Company issued warrant to purcttd8e000 shares of its common stock in conjunatiih three consulting
agreements. The fair value of these warrants wa8,868. The Company expensed $100,800 in 2004 20d &8 in 2005.

2005

In August 2005, the Company issued 11,917,680 shadriis common stock and warrants to purchase32588 shares of its comm
stock in a private placement at $1.11 and $1.15pare. After deducting commissions and other esgerelating to the private
placement the Company received net proceeds o252209. Paramount BioCapital, Inc. (“Paramouraf) affiliate of a significant
stockholder of the Company, acted as placement agehwas paid cash commissions and expenses afd#of which $121,625
was paid to certain selected dealers engaged layridant in the private placement. The Company atsaeid warrants to purchase
595,449 shares of common stock to Paramount atgirceelect dealers, of which Paramount receivedamgs to purchase 517,184
common shares. Timothy Mclnerney and Dr. Michaeldafe each a director of the Company, were empkpé®aramount
BioCapital, Inc. at the time of the transaction.

During 2005 the Company recorded a dividend orCbevertible Preferred of $175,663. 41,781 share3avivertible Preferred we
issued in payment of this $175,663 in-kind dividermdi the unpaid portion of the 2004kimd dividend, $303,411. Also during 20!
the remaining 896,154 shares of Convertible pretewere converted into 8,146,858 shares of the @agip common stock.

During 2005, the Company issued 675,675 shards obmmon stock at $1.11 per share and warramsrtthase 135,135 shares of
its common stock to Cato BioVentures, an affiliatéCato Research, Inc., in exchange for satisfaaif750,000 of accounts
payable owed by the Company to Cato ResearchSince the value of the shares and warrants issascdpproximately $750,000,
there is no impact on the statement of operationhis transaction.
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During 2005 the Company issued 312,245 sharesrofran stock upon the exercise of stock options aadlamts.

As described in Note 1, in April 2005, the Companynpleted the Merger with Tarpan. In accordanch e Agreement, the
stockholders of Tarpan received 10,731,052 shdrd®dCompany’s common stock with a value of $12,084.

2006
During 2006 the Company issued 27,341 shares oframmstock upon the exercise of warrants.

2007

On March 30, 2007, the Company entered into asefisubscription agreements with various institudl and other accredited
investors for the issuance and sale in a privateguhent of an aggregate of 10,185,502 shares afritsnon stock for total net
proceeds of approximately $7.85 million, after dethg commissions and other costs of the transac@d the total amount of shau
issued, 10,129,947 were sold at a per share pfi$8.84, and an additional 55,555 shares wereteddth entity affiliated with a
director of the Company, at a per share price ®GChe closing sale price of the common stockanch 29, 2007. Pursuant to the
subscription agreements, the Company also issutke tmvestors 5-year warrants to purchase an ggtgef 3,564,897 shares of
common stock at an exercise price of $1.00 peresfidre warrants are exercisable during the peodneencing September 30,
2007 and ending March 30, 2012. Gross and net pdscigEom the private placement were $8,559,1555 852,185, respectively.

Pursuant to these subscription agreements the Gonfiled a registration statement on Form S-3 ciovethe resale of the shares
issued in the private placement, including the sh&suable upon exercise of the investor waramdshe placement agent warrants,
with the Securities and Exchange Commission on 88007, which was declared effective by the Séesrand Exchange
Commission on May 18, 2007.

The Company engaged Paramount, an affiliate afr@fgiant stockholder of the Company, as its plagetragent in connection with
the private placement. In consideration for itwmes, the Company paid aggregate cash commissfaggproximately $600,000 a
issued to Paramount a 5-year warrant to purchasggumegate of 509,275 shares at an exercise @rite@0 per share.

(6) Stock Options
2003 Stock Option Plan

In December 2003, the Company established the 30@&k Option Plan (the “2003 Plan”), which providedthe granting of up to
5,400,000 options to officers, directors, employaed consultants for the purchase of stock. In Aug005, the Company increased
the number of shares of common stock reserved$maince under the 2003 Plan by 2,000,000 shar&edember 31, 2006,
7,400,000 shares were authorized for issuance.ayn 2007, the Company increased the number of sbé@snmon stock reserves
for issuance under the 2003 Plan by 3,000,000 shatedDecember 31, 2007, 10,400,000 shares weh®ared for issuance. The
options have a maximum term of 10 years and vest aperiod determined by the CompanBoard of Directors (generally 3 yea
and are issued at an exercise price equal to ategréhan the fair market value of the sharesetitite of grant. The 2003 Plan
expires on December 10, 2013 or when all optiong leeen granted, whichever is sooner. Under th8 P0én, the Company
granted employees options to purchase an aggrefj8#9,000 shares of common stock at an exercise pf $0.95, 75,000 shares
of common stock at an exercise price of $0.82 &W50 shares of common stock at an exercise pfi$6.72 during the year
ended December 31, 2007. In addition, 27,776 stresmmon stock were issued during 2007 unde€@@S8 Plan.
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At December 31, 2007 there were 3,475,626 shasesved for future grants under the 2003 Plan.
1995 Stock Option Plan

In July 1995, the Company established the 1995kSimtion Plan (the “1995 Plan”), which provided fbe granting of options to
purchase up to 130,000 shares of the Company’s constock to officers, directors, employees and ghtasts. The 1995 Plan was
amended several times to increase the number stemewed for stock option grants. In June 2003.885 Plan expired and no
further options can be granted. At December 3172iiftions to purchase 1,137,240 shares were odistaand no shares were
reserved for future stock option grants under ®@51Plan.

A summary of the status of the Company’s stockaostias of December 31, 2007 and changes duringetivehen ended is
presented below:

2007
Weighted
Average
Weighted Remaining
average Contractual Aggregate
exercise Term Intrinsic
Shares price (years) Value
Outstanding at beginning of year 7,000,50- $ 1.31C
Granted 1,342,500 $ 0.87¢
Exercised -
Cancelled (309,160 $ 0.33¢
Outstanding at end of year 8,033,831 $ 1.25: 6.881
Options exercisable at year-end 5,601,71- $ 1.26¢ 6.62°¢
Weighted-average fair value of optior  $
granted during the year 0.63

As of December 31, 2007 and 2006, the total congi@rscost related to non-vested option awardsaebtecognized is $539,046 and
$1,365,581, respectively. The weighted averageg@earver which it is expected to be recognized maximately 0.5 and 0.9 years,

respectively.
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The following table summarizes the information atstock options outstanding at December 31, 2007:

Number Remaining Number of
Exercise of Options Contractual Options
Price Outstanding Life (years) Exercisable
$ 0.4C 876,09( 5.1¢€ 876,09(
0.4: 40C 5.1t 40C
0.7¢ 220,00( 8.5¢ 73,33:
0.7z 365,00( 9.0¢ 32,50(
0.82 75,00( 9.0¢ -
0.8¢ 16,667 8.3¢ 16,66"
0.9t 670,00( 9.32 100,00(
0.97 440,00( 6.7t 440,00(
1.0C 65,00( 4.2¢ 65,00(
1.0C 290,69¢ 7.04 290,69t
1.2¢ 12,00( 4.0¢ 12,00(
1.2t 163,75( 414 163,75(
1.3¢ 108,33: 8.0¢ 64,99¢
1.3¢ 300,00( 8.0¢ 300,00t
1.3¢ 60,00( 8.5¢ 20,00(
1.5C 2,923,901 7.28 1,949,227
1.5C 250,00( 2.5¢ 25,00(
1.6C 100,00( 7.4¢€ 75,00(
1.6t 1,077,001 6.0¢ 1,077,001
4.3¢ 10,00( 3.14 10,00(
20.9¢ 10,00( 2.2¢ 10,00(
Total 8,033,83! 5,601,71.

(7) Stock Warrants

The following table summarizes the information abwarrants to purchase shares of our common stotstanding at December 31,

2007:
Number of Remaining Number of
Exercise Warrants contractual warrants
price outstanding life (years) exercisable
$ 0.2¢ 150,00 4,64 150,00
0.7¢ 10,00( 1.9¢ 10,00(
1.0C 3,564,89 4.2t 3,564,89
1.0C 509,27" 4.2t 509,27!
1.1C 909,09( .8E 909,09(
1.1C 326,49¢ 1.04 326,49¢
1.44 2,161,76 2.6t 2,161,76
1.44 540,44¢ 2.6t 540,44
1.44 135,13! 2.6F 135,13!
1.4¢ 221,74. 2.67 221,74:
1.4¢ 55,00( 2.67 55,00(

1.9C 10,00( 1.21 10,00(



1.9C 90,00( 1.21 90,00(
6.6¢ 185,60: 1C 185,60:
Total 8,869,45: 8,869,45.
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(8) Related-Party Transactions
Oleoylestrone Developments, SL

The Company entered into a consulting agreemeht@&ED. The agreement became effective in Februddg 2at a fee of $6,250
per month. The agreement was terminated in Nove2®@r. The fees associated with the consultingeageat are expensed as
incurred. OED currently owns approximately 5.7 patoof the Company’s outstanding common stock. #alailly, Mr. Pons, chief
executive officer of OED, was a member of the Conyfsmboard of directors until his resignation inyJR007.

Total milestone payments under the license agreeaié®, $250,000 and $675,000 and consulting 6¢&68,750, $75,000 and
$431,250 are included in the accompanying congeliistatements of operations for the years endeédrbeer 31, 2007, 2006 and
for the cumulative period from August 6, 2001 tacBber 31, 2007.

Paramount BioCapital, Inc.

One member of the Company’s board of directors,ctlityn Mclnerney, was an employee of Paramount oradrits affiliates until
April 2007. Another member of the Company’s boafrdicectors, Michael Weiser, was an employee ofiRarunt until December
2006. In addition, two former members of the Conymboard of directors, Joshua Kazam and David manere employed by
Paramount through August 2004 and were directotBeoCompany until September 2005. The sole shitehof Paramount is
Lindsay A. Rosenwald, M.D. Dr. Rosenwald beneflgialvns more than 5 percent of the Company’s cometook as of December
31, 2007 and various trusts established for DreRaald’s or his family’s benefit, held in excessl@P of the Company’s common
stock as of December 31, 2007. In November 20@3Cithmpany paid to Paramount approximately $460a308ommissions earned
in consideration for placement agent services nextbiem connection with the private placement of @mnpany’s Series A
Convertible Preferred Stock, which amount represgiitpercent of the value of the shares sold bgrRaunt in the offering. In
addition, in January 2004, the Company paid apprasely $260,000 as commissions earned in considerfr placement agent
services rendered by Paramount in connection wittivate placement of the Compasyommon stock, which amount represent
percent of the value of the shares sold by Paratrinuhe private placement. In connection with bptlvate placements and as a
result of their employment with Paramount, Mr. Kiazar. Mclnerney and Dr. Weiser were allocated &+yglacement agent
warrants to purchase 60,174, 58,642 and 103,658sbathe Company’s common stock, respectively, @ice of $1.10 per share.

Paramount also served as the Compapjacement agent in connection with the August3ftdvate placement. As placement ag
the Company paid to Paramount total cash commis©6f6839,816 relating to the August 26, 2005 dgsof which $121,625 was
paid to certain selected dealers engaged by Pardritoaonnection with the private placement andéssfive-year warrants to
purchase an aggregate of 540,449 shares of comimchexercisable at a price of $1.44 per shargtoéh Paramount received
warrants to purchase 462,184 common shares. Irection with the August 30 closing, the Company paish commissions to
Paramount of $88,550 and issued an additionalyfeer-warrant to purchase 55,000 common sharesisakle at a price of $1.49
per share.
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Paramount also served as the Company’s placement egconnection with the March 2007 private pfaeat. As placement agent,
the Company paid to Paramount aggregate cash cammssof approximately $600,000 and issued to Pauaitna 5-year warrant to
purchase an aggregate of 509,275 shares of comtmcihat an exercise price of $1.00 per share.

(9) Income Taxes

There was no current or deferred tax expense éoydlars ended December31, 2007 or 2006 becaulse Gbimpany’s operating
losses.

The components of deferred tax assets as of Dee¢8Mmt007 and 2006 are as follows:

2007 2006
Deferred tax assets:

Tax loss carryforwards $ 22,513,000 $ 18,265,00
Research and development credit 1,769,00! 1,374,001
In-process research and development charge 4,850,00! 4,850,001
Stock based compensation 1,270,001 682,00(
Other 85,00( 29,00(

Gross deferred tax assets 30,487,001 25,200,00
Less valuation allowance (30,487,00) (25,200,00)

Net deferred tax assets $ — 3 =

The reasons for the difference between actual ircax benefit for the years ended December31, 28672006 and the amount
computed by applying the statutory federal incomerate to losses before income tax benefit afellasvs:

2007 2006
% of % of
pretax pretax
Amount loss Amount loss
Federal income tax benefit at statuto ) )
rate $ (4,102,001 (34.(%% (3,296,001 (34.%
)
State income taxes, net of federal ta; (820,000 (6.8% (659,000 (6.9%
)
Research and development credits (366,000 (3.C% (200,000 (1.79%
Other 1,00(¢ 0.C% (166,001 (2.1)%
Change in valuation
allowance 5,287,00 43.£% 4,321,001 44 €%
— —% — —%
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A valuation allowance is provided when it is makely than not that some portion or all of the dedd tax assets will not be
realized. The net change in the total valuatioovedince for the years ended December 31, 2007 &0&l\28s an increase of
$5,287,000 and $4,321,000, respectively. The taefittassumed using the federal statutory taxa&841% has been reduced to an
actual benefit of zero due principally to the afoemtioned valuation allowance.

At December 31, 2007, the Company had unused fiegledsstate net operating loss carryforwards of@amately $56,963,000 ar
$46,261,000, respectively. The net operating lass/forwards expire in various amounts through 2fi2federal and state income
tax purposes. The Tax Reform Act of 1986 contanesipions which limit the ability to utilize net epating loss carryforwards in tl
case of certain events including significant changeownership interests. Accordingly, a substapibation of the Company’s net
operating loss carryforwards above will be subje@annual limitations (currently approximately $1@@0) in reducing any future
year's taxable income. At December 31, 2007, the Compistyhad research and development credit carrgiasvof approximate
$1,769,000 for federal income tax purposes whigiirexn various amounts through 2027.

The Company files income tax returns in the U.Sldral, State and Local jurisdictions. With certakteptions, the Company is no
longer subject to U.S. federal and state incomeskaninations by tax authorities for years prioe®@@4. The Company adopted the
provisions of FIN 48, “Accounting for Uncertainty iIncome Taxes - an interpretation of FASB Statdrm&m 109” on January 1,
2007 with no material impact to the consolidatedficial statements. The Company had no unrecogtaxduenefits during 2007
that would affect the annual effective tax rate andinrecognized tax benefits as of January 1, 20@/MDecember 31, 2007. Furtt
the Company is unaware of any positions for which reasonably possible that the total amountmoécognized tax benefits will
significantly increase or decrease within the riexlve months.

(10) License and Consulting Agreements

IGI Agreement for PTH (1-34)

On April 1, 2005, as part of the acquisition of @am Therapeutics, Inc., the Company acquired aiGutde Agreement with IGI, Ir
(the “IGI Agreement”) dated April 14, 2004. UndbetIGl Agreement the Company received the exclusieeld-wide, royalty
bearing sublicense to develop and commercializdidhased technology (see Note 1). Under the terhtise IGI Agreement, the
Company is responsible for the cost of the precdihand clinical development of the project, indghgdresearch and development,
manufacturing, laboratory and clinical testing amals and marketing of licensed products for which company will be
responsible.

In consideration for the Company'’s rights underltBeAgreement, a payment of $300,000 was made @pecution of the
agreement, prior to the Company’s acquisition apaa. In addition the IGI Agreement requires thenpany to make certain
milestone payments as follows: $300,000 payable tipe commencement of a Phase 2 clinical trial 030 upon the
commencement of a Phase 3 clinical trial; $1,50D@fon the acceptance of an NDA application byRbé,; $2,400,000 upon the
approval of an NDA by the FDA; $500,000 upon thenatencement of a Phase 3 clinical trial for an iatlan other than psoriasis;
$1,500,000 upon the acceptance of and NDA appdicdtir an indication other than psoriasis by theAFBnd $2,400,000 upon the
approval of an NDA for an indication other than asis by the FDA.
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During 2007, we achieved the milestone of the comzement of Phase 2 clinical trial. As a result $800 became payable to IGI.
This $300,000 is included in research and developmepense for the year ended December 31, 20Qédtd was made to IGl in
February 2008. At December 31, 2007 this $300,2040lity is reflected in accounts payable.

In addition, the Company is obligated to pay I®k.lan annual royalty of 6% annual net sales omanmet sales up to
$200,000,000. In any calendar year in which netssekceed $200,000,000, the Company is obligatpeytdGl, Inc. an annual
royalty of 9% annual net sales. Through DecembefBQ7, the Company has not paid any such royalties

IGI, Inc. may terminate the agreement (i) upon &gsdnotice if the Company fails to make any reedimilestone or royalty
payments, or (ii) if the Company becomes bankrujit @ petition in bankruptcy is filed, or if theothpany is placed in the hands ¢
receiver or trustee for the benefit of credito@l, linc. may terminate the agreement upon 60 dayisten notice and an opportunity
to cure in the event the Company commits a matbredch or default. Eighteen months from the datbeolGI Agreement, the
Company may terminate the agreement in whole tw asy portion of the PTH patent rights upon 90sdaptice to IGl, Inc.

Hedrin License Agreement

On June 26, 2007, the Company entered into an sixellicense agreement for “Hedrin” (the “Hedrircénse Agreement”) with
Thornton & Ross Ltd. (“T&R”) and Kerris, S.A. (“Kas”). Pursuant to the Hedrin License Agreemerd, @ompany has acquired an
exclusive North American license to certain patégtits and other intellectual property relatingtedrin(TM), a non-insecticide
product candidate for the treatment of head liseddition, on June 26, 2007, the Company entetteda supply agreement with
T&R pursuant to which T&R will be the Company’s &give supplier of Hedrin product the “Hedrin Supplgreement”.

In consideration for the license, the Company id40€r &R and Kerris (jointly, the “Licensord combined total of 150,000 share
its common stock valued at $120,000. In additibe, Gompany also made a cash payment of $600,00@ tdcensor. These
amounts are included in research and developm@ense. Further, the Company agreed to make futilestone payments to the
Licensor in the aggregate amount of $2,500,000 diperachievement of various clinical, regulatoryd @atent issuance milestones,
as well as up to $2,500,000 in a one-time sucaEsbdsed on aggregate sales of the product byaitmp&hy and its licensees of at
least $50,000,000. The Company also agreed toqeaties of 8% (or, under certain circumstances) dfenet sales of licensed
products. The Company’s exclusivity under the Hedlicense Agreement is subject to an annual minimoyalty payment of
$1,000,000 (or, under certain circumstances, $80),i each of the third through seventh yearofaihg the first commercial sale
of Hedrin. The Company may sublicense its rightdaurthe Hedrin Agreement with the consent of Lioersnd the proceeds
resulting from such sublicenses will be shared WithLicensor.

Pursuant to the supply agreement, the Companydrasdthat it and its sublicensees will purchasé tlespective requirements of
the Hedrin product from T&R at agreed upon pri¢érsder certain circumstances where T&R is unabkufply Hedrin products in
accordance with the terms and conditions of thepusgreement, the Company may obtain products faonalternative supplier
subject to certain conditions. The term of the Syupreement ends upon termination of the Hedrimegnent.
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In February 2008 the Company assigned and traesfés rights in Hedrin to joint venture, see nb2e Subsequent Events, Joint
Venture with Nordic.

Altoderm License Agreement

On April 3, 2007, the Company entered into a lieeagreement for “Altoderm” (the “Altoderm Agreemgntith T&R. Pursuant to
the Altoderm Agreement, the Company acquired atusike North American license to certain patenht$gand other intellectual
property relating to Altoderm, a topical skin latiproduct candidate using sodium cromoglicateHertteatment of atopic dermati
In accordance with the terms of the Altoderm Agreamthe Company issued 125,000 shares of its canstoek, valued at
$112,500, and made a cash payment of $475,000 B U#bn the execution of the agreement. These ambave been included in
research and development expense. Further, the &onggreed to make future milestone payments to €&Rprised of various
combinations of cash and common stock in respeetiggegate amounts of $5,675,000 and 875,000 sbhcesnmon stock upon
the achievement of various clinical and regulatoilestones. The Company also agreed to pay rogatienet sales of products
using the licensed patent rights at rates rangiomg fL0% to 20%, depending on the level of annubbakes, and subject to an annual
minimum royalty payment of $1 million in each ydaltowing the first commercial sale of Altoderm. & Company may sublicense
the patent rights. The Company agreed to pay T&R 80the royalties received by the Company undeh swblicense agreements.

Altolyn License Agreement

On April 3, 2007, the Company and T&R also enténtd a license agreement for “Altolyn” (the “AltalyAgreement”). Pursuant to
the Altolyn Agreement, the Company acquired anwesice North American license to certain patenttsgind other intellectual
property relating to Altolyn, an oral formulationgaluct candidate using sodium cromoglicate fortthatment of mastocytosis, food
allergies, and inflammatory bowel disorder. In ademce with the terms of the Altolyn Agreement, @@mpany made a cash
payment of $475,000 to T&R upon the execution efagreement. This amount is included in researdidamelopment expense.
Further, the Company agreed to make future casbstoite payments to T&R in an aggregate amount,67$5000 upon the
achievement of various clinical and regulatory stiwes. The Company also agreed to pay royaltiegebsales of products using
the licensed patent rights at rates ranging frof 10 20%, depending on the level of annual netssaled subject to an annual
minimum royalty payment of $1 million in each ydallowing the first commercial sale of Altolyn. Ti&mpany may sublicense
patent rights. The Company agreed to pay T&R 30%h@foyalties received by the Company under sublicense agreements.

OED License Agreement for Oleoyl-estrone

On February 15, 2002, the Company entered intecarise Agreement (the "License Agreement") with O8Bder the terms of the
License Agreement, OED granted to the Company édwueide license to make, use, lease and sell thdymts incorporating the
licensed technology (see Note 1). OED also gratttédde Company the right to sublicense to thirdiparthe licensed technology or
aspects of the licensed technology with the priotteén consent of OED. OED retains an irrevocabtmexclusive, royalty-free right
to use the licensed technology solely for its iméérnoncommercial use. The License Agreement sratlinate automatically upon
the date of the last to expire patent containgtiénicensed technology or upon the Company's hgatgy. OED may terminate the
License Agreement in the event of a material brénctihe Company that is not cured within the nopieeiod. The Company may
terminate the License Agreement for any reason @@otays notice. The Company terminated this ageaém November 2007.
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In addition to the License Agreement, the Compantgred into a consulting agreement with OED. Theagent became effective
in February 2002, at a fee of $6,250 per month,tanmdinated when the License Agreement termindikd.fees associated with the
consulting agreement are expensed as incurred.

Under the License Agreement, the Company agrepdytdo OED certain licensing fees which are beixgeased as they are
incurred. The Company paid $175,000 in up frorgriging fees which is included in 2002 researchdawelopment expense. In
addition, pursuant to the License Agreement, then@amny issued 1,000,000 shares of its common swCkED. The Company
valued these shares at their then estimated fhievaf $1,000.

In connection with the License Agreement, the Camydeas agreed to milestone payments to OED asafsilo

(i) $250,000 upon the treatment of the first patiara Phase | clinical trial under a Company-spoed investigational new drug
application ("IND"), which was paid in 2005; (ii$0,000 upon the treatment of the first patierst Phase |l clinical trial under a
Company-sponsored IND, which was paid in 2006, $#50,000 upon the first successful completioa @ompanysponsored Pha
Il clinical trial under a Company-sponsored INDy)$2,000,000 upon the first successful completiba Companysponsored Pha:
1l clinical trial under a Company sponsored INDda(v) $6,000,000 upon the first final approvatheé first new drug application fi
the first licensed product by the United Statesd=aod Drug Administration (“FDA"). Through Decemlt&k, 2007, the Company
paid a total of $675,000 in licensing fees and stilee payments. The Company has no further finhlai@lity or commitment to
OED under the License Agreement.

NovaDel Agreement for Propofol Lingual Spray

In April 2003, the Company entered into a license development agreement with NovaDel, under wtiiehCompany received
certain worldwide, exclusive rights to develop aothmercialize products related to NovaDel’'s pragarnelingual spray technology
for delivering propofol for pre-procedural sedatibmder the terms of this agreement, the Comparseaigto use its commercially
reasonable efforts to develop and commercializdi¢kased products, to obtain necessary regulatppyovals and to thereafter
exploit the licensed products. The agreement aigaiges that NovaDel will undertake to performtta Company’s expense, a
substantial portion of the development activitias|uding, without limitation, preparation and fij of various applications with
applicable regulatory authorities.

In consideration for the Company’s rights underNuwaDel license agreement, the Company paid NovaDaitial license fee of
$500,000 in 2003. In addition, the license agreg¢megquires the Company to make certain milestoryengats as follows:
$1,000,000 payable following the date that the fitBA for lingual spray propofol is accepted foviav by the FDA; $1,000,000
following the date that the first European Markgtifpplication is accepted for review by any Eurapé&mion country; $2,000,000
following the date when the first filed NDA for tjual spray propofol is approved by the FDA; $2,000,following the date when
the first filed European Marketing Application flimgual spray propofol is accepted for review; DMO0 following the date on
which an application for commercial approval ofjliral spray propofol is approved by the approprietgilatory authority in each of
Australia, Canada, Japan and South Africa; andd8®0following the date on which an application dommercial approval for
lingual spray propofol is approved in any othermtoy (other than the U.S., a member of the Européision, Australia, Canada,
Japan or South Africa).
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In addition, the Company is obligated to pay to Bdel an annual royalty based on a fixed rate osakts of licensed products, or if
greater, the annual royalty is based on the Conipamgy profits from the sale of licensed produdta eate that is twice the net sales
rate. In the event the Company sublicenses thedax product to a third party, the Company is altéig to pay royalties based on a
fixed rate of fees or royalties received from thblEensee until such time as the Company recatemit-of-pocket costs, and
thereafter the royalty rate doubles. Because oftimtinuing development efforts required of NovaDetler the agreement, the
royalty rates are substantially higher than custyrfar the industry. Through December 31, 2007,@loenpany has incurred, and
paid a total of $500,000 under the NovaDel licespeeement, the initial license fee paid in 2003 Tompany terminated this
agreement during 2007 and has no continuing oldigatunder this agreement.

(11) Commitments and Contingencies

Swiss Pharma

Swiss Pharma Contract LTD (“Swiss Pharma”), a clihsite that the Company used in one of its opséls, gave notice to the
Company that Swiss Pharma believes it is entiter@teive an additional payment of $322,776 fovises in connection with that
clinical trial. While the contract between the Canp and Swiss Pharma provides for additional paysiécertain conditions are
met, Swiss Parma has not specified which conditibeg believe have been achieved and the Compaggy/ rilat believe that Swiss
Pharma is entitled to additional payments and loasccrued any of these costs as of December 8%, Zhe contract between the
Company and Swiss Pharma provides for arbitratiché event of a dispute, such as this claim faadditional payment. Swiss
Pharma has filed a demand for arbitration. As tbm@any does not believe that Swiss Pharma is emtitl additional payments, it
intends to defend its position in arbitration. &rbitration is currently in its initial stages.

Therapeutics, Inc.

During 2007, we entered into an agreement with dpeutics, Inc. for the conduct of a Phase 2a d@irtital of PTH (1-34). The
amount of the agreement is approximately $845,80@ecember 31, 2007, we recognized research avelaf@ment expense of
$483,000 related to the conduct of this clinicalltrAt December 31, 2007, we recognized prepajzkease of $19,000 related to this
clinical trial. The remaining financial commitmenaiated to the conduct of the clinical trial is egppmately $340,000. This clinical
trial is expected to conclude in the second quaft@008.

Contentions of a Former Employee

In February 2007, a former employee of the Comaisged an ownership interest in two of the Com{mpyovisional patent
applications. Also, without articulating precisgaé claims, the former employee contends that th@@any wrongfully characteriz
the former employee’s separation from employmera eesignation instead of a dismissal in an effottarm the former employee’s
immigration sponsorship efforts, and, further, t@mgfully deprive the former employee of the formenployee’s alleged rights in
two of the Company’s provisional patent applicasionhe former employee is seeking an unspecifiesuatn damages. The
Company refutes the former employee’s contentionsiatends to vigorously defend itself should thexfer employee file claims
against the Company. There have been no furthexlolgments with respect to these contentions.
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Employment Agreement

The Company has employment agreements with twoaraps for the payment of aggregate annual basey dl$530,000 as well
as performance based bonuses. These agreementhiee/gear terms and have a remaining obligatic&864,000 as of December
31, 2007.

Leases
The Company leases office space under a non-cahtelbase terminating in September 2008. Rentresgpeas $141,012 for each
of the years ended December 31, 2007 and 2006.

Future minimum rental payments subsequent to Deee3th 2007 under an operating lease for the Coxipaiffice facility are as

follows:
Years Ending December 31, Commitment
2008 $ 100,00
2009 and subsequent $ 0

12. Subsequent events

Joint Venture with Nordic

In February 2008, the Company and Nordic Bioteckigars ApS through its investment fund Nordic Badte/enture Fund 1l K/S
(“Nordic”) entered into a 50/50 joint venture agresnt (the “Hedrin JV”) to develop and commerciakize Company's North
American rights (under license) to its Hedrin preidu

Pursuant to the Hedrin JV Agreement, Nordic forragtew Danish limited partnership (the "Hedrin J&fid provided it with initial
funding of $2.5 million. The Company assigned anati¢fered its North American rights in Hedrin te tdedrin JV in return for a
$2.0 million cash payment and equity in the Hedihrepresenting 50% of the nominal equity inter@sthe Hedrin JV .

Should the Hedrin JV be successful in achievingyapent milestone, namely that by September 30, ,20@8-DA determines to
treat Hedrin as a medical device, Nordic will pursé an additional $2.5 million of equity in the HadV, whereupon the Hedrin .
will pay the Company an additional $1.5 milliondash and issue to the Company an additional $dllBmin equity in the Hedrin
JV, thereby maintaining the Company’s 50% ownersftigrest in the Hedrin JV.

The Hedrin JV will be responsible for the developitr@nd commercialization of Hedrin for the North &rican market and all
associated costs including clinical trials, if reeqd, regulatory costs, patent costs, and fututestine payments owed to T&R, the

licensor of Hedrin.

The Hedrin JV will engage the Company to providenagement services to the Limited Partnership ithamge for an annualized
management fee, which for 2008, on an annualizebia $527,000.
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Nordic paid to the Company a non-refundable fe$l&0,000 at the closing for the right to receiweaarant covering 7.1 million
shares of the Company’s common stock, exercisabl$d.14 per share. The warrant is issuable 90 ftags closing, provided
Nordic has not exercised all or a part of its pstdescribed below. The per share exercise pritteeafarrant was based on the
volume weighted average price of the Company’s comstock for the period prior to the signing of thedrin JV Agreement.

Nordic has an option to put all or a portion ofétguity interest in the Hedrin JV to the Compangxichange for the Company’s
common stock. The shares of the Compamgmmon stock to be issued upon exercise of theililbe calculated by multiplying t
percentage of Nordic’s equity in the Hedrin JV attNordic decides to put to the Company multipligdhe dollar amount of
Nordic’s investment in Limited Partnership divided by #0.ds adjusted from time to time. The put optioexsrcisable immediate
and expires at the earlier of ten years or wherdd&r distributions from the Limited Hedrin JV exazkfive times the amount Nordic
invested in the Hedrin JV.

The Company has an option to call all or a pordbiordic’s equity interest in the Hedrin JV in &eange for the Company’s
common stock. The Company cannot begin to exeitsigall until the price of the Company’s commoaocst has closed at or above
$1.40 per share for 30 consecutive trading daysinDuhe first 30 consecutive trading day perioavimich the Company’s common
stock closes at or above $1.40 per share the Congaamexercise up to 25% of its call option. Durihg second 30 consecutive
trading day period in which the Company’s commartktcloses at or above $1.40 per share the Comgamgxercise up to 50% of
its call option on a cumulative basis. During thigd 30 consecutive trading day period in which @@npanys common stock clos
at or above $1.40 per share the Company can egaipito 75% of its call option on a cumulative baBiuring the fourth 30
consecutive trading day period in which the Compangmmon stock closes at or above $1.40 per shar€ompany can exercise
up to 100% of its call option on a cumulative ba$ise shares of the Company’s common stock todeed upon exercise of the call
will be calculated by multiplying the percentageNwrdic’s equity in the Limited Partnership tha¢ tGompany calls, as described
above, multiplied by the dollar amount of Nordigisestment in the Hedrin JV divided by $0.14. Nordan refuse the Company’s
call by either paying the Company up to $1.5 mill@r forfeiting all or a portion of their put, calated on a pro rata basis for the
percentage of the Nordic equity interest calledigyCompany.

The Hedrin JV 's Board will consist of 4 membersppointed by the Company and 2 appointed by NoNtiedic has the right to
appoint one of the directors as chairman of ther@®oBhe chairman has certain tie breaking powerthé event that the payment
milestone described above is not achieved by Jan2@®8, then the Hedrin JV 's Board will increas® members, 2 appointed by
the Company and 3 appointed by Nordic.

After the closing, at Nordic's request, the Compailynominate a person identified by Nordic toweon the Company’s Board of
Directors.
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The Company will grant Nordic registration rights the shares to be issued upon exercise of themtathe put or the call. The
Company is required to file an initial registratistatement within 10 calendar days of filing itgiAdL0-K for the year ended
December 31, 2007. The Company is required tcafilditional registration statements, if requiredhwi 45 days of the date the
Company first knows that such additional registratatement was required. The Company is reqtirede commercially
reasonable efforts to cause the registration setein be declared effective by the Securitiesixcthange Commission (“SEC”)
within 105 calendar days from the filing date.HétCompany fails to file a registration statementime or if a registration stateme

is not declared effective by the SEC within 1059a§filing the Company will be required to payNordic, or its assigns, an amo

in cash, as partial liquidated damages, equal3%(er month of the amount invested in the Hedvity) Nordic until the

registration statement is declared effective bySE€. In no event shall the aggregate amount payabthe Company exceed 9% of
the amount invested in the Hedrin JV by Nordic.

The profits of the Hedrin JV will be shared by tbempany and Nordic in accordance with their respe&quity interests in Limite
Partnership, which are currently 50% to each, exitegt Nordic will get a minimum guaranteed rettnom the Hedrin JV equal to
5% on Hedrin sales, as adjusted for any changeidibls equity interest in the Limited Partnership. & tHedrin JV realizes a pro
equal to or greater than a 10% royalty on Hedriassahen profits will be shared by the Company odlic in accordance with
their respective equity interests in the LimitedtRership. However, in the event of a liquidatidrthe Limited Partnership, Nordic’s
distribution in liquidation will be at least equalthe amount Nordic invested in the Hedrin JV f#i8ion if the payment milestone
described above is met, $2.5 million if it is naétnplus 10% per year, less the cumulative distidims received by Nordic from the
Hedrin JV. Further, in no event shall Nordic’s diatition in liquidation be greater than assets latdé for distribution in liquidation.

American Stock Exchange

In September 2007, we received notice from thd sfahMEX, indicating that we were not in complianvith certain continued
listing standards set forth in the American Stogklange Company guide. Specifically, the Americats Exchange notice cited
our failure to comply, as of June 30, 2007, witbtiem 1003(a)(ii) of the AMEX Company Guide as wadHess than $4,000,000 of
stockholders’ equity and had losses from continaipgrations and /or net losses in three or fowunfmost recent fiscal years and
with section 1003(a)(iii) which requires us to ntain $6,000,000 of stockholders’ equity if we haxgerienced losses from
continuing operations and /or net losses in ite fivost recent fiscal years.

In order to maintain our AMEX listing, we were rexgpd to submit a plan to AMEX advising the exchaoféhe actions we have
taken, or will take, that would bring us into comapice with all the continued listing standards hpriAl6, 2008. We submitted such
a plan in October 2007. If we are not in complianith the continued listing standards at the enthefplan period, or if we do not
make progress consistent with the plan during greod, AMEX staff may initiate delisting proceedmg

Under the terms of the Joint Venture Agreementntimaber of potentially issuable shares represdnyetie put and call features of
the Hedrin agreement, and the warrant issuableotdibl would exceed 19.9% of our total outstandihgres and would be issued at
a price below the greater of book or market valigea result, under AMEX regulations, we would netdble to complete the
transaction without first receiving either stocldel approval for the transaction, or a formal “finel viability” exception from
AMEX'’s stockholder approval requirement. We estienidiiat obtaining stockholder approval to complyhnAMMEX regulations

would take a minimum of 45 days to complete. Weehdigcussed the financial viability exception wlEX for several weeks ar
have neither received the exception nor been deh&dxception. We determined that our financialdition required us to comple
the transaction immediately, and that the Compafiyéncial viability depends on its completion béttransaction without further
delay.
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Accordingly, to maintain the Company’s financiability, on February 28, 2008 we announced thahac formally notified the
AMEX that we intend to voluntarily delist our commetock from AMEX. The delisting became effectiveMarch 26, 2008.

Our common stock now trades on the Over the ColBudetin Board (“OCTBB”) under the symbol “MHAN'We intend to
maintain corporate governance, disclosure and tieggrrocedures consistent with applicable law.
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Exhibit10.1:
SEPARATION AND RELEASE AGREEMENT

THIS SEPARATION AND RELEASE AGREEMENT (this “ Agregent”) is entered into by and among ALAN G. HARRIS, M
Ph.D. (* Harris”), with an address at 190 East ™Street, Apt. 26B, New York, NY 10021 and MANHATTARHARMACEUTICALS,
INC. (the “ Employer’), with its principal executive offices located &0 Seventh Avenue, @ floor, New York, New York 10019, ai
together with its parents, divisions, affiliatesydasubsidiaries and their respective officers, ades, employees, shareholders, mem
partners, plan administrators, attorneys, and ageastwell as any predecessors, future successassigns or estates of any of the foreg
(collectively referred to herein as the * Compéhy

1. Separation of EmploymenHarris acknowledges and agrees that Halaist' day employment with Employer shall be Decenide
2007 (the “ Separation Dat® and that Harris has received all compensatiod benefits to which Harris is entitled as a resdilHarris’
employment with Employer, except as otherwise mtediin this Agreement. Harris understands thategixas otherwise provided in t
Agreement, Harris is entitled to nothing furthesrfr Company, including reinstatement by Employer.

2. Harris Release of Companyn consideration of the release set forth in ®actt and the payments, compensation, and
benefits set forth below in Section 5, Harris hgreddeases, waives, discharges and gives up anglafithims (as defined below) that Ha
may have against Company, arising on or prior toikfeexecution and delivery of this Agreement tmoyer. “ Claims’ means any and :
actions, charges, controversies, demands, causastion, suits, rights, and/or claims whatsoeverdebts, sums of money, wages, sa
severance pay, commissions, bonuses, incentive esagion, unvested stock options, restricted st@ekrds, vacation pay, sick pay, expe
reimbursement, fees and costs, attorneys feesgdpgenalties, damages, including damages for gaihsuffering and emotional ha
arising, directly or indirectly, out of any promjsagreement (including, without limitation, his Eloyment Agreement dated January
2006, hereafter the “ Employment Agreem8ntcontract, understanding, common law, tort, the |astestutes, and/or regulations of the St
of New York, Delaware, or any other state and tmitédl States, including, but not limited to, fedexad state wage and hour laws, fec
and state whistleblower laws, Title VII of the QiRRights Act of 1964, the Civil Rights Act of 199the Equal Pay Act, the Americans v
Disabilities Act, the Family and Medical Leave Atlie Employment Retirement Income Security Act [gding COBRA), the Vietnam E
Veterans Readjustment Assistance Act, the FairiCR&porting Act, the Fair Labor Standards Act, fkge Discrimination in Employme
Act, OSHA, the Sarbanedxley Act of 2002, the Delaware Discrimination irmfloyment Act, the Delaware Handicapped Pet
Employment Protection Act, the New York State HunRaghts Laws, and the New York City Human Rightsvsaas each may be amen
from time to time, whether arising directly or irgtitly from any act or omission, whether intentlomaunintentional. This releases all Cla
including those of which Harris is not aware anosehnot mentioned in this Agreement. Harris speadiff releases any and all Claims aris
out of his employment with Employer, and/or theaagion thereof or therefrom. Harris expressly didsf and waives his right to any st
options that have not vested as of the Separataia, @xcept as otherwise provided in this Agreeroarthe attache8chedule A Nothing ir
this Agreement shall preclude Harris from: (A) papating in any manner in an investigation, hegrim proceeding conducted by the Et
Employment Opportunity Commission, but Harris hgrefaives any and all rights to recover under, owvlitue of, any such investigatic
hearing or proceeding; (B) exercising Harris’ righf any, under Section 608 of the Employee Retirement Income Security &ct974
as amended, popularly known as COBRA,; or (C) egérgiHarris’ rights under this Agreement.




3. Representations; Covenartarris hereby represents and warrants to Compaaty (#h) Harris has not filed, caused or permitta
be filed any pending proceeding (nor has Harrigigatla complaint with any governmental or qugsiernmental authority) against Comps
nor has Harris agreed to do any of the foregoiByHarris has not assigned, transferred, sold, mbewed, pledged, hypothecated, mortge
distributed, or otherwise disposed of or conveyedany third party any right or Claim against Compadhat has been released in
Agreement; (C) Harris has not directly or indirgctissisted any third party in filing, causing osiasng to be filed, any Claim agai
Company, and (D) Harris is unaware of any poter@laims that any third party may have against Camgpahich Harris has not previou:
disclosed to Company. In addition, Harris shall @etourage or solicit or voluntarily assist or w@pate in any way in the filing, reporting
prosecution by itself or any third party of a predimg or Claim against Company based upon or nglab any Claim released by Harris
this Agreement.

4. Employer Release of Harris; Indemnification

€)) As good consideration to Harrd&nployer hereby forever releases, waives and digesaHarris from any and all actio
claims or demands in general, special or punitamalges, attorneyfees and costs, expenses or other compensatio whany way relal
to or arise out of Harrissmployment with Employer or separation therefrontha circumstances related thereto or by reasangfothe
matter, cause or thing whatsoever from the datdasfis’'s employment through the date of this Agreementhiiimployer may now ha
under federal, state or local law, regulation, limance. Notwithstanding the foregoing, nothingelre shall be deemed to release Harris
any of Harriss acts or omissions involving or arising from fraardcriminal conduct by Harris while employed by Boyer, provided that,
of the date of this Agreement, EmployeiChief Executive Officer or Chief Financial Offices not aware of such conduct. As of
Separation Date, Employer represents that it isvan@ of any norcompliance by Harris with respect to his Employm&gteement or th
Agreement.

(b) Employer acknowledges and agrees that Harris beadintitied to the maximum coverage permissiblesuiitd director
& officers insurance and any other insurance padiegilable to Employer or which may be applicaldéHtarris. To the extent permitted
applicable law and its certificate of incorporatiand bylaws, Employer also agrees to indemnify and holdrisldarmless for all actions
omissions he engaged in the course of his employmi#h Employer to the extent such actions or oiniss were in good faith and 1
outside the scope of his employment or duty to Exygal.

5. Consideration As additional consideration to Harris for his exton, delivery and non-revocation of this Agreene
(A) Employer shall provide Harris with continuation lois base salary through February 29, 2008, in decae witl

Employer’s regular payroll practices, commencinglameighth day after the next regularly schedplegbiate following Harrisexecution an
delivery of this Agreement to Employer;




(B) Employer shall accelerate Harrigsting of certain stock options and extend thease period for such options to
exercised under Employer’s 2003 Stock Option Pdarset forth on the attach8dhedule Aand

© employer shall waive its right to enforce the caunagainst competition provision contained in Bect(a) of th
Employment Agreement.

Harris acknowledges, understands, and agrees #raisks not otherwise entitled to receive the payments lzenefits set forth above in t
Section 5, and further acknowledges, understamibagrees that nothing in this Agreement shalldmnted to be an admission of liability
the part of Company. Harris agrees that Harris matl seek any further payments, benefits, or atbasideration or relief from Company.

6. Expense Reimbursementarris shall be entitled to reimbursement by Eoypt of reasonable expenses incurred durin
employment with Employer provided such expensessatamitted within a reasonable amount of time feoiig the Separation Date ¢
consistent with Employer’s customary policies anacfices with respect to such expense reimbursement

7. CooperationHarris agrees to reasonably make himself availéiteugh February 29, 2008 to respond to inquiri@snf the
Company regarding any outstanding transitionalesstiarris further agrees, upon Compamgquest, to reasonably cooperate at any til
any Company investigations, inquiries, and/or &itign regarding events that occurred during Hatdsure with Employer. Employer w
compensate Harris for reasonable expenses thaisHacurs in extending such cooperation to Companylong as Harris provides adva
written notice of Harris’ request for compensation.

8. NonDisparagement; ConfidentialityHarris agrees not to make any defamatory or deovg statements concerning Compan
its products. Employer agrees to instruct its auriefficers and directors not to make any defanyatorderogatory statements concert
Harris. Harris confirms and agrees that HarrisIshal, directly or indirectly, disclose to any pensor entity or use for Harrigswn benefit
any confidential information concerning the busmdgances or operations of Company or its cliemtsustomers, provided, however,
Harris’ obligations under this Section 8 shall apply to information generally known in Compasiyndustry through no fault of Harris or
disclosure of which is required by law. Confidehtidgormation shall include trade secrets, custotists, details of contracts, pricing polici
operational materials, marketing plans or straggecurity and safety plans and strategies, ptatlwelopment, and any other npublic ol
confidential information of, or relating to, ComparHarris also agrees that the amounts paid toiglamd all of the other terms of t
Agreement shall be kept confidential. If Harbieeaches any term or condition of this Agreemearghall constitute a material breach of
Agreement and Company reserves all rights to itl@vie at law or in equity.

9. Surrender of Company Propertiiarrisagrees that he will surrender to Employer, no I#tan the Separation Date, all prop
belonging to, or purchased with the funds of, Conypand any equipment (including computers and gltines), employee or secu
identification or access codes, pass codes, kegdjtaards, swipe cards, client data bases, cangilés, Company proposals, compi
access codes, documents, memoranda, records |diteess, specification or other papers (includatigcopies and other tangible forms of
foregoing) acquired by Harris by reason of his emplent with Employer and in Harripossession or under his custody or control reléat
the operations, business or affairs of Companyrislagrees that Harris will not retain any copgplicates, reproductions, computer di
or excerpts thereof of Company documents.




10. Who is Bound Employer and Harris are bound by this Agreemanone who succeeds to Harrigghts and responsibilitie
such as the executors and heirs of Harris’ estateound and anyone who succeeds to Employights and responsibilities, such as t
respective successors and assigns, is also bound.

11. Construction of Agreementn the event that one or more of the provisioostained in this Agreement shall for any reasc
held unenforceable in any respect under the laangfstate of the United States, such unenforcéakitiall not affect any other provision
this hereof or thereofind such invalid, illegal, or unenforceable prasisshall be reformed and construed so that it bglivalid, legal, ar
enforceable to the maximum extent permitted by [alnis Agreement and any and all matters arisingctliyeor indirectly herefrom shall |
governed under the laws of the State of New Yorikhaut reference to choice of law rulddARRIS AND EMPLOYER EXPRESSLY
WAIVE THEIR RESPECTIVE RIGHTS TO A TRIAL BY JURY WI TH RESPECT TO ANY MATTERS RELATED TO THIS

AGREEMENT, HARRIS’ EMPLOYMENT WITH EMPLOYER GENERALLY, OR ANY OTHER DI SPUTE THAT MAY ARISE
BETWEEN THEM.

\

12. Entire Agreement; SurvivaHarris and Employer acknowledge and agree thtlit tie exception of sections 5, 6(lg)(7, 10(a
and 10(c)-(I) of the Employment Agreement (whick attached hereto &hedule B and which continue to remain in full force andeet
and survive Harrisseparation of employment with Employer even after $eparation Date), the Employment Agreement &gahull an
void. Except as otherwise provided in sections (B)-6g), 7, 10(a), and 10(c)}(of the Employment Agreement, this Agreement k
constitute the entire agreement among the partigsrespect to the matters covered hereby and sbplrsede all previous written, ora
implied understandings among them with respectith snatters related to Harris’ employment with Eoyplr.

13. Opportunity For Review

(A) Harris acknowledges that Harris has read and futiglerstands this Agreement and represents that tprisigning thi
Agreement Harris has been advised to, and hasrhagmortunity to, consult Harrigounsel with respect to this Agreement and Haixisgit
freely and voluntarily. Harris understands thatri¢anas been given twentne (21) days to review this Agreement before sigit and the
if Harris fails to execute this Agreement and retiito Employer within twentyne days of the date provided to him, Employerldtale n
obligation to enter into this Agreement. The partiederstand that they are each responsible fordva attorney’s fees.

(B) This Agreement shall be effective and enfalie on the eighth (8 ) day after execution and delivery to Employe
Harris. The parties understand and agree that $1aray revoke this Agreement after having executetl delivered it to Employer by
advising Employer in writing no later than 11:59np.on the seventh () day after Harris'execution and delivery of this Agreemen
Employer. If Harris revokes this Agreement, it st be effective or enforceable, and Harris shall receive the payments or the o
benefits of this Agreement.




Agreed to and accepted by, on thisstday of December, 2007

HARRIS:

s/Alan Harris
Alan Harris

Agreed to and accepted by, on thisstday of December, 2007
EMPLOYER:

MANHATTAN PHARMACEUTICALS, INC.

BY: s/Michael McGuinness

Name: Michael McGuinness
Title: Chief Financial Officer




SCHEDULE A

As partial consideration for Harris’ execution, idety, and norrevocation of the Agreement, and as set forth iradgraph 5(b) of tr
Agreement, Employer agrees to (i) accelerate tlsing on two issuances of stock options pursuafinployers 2003 Stock Option PI
pursuant to the schedule below; and (ii) extendettercise period on options that already have desten ninety (90) days to two (2) ye:
with such exercise period to commence on Decembe2@®)7.

ISSUE DATE SHARES EXERCISE VESTING COMMENT
PRICE DATE

2/01/06 100,000 $1.35 2/01/07 vested
2/01/06 100,000 $1.35 2/01/08 accelerated
2/01/06 100,000 $1.35 2/01/09 accelerated
4/25/07 100,000 $0.95 4/25/08 accelerated
4/25/07 100,000 $0.95 4/25/09 forfeited
4/25/07 100,000 $0.95 4/25/10 forfeited




SCHEDULE B

5. Confidential Information and Inventions

(@) The Employee recognizes and acknowledges thaeircdirse of his duties he is likely to receive awaritial ol
proprietary information owned by the Company, fffliates or third parties with whom the Companyany such affiliates has an obligat
of confidentiality. Accordingly, during and aftdra Term, the Employee agrees to keep confidemiinat disclose or make accessible to
other person or use for any other purpose otherithaonnection with the fulfillment of his dutiesder this Agreement, any Confidential
Proprietary Information (as defined below) owned biyreceived by or on behalf of, the Company or ahits affiliates. ‘Confidential an
Proprietary Informationshall include, but shall not be limited to, confidial or proprietary scientific or technical infoation, data, formulz
and related concepts, business plans (both cuarehtunder development), client lists, promotion amatketing programs, trade secrets
any other confidential or proprietary business iinfation relating to development programs, costeemaes, marketing, investments, s
activities, promotions, credit and financial dategnufacturing processes, financing methods, platiseobusiness and affairs of the Comg
or of any affiliate or client of the Company. Thenployee expressly acknowledges the trade seciteisstd the Confidential and Propriet
Information and that the Confidential and Propmgtmformation constitutes a protectable businessréest of the Company. The Emplo
agrees: (i) not to use any such Confidential arapfetary Information for himself or others; ang (ot to take any Company materia
reproductions (including but not limited to writiigcorrespondence, notes, drafts, records, invaieeknical and business policies, comg
programs or disks) thereof from the Compangffices at any time during his employment by @mmpany, except as required in the execi
of the Employees duties to the Company. The Employee agrees tonr@hmediately all Company material and reprodardi(including bt
not limited, to writings, correspondence, notesftsr records, invoices, technical and businesisips] computer programs or disks) theret
his possession to the Company upon request anmtyievent immediately upon termination of employment

(b) Except with prior written authorization by the Coamy, the Employee agrees not to disclose or publisho
the Confidential and Proprietary Information, oy awnfidential, scientific, technical or businesformation of any other party to whom
Company or any of its affiliates owes an obligatidrtonfidence, at any time during or after his é&gment with the Company.

(©) Notwithstanding the foregoing, Confidential and ietary Information shall not include any infornaet ot
material which the Employee can establish throumhpetent proof: (i) is or becomes generally avédlab the public other than as a resu
disclosure thereof by the Employee; (ii) is lawjuteceived by the Employee on a noonfidential basis from a third party that is nisel
under an obligation of confidentiality or non-disslire to the Company with respect to such informnatiiii) was in the Employee’
possession at the time of disclosure by the Compaalywas not acquired, directly or indirectly frohe Company; or (iv) is required to
publicly disclosed by law or by regulation; provijdhowever, that in such event Employee shall pl@the Company with prompt adva
notice of such disclosure so that the Company @ pportunity if it so desires to seek a protectvder or other similar protection. If, in
absence of a protective or other similar order,Ehgployee is legally compelled to disclose Configdrand Proprietary Information, st
Confidential and Proprietary Information (and omlych Confidential and Proprietary Information) mag disclosed in such proceec
without liability hereunder; provided, however, thlhe Employee shall give the Company written ret¢ the Confidential and Propriet
Information to be disclosed as far in advanceoflisclosure as is practical and, upon the Compamgjuest and expense, the Employee
use all reasonable efforts to obtain assurancestmdidential treatment will be accorded to suanfidential and Proprietary Information
such proceeding.




(d) The Employee agrees that all inventions, discoserimprovements and patentable or copyrightableks
(“Inventions”) initiated, conceived or made by him, either alonencconjunction with others, during the Term shadlthe sole property of t
Company to the maximum extent permitted by applectdw and, to the extent permitted by law, shall'tworks made for hireés that term
defined in the United States Copyright Act (17 C.2.., Section 101). The Company shall be the swlees of all patents, copyrights, tre
secret rights, and other intellectual property thieorights in connection therewith. The Employeeehy assigns to the Company all right,
and interest he may have or acquire in all suckentiens; provided, however, that the Board maytsnsole discretion agree to waive
Company’s rights pursuant to this Section 5(d) wétspect to any Invention that is not directlyradtifectly related to the Compamybusines:
The Company acknowledges that as of the Effectiae[Dthe Employee has undertaken certain activities to the Effective Date and tl
pursuant thereto has developed the Inventions aedfpaged in such specific activities set forthAmmex A hereto, and that pursuant to
foregoing sentence, the Board has waived the Compaights with respect to such Inventions and/oivdigts as they are in existence on
Effective Date. Notwithstanding the foregoing, rinthin this Section 5(d) shall be construed to fjmmestrict or modify in any we
Executives obligations under this Agreement, including withtmitation Section 3(a) and Section 6 hereofe Bmployee further agrees
assist the Company in every proper way (but atbmpanys expense) to obtain and from time to time enfq@aents, copyrights or ott
rights on such Inventions in any and all countrég] to that end the Employee will execute all doents necessary:

(i) to apply for, obtain and vest in the name of tbompany alone (unless the Company otherwisetd)réstter:
patent, copyrights or other analogous protectioann country throughout the world and when so olgtdior vested to renew and restore
same; and

(i) to defend any opposition proceedings in respésuch applications and any opposition procegsiior petition
or applications for revocation of such letters pateopyright or other analogous protection.

(e) The Employee acknowledges that while performingSbevices under this Agreement the Employee magtéd
identify and/or evaluate patented or patentableentions having commercial potential in the fields gharmacy, pharmaceutic
biotechnology, healthcare, technology and othdddievhich may be of potential interest to the Comypar one of its affiliates (theThird
Party Inventions”). The Employee understands, aaketges and agrees that all rights to, interestsrinpportunities regarding, all Third-
Party Inventions identified by the Company, anytefffiliates or either of the foregoing personfficers, directors, employees (including
Employee), agents or consultants during the Terail bl and remain the sole and exclusive propdrtiie@Company or such affiliate and
Employee shall have no rights whatsoever to sudhdI®Party Inventions and will. not pursue for himselffor others any transaction relat
to the ThirdParty Inventions which is not on behalf of the Camy provided, however, that the Company acknowdedand agrees tl
Employee may, with the Compasyprior written consent, discuss the developmenargf Third Party Inventions that the Employee
located, identified and/or evaluated, and which tempany has decided not to pursue, solely withafaunt Biosciences, LL
(“Paramount”). Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Company acknogés and agrees that Employee shall be permittedistuss th
development of any Third Party Inventions that Braployee has located, identified and/or evaluaded, which each of the Company .
Paramount has decided not to pursue in accordaitbehe foregoing, provided that such discussiaescansented to in advance by eac
the Company and Paramount and that such discusdmm®t conflict with or interfere in any way witExecutives obligations under tt
Agreement, including without limitation Section Béand Section 6 hereof.
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()] Employee agrees that he will promptly disclosehim €ompany, or any persons designated by the Compl
improvements and Inventions made or conceivedduaed to practice or learned by him, either alaneiatly with others, during the Term.

(9) The provisions of this Section 5 shall suevany termination of this Agreement.
6. NonCompetition, NorSolicitation and NofDisparagement
(@) [THE COVENANT AGAINST COMPETITION PREVIOUSLY CONTAI NED IN THIS PARAGRAPH 6

(@) IS STRICKEN AS PER SECTION 5(C) OF THE PARTIES’ SEPARATION AND GENERAL RELEASE AGREEMENT DATED
December 21, 2007.]

(b) During the Term and for a period of 18 months théez, the Employee shall not, directly or inditgctvithout
the prior written consent of the Company:

(i) solicit or induce any employee of the Companyny of its affiliates to leave the employ of Bempany or ar
such affiliate; or hire for any purpose any empyd the Company or any affiliate or any employdevhas left the employment of -
Company or any affiliate within one year of themération of such employeg’employment with the Company or any such affi
[ Remainder of sentence deleted;]or

(i) solicit or accept employment or be retainedamy Person who, at any time during the term «f &greemen
was an agent, client or customer of the Comparangrof its affiliates where his position will bdated to the business of the Company or
such affiliate; or

(iii) solicit or accept the business of any agetient or customer of the Company or any of itdliates with respei
to products, services or investments similar taéhprovided or supplied by the Company or anysoéffiliates.

(c) The Company and the Employee each agree that hwihgdthe Term and at all times thereafter, neibesty

shall directly or indirectly disparage, whethermat true, the name or reputation of the other partgny of its affiliates, including but r
limited to, any officer, director, employee or sdaolder of the Company or any of its affiliates.
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(d) In the event that the Employee breaches any pamgsof Section 5 or this Section 6 or there israatene
breach, then, in addition to any other rights whtoh Company may have, the Company shall (i) bilesht without the posting of a bond
other security, to injunctive relief to enforce thestrictions contained in such Sections and @yehthe right to require the Employe¢
account for and pay over to the Company all comgigms, profits, monies, accruals, increments amgobenefits (collectively “Benefity”
derived or received by the Employee as a resudtngftransaction constituting a breach of any ofpghavisions of Sections 5 or 6 and
Employee hereby agrees to account for and paysuar Benefits to the Company. The Employee agtessrt an action pursuant to clause 6
(d)(i), that if the Company makes a prima facievging that the Employee has violated or apparemtigrids to violate any of the provision:
this Section 6, the Company need not prove eitharagje or irreparable injury in order to obtain ngtive relief.

(e Each of the rights and remedies enumerated in @eéiid) shall be independent of the others and Sleair
addition to and not in lieu of any other rights aethedies available to the Company at law or intgqlf any of the covenants containec
this Section 6, or any part of any of them, is bfiex construed or adjudicated to be invalid ornioeeable, the same shall not affect
remainder of the covenant or covenants or righteimedies which shall be given full effect withoegard to the invalid portions. If any of
covenants contained in this Section 6 is held tanbalid or unenforceable because of the duratibsuzh provision or the area cove
thereby, the parties agree that the court makinh sietermination shall have the power to reducedtivation and/or area of such provis
and in its reduced form such provision shall therebforceable. No such holding of invalidity or ofeceability in one jurisdiction shall k
or in any way affect the Compamytight to the relief provided in this Section 6atherwise in the courts of any other state orsjligtior
within the geographical scope of such covenant$oalreaches of such covenants in such other régpestates or jurisdictions, st
covenants being, for this purpose, severable iivierse and independent covenants.

® In the event that an actual proceeding is brougleuity to enforce the provisions of Section %his Section ¢
the Employee shall not urge as a defense that thene adequate remedy at law nor shall the Companyrevented from seeking any o
remedies which may be available. The Employee agtes he shall not raise in any proceeding brotmbnforce the provisions of Sectio
or this Section 6 that the covenants containedidh Sections limit his ability to earn a living.

(9) The provisions of this Section 6 shall suevany termination of this Agreement.

7. Representations and Warranties by the Employee

The Employee hereby represents and warrants tGdhgany as follows:

(i) Neither the execution or delivery of this Agneent nor the performance by the Employee of higedwtind othe
obligations hereunder violate or will violate anptate, law, determination or award, or conflicthwor constitute a default or breach of
covenant or obligation under (whether immediatelyon the giving of notice or lapse of time or bo#my prior employment agreeme
contract, or other instrument to which the Emploigea party or by which he is bound.
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(i) The Employee has the full right, power anddkegapacity to enter and deliver this Agreement tangerform hi
duties and other obligations hereunder. This Agesgroonstitutes the legal, valid and binding olilmaof the Employee enforceable aga
him in accordance with its terms. No approvalsansents of any persons or entities are requirethBEmployee to execute and deliver
Agreement or perform his duties and other obligetibereunder.

10. Miscellaneous

@) This Agreement shall be governed by, and constamellinterpreted in accordance with, the laws ofStae o
New York, without giving effect to its principles conflicts of laws.

(b) [THE ARBITRATION PROVISION PREVIOUSLY CONTAINED IN THIS PARAGRAPH 10(B) IS
STRICKEN HEREIN.]

(c) This Agreement shall be binding upon and inureht lienefit of the parties hereto, and their respedteirs
legal representatives, successors and permittégghass

(d) This Agreement, and the Executiwveights and obligations hereunder, may not beyassli by the Executive. T
rights and obligations of the Company under thige®gent shall inure to the benefit of and shallbbing upon the successors
permitted assigns of the Company, including anygassors or permitted assigns in connection withsai, transfer or other disposition of
or substantially all of its business or assets.

(e) This Agreement cannot be amended orally, or by @myrse of conduct or dealing, but only by a wri
agreement signed by the parties hereto.

® The failure of either party to insist upon thedtperformance of any of the terms, conditions pravisions o
this Agreement shall not be construed as a waiveglmquishment of future compliance therewithgd auch terms, conditions and provisi
shall remain in full force and effect. No waiverafy term or condition of this Agreement on thet périther party shall be effective for ¢
purpose whatsoever unless such waiver is in wrimg) signed by such party.

(9) All notices, requests, consents and other commtiaitg required or permitted to be given hereunslea)l be il
writing and shall be delivered personally or by arernight courier service or sent by registerecertified mail, postage prepaid, ret
receipt requested, to the parties at the addresteforth on the first page of this Agreement, ahdll be deemed given when so delivi
personally or by overnight courier, or, if maildie days after the date of deposit in the Unitadt€s mails. Either party may desigt
another address, for receipt of notices hereunglgiving notice to the other party in accordancthwiiis Section 10(g).
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(h) This Agreement sets forth the entire agreementuartibrstanding of the parties relating to the subjeatte
hereof, and supersedes all prior agreements, @maegfs and understandings, written or oral, rejatm the subject matter hereof.
representation, promise or inducement has been mmadéher party that is not embodied in this Agneat, and neither party shall be bo
by or liable for any alleged representation, pr@sinducement not so set forth.

0] As used in this Agreement, “affiliatedf a specified Person shall mean and include amgoRecontrolling
controlled by or under common control with the sfied Person.

)] The section headings contained herein are foreaéer purposes only and shall not in any way affecmeanin
or interpretation of this Agreement.

(k) This Agreement may be executed in any number ofitesparts, each of which shall constitute an oglihut al
of which together shall constitute one and the sasteument.

o As used in this Agreement, the masculine, femiminaeuter gender, and the singular or plural, dbaltleeme
to include the others whenever and wherever theegbeo requires. Additionally, unless the contexjuires otherwise, “or” is not exclusive.
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Exhibit 10.1¢
JOINT VENTURE AGREEMENT

THIS JOINT VENTURE AGREEMENT (this “ Agreemeri} is entered into as of January 31, 2068 and between Manhati
Pharmaceuticals, Inc., a Delaware corporation (“AMH and Nordic Biotech Venture Fund Il K/S, a Danighited liability partnership (*
Nordic").

WITNESSETH:

WHEREAS, MHA and Nordic wish to enter into a joirgnture arrangement by which Nordic contributestebfo a newly forme
limited partnership known as Hedrin Pharmaceuti¢ds or such other name as is selected by MHA anddid (“* Newco”), and MHA
assigns and contributes the Assets (as definedvb&toNewco;

WHEREAS, upon the consummation of the transactmorgemplated by the Contribution Agreement (asnaefibelow), and tt
execution and delivery by each of MHA and Nordicte Partnership Agreement, MHA will own 50% of fheatnership shares of Newco !
Nordic will own 50% of the partnership shares ofaAlde (as such interest may be constituted from tion@Eme, including as reduced purst
to the terms hereof, the “ Nordic Interést

WHEREAS, MHA desires to grant to Nordic a put optiwith respect to the Nordic Interest, and Nordésites to grant to MHA
call option with respect to the Nordic Interestcledn accordance with the terms and conditionsisf Agreement, which shall be effective
of the Closing Date (as defined below); and

WHEREAS, in consideration of the execution andwgl of this Agreement and the consummation ofttaesactions contemplat
hereby, MHA will (i) grant a warrant to purchase #Warrant Shares (as defined below) to Nordic @hddminate a Nordic representative
MHA's board of directors.

NOW, THEREFORE, for good and valuable consideratiba receipt and sufficiency of which is herebkramwledged, the parti
hereto hereby agree as follows:

1. Definitions . The following terms shall have the following meagsgrgiven to them:

“ Additional Agreement$ means the Contribution Agreement, the Partnersigip@dment, the Services Agreement, the Warrar
Registration Rights Agreement and any officer'difieate delivered at the Closing.

“ Adjusted Transaction Pricemeans the Transaction Price as adjusted in aaocelwith Section 5 hereof.

“ Assets” means that term as defined in the Contributiome®gnent.




“ Business Day’ means any day except Saturday, Sunday and anyhdaysta federal legal holiday or a day on whichkiag
institutions in the state of New York are authodize required by law or other governmental actimulbse.

Call Closing” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 4.this Agreement.

“ Call Closing Date’ shall have the meaning set forth in Section 4.this Agreement.

“ Call Consideratiorf means a number of shares of Common Stock detedrimaccordance with the following formula:

(Investment Amount)*(2 Call Reduction Factor)
(Adjusted Transaction Price)

“ Call Event” means the occurrence of thirty consecutive busidags on which the closing sale price of the Comr8tock a
reported on the Trading Market exceeds seven dnadf imes the Transaction Price (the “ Threshaidé™).

“ Call Notice” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 4.this Agreement.

Call Option” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 4.this Agreement.

“ Call Reduction Factof shall have the meaning set forth in Section 4.8his Agreement.

“ Common StocK' means the common stock of MHA, par value $0.001spare, and any other class of securities into lvhicci
securities may hereafter be reclassified or chainged

“ Common Stock Equivalentsmeans any securities of MHA which would entitle tiidder thereof to acquire at any time Comi
Stock, including, without limitation, any debt, feered stock, rights, options, warrants or othetriiment that is at any time convertible
or exercisable or exchangeable for, or otherwis#lenthe holder thereof to receive, Common Stock.

“ Contribution Agreement meansthat certain Assignment and Contribution Agreemerite entered into by and between MHA
Nordic in the form attached heretoExhibit A .

“ Conversion Factof means (i) 1.00 at such time as Nordic Distributiars less than the Investment Amount, (ii) 1.25uath tim:
as Nordic Distributions are less than two timesltheestment Amount but greater than or equal toltivestment Amount, (iii) 1.50 at st
time as Nordic Distributions are less than threget the Investment Amount but greater than or egusiio times the Investment Amot
(iv) 2.00 at such time as Nordic Distributions &ses than four times the Investment Amount but tgrethan or equal to three times
Investment Amount, and (v) 3.00 at such time agiiddDistributions are greater than or equal to fimes the Investment Amount.




“ Conversion Percentagemeans the percentage of the Nordic Interest thatillchooses to put pursuant to the Put Optiorics#t
in Section 3.1.

“ Conversion Shargsmeans the shares of Common Stock issuable uponisx@af the Warrants, the Put Option and the CptiaD.

“ Disclosure Schedulesmeans the Disclosure Schedules of MHA deliveradctirrently herewith.

“ Exempt Issuancé means the issuance of (a) shares of Common Stodptans to employees, officers or directors of V
pursuant to any stock or option plan in effect lo& date hereof or hereafter duly adopted for suchgse by a majority of the namploye!
members of the Board of Directors of MHA or a m#joof the members of a committee of nemployee directors, (b) securities upon
exercise or exchange of or conversion of any seéesiiissued hereunder and/or other securities sadrle or exchangeable for or convert
into shares of Common Stock issued and outstarmlinthe date hereof, provided that such securitie® mot been amended since the
hereof to increase the number of such securitiet® atecrease the exercise, exchange or conversioa @f such securities, () securi
issued pursuant to acquisitions or strategic tretis®s approved by a majority of the disinteresd@dctors of MHA, but shall not include
transaction in which MHA is issuing securities painty for the purpose of raising capital or to amity whose primary business is investin
securities, and (d) less than 50,000 shares of Gonmtock (subject to adjustment for stock splitsgls combinations, and the like), in
aggregate, which do not otherwise meet the comditaf clauses (a), (b) or (c) of this definition.

“ General Partneél means a Danish private limited company that esgbneral partner of Newco.

“ Investment Amount means $2,500,000 if the Milestone Payment has cmiroed, and $5,000,000 if the Milestone Paymes
occurred.

“ Maximum Return Daté means the later to occur of (i) the date thatii$ytldays after the date that Nordic Distributianseed fivi
times the Investment Amount, and (ii) the date thaen days after the Nordic Distributions excéigd times the Investment Amount &
MHA has provided written notice thereof to Nordic.

“ Milestone Payment means the payment by Nordic of an additional $2@00 to Newco after the satisfaction of the Payi
Milestone (as defined in the Contribution Agreement

“ Nordic Distributions” means aggregate dividends or distributions froewiso actually received by Nordic.

“ Partnership Agreemeritmeans the Limited Partnership Agreement to be edterto by Nordic, MHA and the General Partne
the form attached hereto as Exhibit B




“ Person” means any individual, corporation, general or kdipartnership, limited liability company, jointntere, estate, tru:
association, organization, labor union, or otheitgor governmental body.

“ Proceeding” means any action, claim, suit, investigation orcpesling (including, without limitation, an investtgpn or partie
proceeding, such as a deposition), whether comndenrcéhreatened.

“ Put Consideratiori means a number of shares of Common Stock detedrimaccordance with the following formula:

(Investment Amount)*(Conversion Percentage)
(Adjusted Transaction Price)*(Conversion Factor)

“ Put Closing” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 3.this Agreement.

“ Put Closing Daté shall have the meaning set forth in Section 3.this Agreement.
“ Put Naotice” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 3.this Agreement.

“ Put Option” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 3.this Agreement.

“ Registration Rights Agreemefitmeans that certain Registration Rights Agreemeiet@ntered into by and between MHA
Nordic in the form attached heretoExhibit C.

“ Representativé means with respect to a particular Person, anytireofficer, employee, agent, consultant, advisorothe
representative of such Person, including legal seljmccountants, and financial advisors.

“ Securities’ means, collectively, the Warrant and the Put Qpti
“ Securities Act’ means the Securities Act of 1933, as amended.

“ Trading Day” means any day on which the principal national sgéearexchange on which the Common Stock is additt
trading or listed is open for trading, or if théseno such exchange or market, then any day eX@aptrdays, Sundays or federal holidays.

“ Trading Market” means whichever of the New York Stock Exchange Aimerican Stock Exchange, the Nasdaq Global Mz
the Nasdaq Global Select Market, the Nasdaq Cdgdiaket or the OTC Bulletin Board on which the Coom5tock is listed or quoted on

date in question.

“ Transaction Pricé means $0.14, as adjusted for stock dividends hioations, stock splits, recapitalizations and gaoizations .

“ Warrant Share means 7,142,857 shares of Common Stock.




2. Joint Venture Closing.

2.1 Closing Mechanics The closing shall be held on February 18, 2008suzh earlier date as MHA and Nordic ag
following the satisfaction or waiver of the closingnditions set forth in Section 2.3 hereof (th€lésing Dat€’). The Closing shall occur
the offices of MHA.

2.2 Deliveries
€)) Upon satisfaction or waiver of all conditiosfsNordic to the Closing, Nordic shall:
0] execute and deliver the Partnership Agreement apitatize Newco in accordance with the te
thereof;
(i) execute and deliver the Shareholders Agragratiached hereto as Exhibitddd capitalize the Gene

Partner in accordance with the terms thereof;
(iii) cause Newco to execute, deliver and performder the Contribution Agreement;

(iv) cause Newco to execute and deliver the $esviAgreement, in the form attached heret&xdsbit E
(the “ Services Agreemetfit;

(v) execute and deliver the Registration Righgge®ment; and

(vi) pay US$150,000 to MHA in consideration of the rigbtthe issuance of the Warrant in the f
attached hereto as Exhibiffér the Warrant Shares (the “Warrant”) pursuaréation 3.3.

(b) Upon satisfaction or waiver of all conditioolsSMHA to the Closing, MHA shall:
0] execute and deliver the Partnership Agreement apitatize Newco in accordance with the te
thereof;
(i) execute and deliver the Shareholders Agregrattached hereto as Exhibitafid capitalize the Gene

Partner in accordance with the terms thereof;
(iii) execute, deliver and perform under the Citmition Agreement;
(iv) execute and deliver the Services Agreemamd;
(v) execute and deliver the Registration Righgse®ment .

2.2 Closing Conditions

€)) MHA'’s obligations in connection with the Closing hememare subject to the fulfillment on or prior twe
Closing of the following conditions, which conditi® may be waived at the option of MHA to the exfggrmitted by law:




0] Representations and Warranties Corréldte representations and warranties made by Nordsectior
7 hereof shall be true and correct when made, antilsh#&rue and correct in all material respect@f qualified by materiality) ar
all respects (if qualified by materiality)on and as of the Closing Date (except for any sapr&ation or warranty that speaks as
specific date, which shall be true and correctfasioh date).

(i) Covenants All covenants, agreements and conditions conthineghis Agreement to be performed
Nordic on or prior to the Closing Date shall haeei performed or complied with in all material resg.

(iii) Closing Certificate. MHA shall have received a certificate executedahyofficer of Nordic certifyin
that each of the conditions described in SectioR&ZX(i) and (ii) of this Agreement have been $igtisas of the Closing Date.

(iv) No Legal Order Pending There shall not then be in effect any legal dreotorder enjoining ¢
restraining the transactions contemplated by tlgeedment.

(b) Nordic’s obligations in connection with the Closing hemamare subject to the fulfillment on or prior twe
Closing of the following conditions, which conditi® may be waived at the option of each Nordic ¢oetktent permitted by law:

() Representations and Warranties Corrétte representations and warranties made by MH2eition |
hereof shall be true and correct when made, antilsh&rue and correct in all material respectsi@t qualified by materiality) and .
respects (if qualified by materiality) on and astloé Closing Date (except for any representationvarranty that speaks as ¢
specific date, which shall be true and correctfasioh date).

(i) Covenants All covenants, agreements and conditions conthinghis Agreement to be performed
MHA on or prior to the Closing Date shall have beenformed or complied with in all material respsect

(iii) Closing Certificate. Nordic shall have received a certificate executgdhe chief executive officer
chief financial officer of MHA certifying that eacbf the conditions described in Sections 2.2(kg¢y (ii) of this Agreement ha
been satisfied as of the Closing Date.

(iv) No Legal Order Pending There shall not then be in effect any legal dreotorder enjoining t
restraining the transactions contemplated by tlgeedment.

(v) Legal Opinion. Nordic shall have received an opinion of counteelMHA in a form reasonab
acceptable to Nordic that contains the opiniongcs¢th in Exhibit G.

(vi) Consent of Third PartiesMHA shall have received all requisite consentd approvals of all thir
parties whose consent or approval is required dierofor each of MHA and Nordic to consummate tlamsactions contemplated
this Agreement.




(vii) Approval of MHA's Board of Directors and StockholderdViHA’s Board of Directors, and
necessary, MHA'’s stockholders, shall have apprdledransactions contemplated by this Agreement.

(viii) Due Diligence. The results of Nordis' financial, technical and legal due diligence ofiA] the
Securities and the Assets shall be satisfactoNotalic in its commercially reasonable discretion.

(ix) Material Adverse Effect There shall be no Material Adverse Effect, andcsithe date of tr
Agreement, there shall have been no Material AavEfffect.

(x) Registration Rights Any outstanding registration rights relating tdH® securities shall have be
subordinated to the rights of Nordic under the Biegiion Rights Agreement.

(xi) Shareholder Notice MHA shall have satisfied all of the requiremeafsSection 710(b) of the Am:
Company Guide of the American Stock Exchange, filiagble, including the submission of the writtgaphcation to the Exchange’
Listing Qualifications Department, the notice to Md shareholders and the public announcement ofrthresaction.

3. Put Option .
3.1 At any time or times after the Closing Datel prior to the earlier of the Maximum Return Dael the tenth annivers:

of the Closing Date, Nordic may, by written nottoeMHA (the “ Put Notic€"), elect to sell to MHA (and MHA hereby agrees to as
from Nordic) all or a part of the Nordic Intereag specified in the Put Notice, for the Put Consitien (the “_Put Optiofi).

3.2 The closing of the Put Option (the “ Put @igs’) shall take place simultaneously with the receiptMifA of the Pu
Notice together with certificates evidencing thetjpm of the Nordic Interest being put, togethethnassignments, duly executed in blanl
proper form to transfer such portion of the Norbfiterest. MHAwill, no later than three Trading Days followingetPut Closing, deliver
cause to be delivered to Nordic a certificate repnting the Put Consideratioo Nordic. If such shares do not require a legenacitordanc
with this Agreement, the ertificates representing the Put Consideration|dhaltransmitted by the transfer agent of MHA tordNo by
crediting the account of Nordic’s prime broker wiltle Depository Trust Company System.

3.3 In the event that Nordic achieves its Put Optiotestone by not exercising its Put Option, in whotein part, on ¢
before April 30, 2008, MHA shall within five (5) Biness Days thereafter issue and deliver the Watoaxordic.




4. Call Option .

4.1 Upon the occurrence of a Call Event and prior tofifth anniversary of the Closing Date, MHA may, Written notice ti
Nordic (the" Call Notice”), elect to purchase from Nordic (and Nordic herebreag to sell to MHA) portions of the Nordic Interésr the
Call Consideration at the following rate (the “ Baption™):

€)) during the first thirty-day period followirthe occurrence of a Call EvenMHA may purchase up to 25% of
Nordic Interest

(b) during the second thiriyay period following the occurrence of a Call EveiHA may purchase up to 50%
the Nordic Interest less that portion of the Noddierest previously purchased by MHA pursuantéoti®n 4.1(a);

(c) during the third thirtyday period following the occurrence of a Call EyéiiHA may purchase up to 75% of
Nordic Interest less that portion of the Nordicehaist previously purchased by MHA pursuant to $actil(a) or (b); an

(d) during the fourth thirtglay period following the occurrence of a Call Eve¥iHA may purchase up to 100%
the Nordic Interest less that portion of the Noddierest previously purchased by MHA pursuanteot®n 4.1(a), (b) or (c).

4.2 Notwithstanding anything to the contrary eaméd herein, in order to exercise the Call Optibe, closing sale price
the Common Stock as reported on the Trading Markett exceed the Threshold Price on each consecu#idng day from the date
occurrence of the Call Event until the date ofwdsly of the Call Notice.

4.3 Notwithstanding Section 4.1, Nordic may etecteduce by a percentage specified by Nordic ‘(tBall Reduction Fact
") the amount of the Nordic Interest that may be daflersuant to the Call Option, by delivering to MH#&ithin fifteen days after receipt
the Call Notice, a written notice indicating thelld@eduction Factor and agreeing to one of theofeihg: (i) that the amount of the Nor
Interest that may be put by Nordic shall be redunethe same factor (i.e., the Call Reduction Ragctw (i) that Nordic shall pay an amot
within fifteen days of the date of such noticeMBIA equal to $2,000,000 times the Call Reductiootba

4.4 The closing of the Call Option (the “ CalloSing ") shall take place at the offices of MHA at 10:00 a(faster
Standard Time) on the date that is thirty (30) dagm the date of the delivery of the Call Notioe such earlier date as MHA and Nordic 1
agree (the “ Call Closing Datg At the Call Closing, Nordic will deliver to MHA angertificates evidencing the portion of the Nortiiteres
being called, together with assignments, duly etagtin blank, in proper form to transfer such portof the Nordic Interest, and MHA st
provide certificates representing the Call Congitlen to Nordic.




5. Adjustments to Transaction Price.

5.1 | f MHA, at any time while either of the Put Optiontbe Call Option remains outstanding, shall selji@nt any optiot
warrant or right to purchase, or sell or grant agit to reprice its securities, or otherwise dspof or issue (or announce any offer,
grant or any option to purchase or other dispasjtamy Common Stock or Common Stock Equivalentglieigt any Person to acquire she
of Common Stock, at an effective price per shase than the Transaction Price (such lower priee; thase Share Priceand such issuanc
collectively, a “ Dilutive Issuanc® (if the holder of the Common Stock or Common StogkiEalents so issued shall at any time, wheth:
operation of purchase price adjustments, resetigioms, floating conversion, exercise or exchangeep or otherwise, or due to warra
options or rights per share which are issued imeotion with such issuance, be entitled to recehares of Common Stock at an effec
price per share which is less than the Transa@tiige, such issuance shall be deemed to have edciar less than the Transaction Prict
such date of the Dilutive Issuance), then the Taatisn Price shall be reduced and only reducedjt@lethe Base Share Price. If share
Common Stock or Common Stock Equivalents are isswedold together with other stock or securitiesotiter assets of MHA for
consideration which covers both, the effective @per share shall be computed with regard to thiéopoof the consideration so received
may be reasonably determined in good faith by tbar8 of Directors, to be allocable to such CommtotiSor Common Stock Equivaler
Such adjustment shall be made whenever such ConSitamk or Common Stock Equivalents are issued. Nbstanding the foregoing,
adjustments shall be made, paid or issued hereimdespect of an Exempt Issuance.

5.2 MHA shall notify Nordic in writing, no later thamé day following the issuance of any Common Stack@mmon Stoc
Equivalents subject to this Section, indicatingréiire the applicable issuance price, or applicabget price, exchange price, conversion |
and other pricing terms (such notice the “ Dilutigsuance Notic&). For purposes of clarification, whether or not MHFoyides a Dilutiv:
Issuance Notice pursuant to this Section, upordoerrence of any Dilutive Issuance, after the ddtguch Dilutive Issuance the Transac
Price shall equal the Base Share Price regardiesshether Nordic accurately refers to the Base &Hanice in the Put Notice or Mk
accurately refers to the Base Share Price in thieNo©éce.

6. Board Representation.

6.1 For so long as Nordic continues to have benefivahership of at least ten percent (10%) of thetaating Commo
Stock of MHA (including shares of Common Stock &sie upon exercise of the Put Option, the Call @ptind/or the Warrant), MHA sh
provide Nordic written notice of any shareholdelic@tion or action relating to the election ofr&ttors thirty (30) days prior to providi
notice of any shareholder meeting or any writtensemt to MHAS stockholders. After receipt of such notice, Nontliay, by written notic
sent to MHA within ten (10) days of receipt of suuttice, request that MHA nominate, and MHA shaliminate, for election to MHA'
Board of Directors (the “ Board of Directdis in connection with such shareholder solicitatioraction, one candidate designated by Nc
(the “ Nordic Designe8). In the event that Nordic shall desire to appoilardic Designee otherwise than in connection wighareholde
solicitation or action relating to the electiondifectors, then as soon as practicable upon wriitegice from Nordic, MHA shall appoint
Nordic Designee to the Board of Directors. If MH@asonably determines in good faith that any Nofbsignee fails to meet any of
criteria for service on the board of directors as ferth by applicable state law, the rules andukatipns of the Securities and Excha
Commission or any exchange on which the securitfddHA are then listed, then MHA shall provide vigih notice of such determinat
(and the reasons therefor) to Nordic and provideddcahe opportunity to either designate an altéveacandidate or relesignate the origin
candidate if Nordic reasonably determines in gt fthat MHA'’s reasons are invalid.




6.2 For purposes of this Agreement, all shares heldrbwffiliate (as defined in Rule 405 promulgatedemthe Securiti¢
Act) of Nordic will be deemed to be owned by Nordic

6.3 MHA shall use its best efforts (a) to causeéd voted the shares for which MHAManagement or the Board of Direc
holds proxies or is otherwise entitled to voteamdr of the election of the Nordic Designee nonmedgbursuant to this Agreement; and (t
cause the Board of Directors to recommend to isedtolders that they vote in favor of the Nordisigaee.

6.4 In the event that any Nordic Designee shall ceasetve as a director of MHA for any reason, thalmf Directors ¢
MHA shall fill the vacancy resulting therefrom witmother Nordic Designee, unless Nordic declinesl@signate a replacement Noi

Designee.

6.5 MHA shall provide the same compensation and right$ benefits of indemnity to the Nordic Designea@sprovided t
other non-employee directors.

6.6 MHA agrees that as of the Closing Date, the sizthefBoard of Directors shall be seven memberdydireg the chie
executive officer and the Nordic Designee (if a NoDesignee shall have been appointed by such.time

7. Representations, Warranties and Covenants of Nordic

Nordic hereby represents, warrants and covenamigand as of the Closing Date, as the case magstie]lows:

7.1 Nordic has all requisite legal power and authotity enter into this Agreement, to consummate thestaetion
contemplated hereby and to carry out and perfasrabtigations under the terms of this Agreement.

7.2 This Agreement has been duly executed and deliieyeldordic and constitutes a legal, valid and biigdobligation o
Nordic enforceable against Nordic in accordancé & terms.subject to laws of general application relatingbémkruptcy, insolvency ai
the relief of debtors and rules of law governingdfic performance, injunctive relief or other eile remedies, and to limitations of pu
policy. N either the execution and delivery of this Agreemmott the consummation of the transactions conteteglhereby nor complian
with any of the provisions hereof will violate oordlict with the provisions of, or constitute a deft under (or give rise to any right
termination, cancellation or acceleration undemy, agreement, contract or other instrument to whiohdic is bound.

7.3 Neither the Securities nor the Conversion Shargs hat been registered under the Securities Acingrstate securiti
laws, and, except as set forth in Registration Rigtgreement, MHA has no present or future obl@ato register either the Securities or
Conversion Shares under the Securities Act or date securities laws. Nordic understands that tifieriog and sale of the Securit
hereunder is intended to be exempt from regismatioder the Securities Act, by virtue of Sectio)4thereof and the provisions
Regulation D promulgated thereunder, or not subiectuch requirement, by virtue of Regulation Snputgated under the Securities £
based, in part, upon the representations, warsaatid agreements of Nordic contained in this Agergm
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7.4 Nordic has had access to all SEC Reports (as delinbow) and has received all other documents fkéitA requeste
by Nordic. Nordic has carefully reviewed the SE@&#s and all such other documents and understhrdaformation contained therein.

7.5 Nordic has had a reasonable opportunity to asktipumssof and receive answers from a person or psraoting on behz
of MHA concerning the offering and sale of the Sé@ms and the business, financial condition, ressaf operations and prospects of Mi
and all such questions have been answered to liteafisfaction of Nordic. Neither such inquiriesrrany other investigation conducted b
on behalf of Nordic or its representatives or calirshall modify, amend or affect Nordécright to rely on the truth, accuracy
completeness of MHA's representations and warramimtained in this Agreement.

7.6 In evaluating the suitability of an investment i, Nordic has not relied upon any representationtbher informatio
(oral or written) other than as stated in this Amgnent.

7.7 No Securities were offered or sold to Nordic by neaf any form of general solicitation or genemdvextising, and i
connection therewith Nordic did not: (A) receivereview any advertisement, article, notice or ot@mmmunication published in a newsp:
or magazine or similar media or broadcast ovewisilen or radio whether closed circuit, or gensrallailable; or (B) attend any semi
meeting or industry investor conference whose dtes were invited by any general solicitation aregal advertising.

7.8 Nordic has taken no action which would giige tto any claim by any person for brokerage corsimiss, findersfees o
the like relating to this Agreement or the trangact contemplated hereby.

7.9 Nordic has such knowledge and experience in firdntax, and business matters, and, in particusgestments i
securities similar to the Securities so as to endlrdic to utilize the information made availaldeit in connection with the transactic
contemplated by this Agreement to evaluate the tmamd risks of an investment in the Securities KA and to make an informu
investment decision with respect thereto.

7.10 Nordic is not relying on MHA or any of its employeefficers or agents with respect to the legal, &xonomic an
related considerations as to an investment in #eu®ies, and Nordic has relied on the adviceoofhas consulted with, only his o
advisors.

7.11 Nordic is acquiring the Securities solely for Nardiown account for investment and not with a viewresale
assignment or distribution thereof, in whole oipert in violation of the Securities Act or any dpable state securities laws. Nordic ha:
agreement or arrangement, formal or informal, waitly person to sell or transfer all or any parthaf Securities in violation of the Securi
Act or any state securities laws and Nordic haglaas to enter into any such agreement or arrangierNerdic will not engage in hedgi
transactions with respect to the Securities urifesempliance with the registration requirementshef Securities Act.
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7.12 Nordic must bear the substantial economic riskshefinvestment in the Securities indefinitely besmamone of tt
Securities may be sold, hypothecated or otherwispoded of unless subsequently registered undeBélearities Act and applicable st
securities laws or an exemption from such registnais available. Subject to the terms hereundsgemds shall be placed on the Securiti
the effect that they have not been registered uthdeBecurities Act or applicable state securli@s and appropriate notations thereof wil
made in MHA'’s stock books.

7.13 Nordic has adequate means of providing for itsentrfinancial needs and foreseeable contingencié$ias no need f
liquidity of the investment in the Securities far imdefinite period of time.

7.14 Nordic meets the requirements of the sditplstandards for an “accredited investdr®cause Nordic is a corporati
partnership, limited liability company, limited bdity partnership, other entity or similar busisesust, not formed for the specific purpos
acquiring the Securities, with total assets exad#s$5,000,000 or (ii) is a “non-US Person” thataisqualified investor’as defined in tt
European Union Prospective Directive. Nordic furthepresents and warrants that it will notify angh@y corrective information to MH
immediately upon the occurrence of any change oicguprior to MHA's issuance of the Securities tretders the representation made ir
immediately preceding sentence. Nordic representdHA that any information which the undersigned lneeretofore furnished under 1
Section 7.14 or furnishes to MHA pursuant to thest®n 7.14 is complete and accurate and may edrapon by MHA in determining tl
availability of an exemption from registration undreederal and state securities laws in connectitim tive offering and sale of the Securities.

7.15 Nordic is able to bear the economic risk of an giweent in the Securities and, at the present time,a sufficient n
worth to sustain a complete loss of such investrimreMHA in the event such a loss should occur. Nosloverall commitment to investme
which are not readily marketable is not excessiveiéw of its net worth and financial circumstaneesl the purchase of the Units will
cause such commitment to become excessive.

8. Representations and Warranties of MHA.

MHA hereby represents and warrants as of the datki® Agreement, and as of the Closing Date, ascéiise may be, as follo\
subject to the disclosure provided in a writtercltisure schedule provided to Nordic as of the dathis Agreement, if any:

8.1 Organization, Good Standing and QualificatiodHA is a corporation duly organized, validly etkig and in goo
standing under the laws of the State of Delawark las full corporate power and authority to condtscbusiness as currently conduc
MHA is duly qualified as a foreign corporation to 8usiness and is in good standing in every jutsth in which the property owned
leased by it or the nature of the business condugjeit makes such qualification necessary, extephe extent that the failure to be
qualified or in good standing would not reasonalsy expected to have, individually or in the aggtega material adverse effect on
business, operations, conditions (financial or otiee), properties, assets, liabilities, or resoit®perations of MHA (& Material Advers
Effect” ). Other than Newco, MHA has no Subsidiaries. Ramppses of this Sectiofi, Subsidiary” means any corporation, partners
limited liability company, association, or othersiness entity in which MHA owns or controls, diftgabr indirectly, any interest, includir
without limitation, any joint venture, partnershig,similar arrangement.
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8.2 Capitalization The authorized capital stock of MHA consists 60000,000 shares of Common Stock and 1,50
shares of preferred stock. As of January 29, 20@8¢e were 70,624,232 shares of Common Stock issugdutstanding, all of which are d
authorized, validly issued, fully paid and nassessable, and no shares of preferred stock rditsga In addition, as of such date, there
8,233,838 shares of Common Stock reserved for ngsupursuant to outstanding options and 8,869,4&ves of Common Stock reserved
issuance pursuant to outstanding warrants. Alhefdecurities issued by MHA have been issued inrdaoce with all applicable federal ¢
state securities laws. Other than as set forth @bthere are no other options, warrants, callfitsigcommitments or agreements of
character to which MHA is a party or by which MH#& bound or obligating MHA to issue, deliver, sefipurchase or redeem, or cause 1
issued, delivered, sold, repurchased or redeenmgcstaares of the capital stock of MHA or obligatiMgiA to grant, extend or enter into ¢
such option, warrant, call, right, commitment oresgnent. There are no preemptive rights or righfgsi refusal or similar rights which
binding on MHA permitting any Person to subscribe dr purchase from MHA shares of its capital stpoksuant to any provision of la
MHA's Certificate of Incorporation as in effect dme date hereof (the “ Certificate of Incorporatipror MHA's By-laws, as in effect on tl
date hereof (the “ Byaws”) or by agreement or otherwise. There are no $éesior instruments containing amlilution or similar provision
that will be triggered by the issuance of the Sitiesras described in this Agreement.

8.3 Authorization; Enforceability MHA has all corporate right, power and authotityenter into this Agreement and
Additional Agreements, to consummate the transast@mmntemplated hereby and to carry out and perftembligations under the terms
this Agreement and the Additional Agreements. Alfporate action on the part of MHA, its directoralastockholders necessary for the
authorization execution, delivery and performantéhis Agreement and the Additional Agreements biAl and (b) authorization, sa
issuance and delivery of the Securities and thev@wsion Shares contemplated hereby and the perfmenaf MHA's obligations hereunc
has been taken (or, with respect to the Additidkgleements, will have been taken prior to the @igki This Agreement has been, and
Additional Agreements will be prior to Closing, glukxecuted and delivered by MHA, and this Agreenmntstitutes, and the Additior
Agreements will constitute prior to Closing, legadlid and binding obligations of MHA, enforcealglgainst MHA in accordance with th
terms, subject to laws of general application negato bankruptcy, insolvency and the relief of geb and rules of law governing spec
performance, injunctive relief or other equitabdenedies, and to limitations of public policy. Thec8rities, when issued and fully paid fo
accordance with the terms of this Agreement, wallMialidly issued, fully paid and nassessable. The Conversion Shares, when iss
accordance with the terms of the Warrant, the Ratto® or the Call Option, as the case may be, béllvalidly issued, full paid and non-
assessable. The issuance and sale of the Secaritethe Conversion Shares contemplated herebyneiilgive rise to any preemptive rig
or rights of first refusal on behalf of any perseich have not been waived.
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8.4 No Conflict; Governmental Consents

€)) Except as would not reasonably be expected to haviaterial Adverse Effect, the execution and dejiviey
MHA of this Agreement and the Additional Agreemeritee consummation of the transactions contemplaézdby and the compliance w
any of the provisions hereof will not result in thielation of any law, statute, rule, regulatiomger, writ, injunction, judgment or decree
any court or governmental authority to or by whiiMA is bound, or of any provision of the Certifieabf Incorporation or By-aws o
MHA, and will not conflict with, or result in a baeh or violation of, any of the terms or provisiafsor constitute (with due notice or la
of time or both) a default under (or give rise twyaight of termination, cancellation or accelesatiunder), any lease, loan agreen
mortgage, security agreement, trust indenture loercagreement or instrument to which MHA is a partyy which it is bound or to whi
any of its properties or assets is subject, nartr@sthe creation or imposition of any lien upamy of the properties or assets of MHA.

(b) Other than the approval of the American Stock Erglea no consent, approval, authorization or otmdero
any governmental authority or other third partyeiquired to be obtained by MHA in connection witle authorization, execution and deliv
of this Agreement or with the authorization, issunel sale of the Securities and the Conversion Steseept such filings as may be requ
to be made with the SEC and with any state or gordilue sky or securities regulatory authority tiaato an exemption from registrati
thereunder.

8.5 Licenses Except as would not reasonably be expected te haMaterial Adverse Effect, MHA has sufficientelitses
permits and other governmental authorizations atireequired for the conduct of its business onevghip of properties and is in all mate
respects complying therewith.

8.6 Litigation. There is no pending, or to MH#&’knowledge, threatened legal or governmental edings against MH
which (a) adversely questions the validity of tAgreement or any agreements related to the transaatontemplated hereby or the righ
MHA to enter into any of such agreements, or toscommate the transactions contemplated hereby ocelther (b) could, if there were
unfavorable decision, have a Material Adverse Effébere is no action, suit, proceeding or invegtan by MHA currently pending in a
court or before any arbitrator or that MHA interidsnitiate.

8.7 Investment CompanyMHA is not an “investment company@ithin the meaning of such term under the Invest
Company Act of 1940, as amended, and the ruleseandations of the SEC thereunder.
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8.8 Financial Statements; SEC Reporthe financial statements of MHA included in thHeGSReports (as amended) (the “
Financial Statementy fairly present in all material respects the finahaondition and position of MHA at the dates and the period
indicated, have been prepared in conformity withegelly accepted accounting principles in the UhiBates (* GAAP) consistently applie
throughout the periods covered thereby, exceptashe otherwise specified in such Financial Stateser the notes thereto and except
unaudited financial statements may not contaifoalinotes required by GAAP, and fairly presentlimaaterial respects the financial posit
of MHA as of and for the dates thereof and theltesaf operations and cash flows for the periogstanded, subject, in the case of unau
statements, to normal, immaterial, yead audit adjustments. Since the date of the negsint balance sheet included as part of the Fial
Statements and except as disclosed in the SEC Refiltere has not been: (i) any change in the basjrconditions (financial or otherwis
properties, assets, liabilities, or results of ajiens of MHA from that reflected in the Financithtements, other than changes in the ord
course of business, none of which individuallymthe aggregate would reasonably be expected ® a&Waterial Adverse Effect; or (ii) a
other event or condition of any character thahegitindividually or cumulatively, would reasonalldg expected to have a Material Adwvt
Effect, except for the expenses incurred in conoectith the transactions contemplated by this A&grent. MHA has filed all repor
schedules, forms, statements and other documemqiged to be filed by it under the Securities Astlahe Exchange Act, including purst
to Section 13(a) or 15(d) thereof, since Februa30D6 (the foregoing materials, including the éitsithereto and documents incorporate
reference therein, being collectively referred ¢pein as the “ SEC Reportson a timely basis or has received a valid extensfaguch timi
of filing and has filed any such SEC Reports ptmrthe expiration of any such extension. As of thespective dates, the SEC Reg
complied in all material respects with the requieens of the Securities Act and the Exchange Actthedrules and regulations of the £
promulgated thereunder, and none of the SEC Repahisn filed, contained any untrue statement ofadenml fact or omitted to state
material fact required to be stated therein or sgaey in order to make the statements thereirharlight of the circumstances under wt
they were made, not misleading.

8.9 Title to Properties and Assets; Liens, EM@HA has good and marketable title to its progrtand assets, including
properties and assets reflected in the most rdmance sheet included in the Financial Statemeant$,good title to its leasehold estate
each case subject to no mortgage, pledge, liesejemncumbrance or charge, other than (a) thositingsfrom taxes which have not
become delinquent; (b) liens and encumbrances wdhichot materially detract from the value of theperty subject thereto or materit
impair the operations of MHA,; (c) those that havieeowise arisen in the ordinary course of businasd; (d) those that would not reason:
be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect. MBl& compliance with all material terms of eachde to which it is a party or is otherw
bound.

8.10 Compliance MHA (@) neither is in default under or in violati of (and no event has occurred that has not aarec
that, with notice or lapse of time or both, wouddult in a default by MHA under), nor has MHA raea notice of a claim that it is in defe
under or that it is in violation of, any indentulean or credit agreement or any other agreemeintstrument to which it is a party or by wh
it or any of its properties is bound (whether ot siach default or violation has been waived), §odt in violation of any order of any col
arbitrator or governmental body, and (c) is not had not been in violation of any statute, ruleegulation of any governmental authot
including without limitation all foreign, federadtate and local laws applicable to its businessegpixin the case of each of (a), (b), and (
could not have a Material Adverse Effect.
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8.11 Obligations to Related PartieThere are no obligations of MHA to officers, diters, stockholders, or employee:
MHA other than (a) for payment of salary or othempensation for services rendered, (b) reimburséfoemeasonable expenses incurre:
behalf of MHA, (c) standard indemnification prowies in the certificate of incorporation and layvs, and (d) for other standard empic
benefits made generally available to all employ@eduding stock option agreements outstanding uadg stock option plan approved by
Board of Directors of MHA). Except as may be diséld in the Financial Statements, MHA is not a guaraor indemnitor of ar
indebtedness of any other person, firm or corpomati

8.12 Employee Relations; Employee Benefit PlaMHA is not a party to any collective bargainingreement or unic
contract. MHA believes that its relations with @siployees are good. No executive officer (as ddfineRule 501(f) of the Securities Act)
MHA has notified MHA that such officer intends teave MHA or otherwise terminate such officer's esgpient with MHA. MHA is ir
compliance with all federal, state, local and fgreilaws and regulations respecting employment angl@/ment practices, terms ¢
conditions of employment and wages and hours, éxebpre failure to be in compliance would not, eitindividually or in the aggrega
reasonably be expected to result in a Material AslveEffect. Except as disclosed in the MemorandiMHA does not maintain ai
compensation or benefit plan, agreement, arrangeoretommitment (including, but not limited to, “@fyee benefit plans’as defined i
Section 3(3) of the Employee Retirement Income 8gciéct of 1974, as amended“(ERISA " ) for any present or former employe
officers or directors of MHA or with respect to whi MHA has liability or makes or has an obligationmake contributions, other than i
such plans, agreements, arrangements or commitmmaats generally available to MHA’'s employees.

8.13 Environmental LawsMHA (i) is in compliance with any and all Envinorental Laws (as hereinafter defined), (ii)
received all permits, licenses or other approvatpuired of it under applicable Environmental Lawscbnduct its business and (iii) is
compliance with all terms and conditions of anytspermit, license or approval where, in each offthiegoing clauses (i), (i) and (iii), t
failure to so comply would reasonably be expectedchave, individually or in the aggregate, a MaleAalverse Effect. The terni
Environmental Laws means all federal, state, local or foreign lawsitied to pollution or protection of human healthtbe environmet
(including, without limitation, ambient air, suriaevater, groundwater, land surface or subsurfaega3t including, without limitation, lav
relating to emissions, discharges, releases oatitmed releases of chemicals, pollutants, contantsnar toxic or hazardous substance
wastes (collectively; Hazardous Material% ) into the environment, or otherwise relating to thanufacture, processing, distribution, |
treatment, storage, disposal, transport or handiingazardous Materials, as well as all authoriwradj codes, decrees, demands or de
letters, injunctions, judgments, licenses, notiwenotice letters, orders, permits, plans or refijuta issued, entered, promulgated or appr
thereunder.

8.14 Tax Status MHA (a) has made or filed all federal and stateome and all other tax returns, reports and datbden:
required by any jurisdiction to which it is subjef) has paid all taxes and other governmentasassents and charges that are mater
amount, shown or determined to be due on suchngtueports and declarations, except those beintested in good faith and (c) has
aside on its books provision reasonably adequat¢ht payment of all taxes for periods subsequerthé periods to which such retul
reports or declarations apply. There are no unfzaéds in any material amount claimed to be duehbytaxing authority of any jurisdictic
and the officers of MHA know of no basis for anygkiclaim.
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8.15 Proprietary Rights MHA owns or possesses adequate and enforceatits rio use all patents, patent applicati
trademarks, trade names, corporate names, copgyrightle secrets, licenses, inventions, formulatieechnology and knowew and othe
intangible property used in the conduct of its hass (the “ Proprietary Rights MHA has not received any notice of, and there aréawot:
known to MHA that reasonably indicate the existeaté) any infringement or misappropriation by ahiyd party of any of the Propriet:
Rights or (b) any claim by a third party contestihg validity of any of the Proprietary Rights. MH#&s not received any notice of :
infringement, misappropriation or violation by MH# any of its employees of any Proprietary Rigtitthaod parties.

8.16 Insurance MHA is insured by insurers of recognized finahegsponsibility against such losses and risksluiting,
without limitation, products liability, and in su@mounts as are prudent and customary in the tasgiaeén which MHA is engaged, includi
but not limited to, directors and officers insurarmverage at least equal to $5.0 million. To thsttknowledge of MHA, such insurai
contracts and policies are accurate and completA kias no reason to believe that it will not beeatol renew its existing insurance covel
as and when such coverage expires or to obtaiasigoverage from similar insurers as may be necgds continue its business on te
consistent with market for MHA's line of business.

8.17 Private PlacementAssuming the accuracy of Nordicrepresentations and warranties set forth in & cti, nc
registration under the Securities Act is required the offer and sale of the Securities and thev€mion Shares by MHA to Nordic
contemplated hereby. The issuance and sale of dearriies and the Conversion Shares hereunder doegontravene the rules ¢
regulations of the Trading Market.

8.18 Registration Rights Other than Nordic, no Person has any right teseadHA to effect the registration under
Securities Act of any securities of MHA.

8.19 Solvency and IndebtednesBased on the financial condition of MHA, (a) MHAfair saleable value of its ass
exceeds the amount that will be required to be paidr in respect of MHA existing debts and other liabilities (includingokvn continger
liabilities) as they mature; (b) MHA'assets do not constitute unreasonably smallatapitarry on its business for the current figedr a
now conducted and as proposed to be conducteddingluts capital needs taking into account the ipaldr capital requirements of 1
business conducted by MHA, and projected capitglirements and capital availability thereof; anjl tfee current cash flow of MH,
together with the proceeds MHA would receive, wiette liquidate all of its assets, after takingdrdccount all anticipated uses of the ¢
would be sufficient to pay all amounts on or inpes of its debt when such amounts are requirdzetpaid. MHA does not intend to in
debts beyond its ability to pay such debts as thegure (taking into account the timing and amowfitsash to be payable on or in respe!
its debt). MHA has no knowledge of any facts oceinstances which lead it to believe that it wik fior reorganization or liquidation unc
the bankruptcy or reorganization laws of any judggdn within one year from the Closing Date. MH#&leing operated pursuant to a bu
which has been provided to, and reviewed by Noftli® SEC Reports set forth as of the dates thelkofitstanding secured and unsec
Indebtedness of MHA, or for which MHA has commitrtgeriFor the purposes of this Agreement, “I ndebésdhshall mean (a) any liabiliti
for borrowed money or amounts owed in excess ofGEED(other than trade accounts payable incurreéderordinary course of business),
all guaranties, endorsements and other contingaigations in respect of Indebtedness of otherstivr or not the same are or shoul
reflected in MHAS balance sheet (or the notes thereto), excepagiies by endorsement of negotiable instrumentddposit or collection
similar transactions in the ordinary course of bass; and (c) the present value of any lgmgenents in excess of $50,000 due under i
required to be capitalized in accordance with GAKIPIA is not in default with respect to any Indehteds.
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8.20 Clinical StudiesMIHA has provided or will provide (i) all communidgans to the Food and Drug Administration (the “

FDA ") of any adverse events with respect to any dihar preelinical studies, tests or research that are desdrin the SEC Reports or
results of which are referred to in the SEC Repantsl (ii) any notices or other correspondence ftbenFDA or any other foreign, fedel
state or local governmental or regulatory authonitth respect to any clinical or painical studies, tests or research that are desdrin th
SEC Reports or the results of which are referrdd tbe SEC Reports which require the terminatsugpension, delay or modification of s
studies, tests or research, otherwise require Mbl@nigage in any remedial activities with respeduch studies, test or research, or thre
to impose or actually impose any fines or othecigisary actions, in the case of each of (i) aii}das such communications, notices or o
correspondence relate to the Assets.

8.21 Disclosure The representations and warranties made by MHaim¢as modified by the Disclosure Schedule) are
and correct and do not contain any untrue stateroke@at material fact or omit to state any materedtfnecessary in order to make
statements made herein, in light of the circumstanmder which they were made, not misleading.

8.22 Absence of Certain ChangeSinceSeptember 30, 2007, there has been no materiatsedebange in the busine
operations, conditions (financial or otherwisepgpects, assets or results of operations of MHA.

8.23 Other Representations and Warranti#se representations and warranties of MHA inAldditional Agreements will k
true and correct when made.

9. Other Agreements of the Parties.

9.1 Transfer Restrictions

€)) The Securities and the Conversion Shares may antjigposed of in compliance with state and fedsralritie:
laws. In connection with any transfer of the Se@sior the Conversion Shares other than purswaah teffective registration statemen
Rule 144, to MHA or to an affiliate of Nordic or iconnection with a pledge as contemplated in Secdid(b), MHA may require tt
transferor thereof to provide to MHA an opinion @funsel selected by the transferor and reasonalugpsable to MHA, the form a
substance of which opinion shall be reasonablysfeatiory to MHA, to the effect that such transferes not require registration of si
transferred Securities or Conversion Shares uigeBéecurities Act.
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(b) Nordic agrees to the imprinting, so long as is negliby this Section 9.1(b), of a legend on anyth&f Securities «
Conversion Shares in the following form:

THESE SHARES HAVE NOT BEEN REGISTERED WITH THE SERIOIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION OR TH
SECURITIES COMMISSION OF ANY STATE IN RELIANCE UPORN EXEMPTION FROM REGISTRATION UNDER TH
SECURITIES ACT OF 1933, AS AMENDED (THE “SECURITIESCT”), AND, ACCORDINGLY, MAY NOT BE OFFEREI
OR SOLD EXCEPT PURSUANT TO AN EFFECTIVE REGISTRATMOSTATEMENT UNDER THE SECURITIES ACT C
PURSUANT TO AN AVAILABLE EXEMPTION FROM, OR IN A TRANSACTION NOT SUBJECT TO, THE REGISTRATIC
REQUIREMENTS OF THE SECURITIES ACT AND IN ACCORDANEWITH APPLICABLE STATE SECURITIES LAWS A
EVIDENCED BY A LEGAL OPINION OF COUNSEL TO THE TRASFEROR TO SUCH EFFECT, THE SUBSTANCE
WHICH SHALL BE REASONABLY ACCEPTABLE TO MHA. THESESHARES MAY BE PLEDGED IN CONNECTION WIT
A BONA FIDE MARGIN ACCOUNT WITH A REGISTERED BROKEMEALER OR OTHER LOAN WITH A FINANCIAL
INSTITUTION THAT IS AN “ACCREDITED INVESTOR” AS DERNED IN RULE 501(a) UNDER THE SECURITIES ACT.

MHA acknowledges and agrees that Nordic may frametito time pledge or grant a security interestdme or all of the Securities
Conversion Shares to a financial institution tlsaam “accredited investods defined in Rule 501(a) under the Securitiesahect who agret
to be bound by the provisions of this Agreement #redRegistration Rights Agreement and, if requinader the terms of such arrangerr
Nordic may transfer pledged or secured SecuritigSamversion Shares to the pledgees or securei@qaBd long as it complies in all respi
with applicable state and federal securities lassugh a pledge or transfer would not be subjecptraval of MHA and no legal opinion
legal counsel of the pledgee, secured party orgoledhall be required in connection therewith. Ferf no notice shall be required of s
pledge. At Nordics expense, MHA will execute and deliver such reabtindocumentation as a pledgee or secured parBecirities ¢
Conversion Shares may reasonably request in caonestth a pledge or transfer of the SecuritiesCanversion Shares, including, if -
Securities or Conversion Shares are subject tetragjon pursuant to the Registration Rights Agreemthe preparation and filing of ¢
required prospectus supplement under Rule 424(h)(@ler the Securities Act or other applicable pimn of the Securities Act
appropriately amend the list of Selling Stockhatdigrereunder.

(c) Certificates evidencing the Securities and the @osion Shares shall not contain any legend (inolydhe legend s
forth in Section 9.1(b)), (i) following the resadé the Securities or Conversion Shares pursuaahteffective registration statement cove
the resale of such security under the Securitigs @éc(ii) following any sale of such Securities @onversion Shares pursuant to Rule
(assuming the transferor is not an Affiliate of MHAr (iii) if such Securities or Conversion Shaessg eligible for sale under Rule !
without volume restrictions, or (iv) if such legems not required under applicable requirementshef $ecurities Act and the rules .
regulations promulgated thereunder (including jigdimterpretations and pronouncements issued eéstaff of the SEC). MHA agrees tha
such time as such legend is no longer required ruthite Section 9.1(c), it will, no later than thréeading Days following the delivery
Nordic to MHA or MHA's transfer agent of a certificate representing &@&esl or Conversion Shares, as the case may bgedswith
restrictive legend, deliver or cause to be delidei@ Nordic a certificate representing such shéhes is free from all restrictive and ot
legends. MHA may not make any notation on its rdsasr give instructions to any transfer agent of Mthat enlarge the restrictions
transfer set forth in this Section. Certificates toe Securities or Conversion Shares subjectgerid removal hereunder shall be transm
by the transfer agent of MHA to Nordic by creditithg account of Nordic’s prime broker with the Dsjpory Trust Company System.
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9.2 Furnishing of Information

(&) As long as Nordic owns Securities or Conversionr&aMHA covenants as follows: (i) MHA shall timefile (or obtair
extensions in respect thereof and file within thpla&able grace period) all reports required tditeel by MHA after the date hereof pursu
to the Exchange Act, and (ii) all such reportsdfilly MHA after the date hereof pursuant to the BExgfe Act shall comply in all mater
respects with the requirements of the ExchangesAdtthe rules and regulations of the SEC promulgditereunder, and none of such rep
when filed, shall contain any untrue statement ofaderial fact or omitted to state a material facjuired to be stated therein or necesse
order to make the statements therein, in the bflthe circumstances under which they were mademnigleading.

(b) As long as Nordic owns Securities or Conversionr&haf MHA is not required to file reports purstan the Exchange Act,
will prepare and furnish to Nordic and make publialailable in accordance with Rule 144 such inftion as is required for Nordic to ¢
the Securities or Conversion Shares under Rule WHA further covenants that it will take such fugthaction as Nordic may reasone
request, all to the extent required from time toetito enable Nordic to sell Securities or Conversshares without registration under
Securities Act within the limitation of the exermmis provided by Rule 144.

9.3 Integration MHA shall not sell, offer for sale or solicit effs to buy or otherwise negotiate in respect of sagurity (as define
in Section 2 of the Securities Act) that would btegrated with the offer or sale of the Securibeshe Conversion Shares in a manner
would require the registration under the Securifes of the sale of the Securities or the Conversghares to Nordic or that would
integrated with the offer or sale of the Securiteshe Conversion Shares for purposes of the arndsregulations of any Trading Market s
that it would require stockholder approval of tteesof the Securities or the Conversion Sharesdadid unless stockholder approva
obtained before the closing of such subsequensacdion.

9.4 Confidentiality; Required Disclosure

(a) Each party agrees, and will cause its affiliateskeéep confidential and not to publish (by predsase, press interview,
otherwise) or otherwise divulge or use for its dvemefit or for the benefit of any third party amfarmation of a confidential or propriet:
nature furnished to it by the other party, or tkstence and terms of this Agreement or the AddédlcAgreements or the existence or re:
of the parties’ collaboration hereunder or thereundavithout the prior written approval of the othgarty, except to those of such pasty’
employees and representatives as may need to kndwirsformation for purposes of the transactionstemplated by the partieagreement
and except as required by applicable law or bygaliibns pursuant to any listing agreement withubes of any Trading Market. In the ev
of any such required disclosure, including thenfjs described in Section 9.4(b) below, the disatpgiarty will (i) provide the other party w
written notice of the required disclosure at le&&thours in advance of such disclosure, and fijtlsuch disclosure to the minimum requ
under the applicable law or obligations, whethaotigh a request for confidential treatment or otlee. The confidentiality obligatic
described above shall not apply to informationhaf bther party which: was already known by thepiecit prior to the time of its disclost
by the disclosing party to the recipient; is pulpliavailable or later becomes publicly availableotigh no fault of the recipient; or is disclo
to the recipient by a third party having no simitanfidentiality obligation. This obligation shairminate three years after execution of
Agreement.
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(b) MHA shall (i) timely file with the SEC a CurreiiReport on Form & with respect to the transactions contemplatedhis
Agreement and the Additional Agreements, and (&kesuch other filings and notices in the manner amgk trequired by the SEC and
Trading Market, provided, in the case of a filingnmtice described in clause (i) or (ii) abovetithee information contained in such filing
notice is limited to the information necessary ider for MHA to comply with the Exchange Act ane tlegulations promulgated thereur
or the other applicable legal or Trading Marketigddions.

9.5 Indemnification of Nordic Subject to the provisions of this Section 9.5, Mwill indemnify and hold Nordic and its directc
officers, stockholders, members, partners, empkoyasl agents (each, a “ Purchaser Partyarmless from any and all losses, liabilit
obligations, claims, contingencies, damages, casts expenses, including all judgments, amounts paidettlements, court costs
reasonable attorneyfes and costs of investigation that any such RisehParty may suffer or incur as a result of [tirey to (a) any breas
of any of the representations and warranties, whade, or the covenants or agreements made by MHisSmAgreement and the Additiol
Agreements or (b) any action instituted againstdioor its Affiliates, or in which Nordic becomesvblved in any capacity, by a
stockholder of MHA who is not an Affiliate of Nomiwith respect to any of the transactions contateg! by the Agreement or the Additic
Agreements (unless such action is based upon atbrefaNordics representations, warranties or covenants unagegreement or tt
Additional Agreements or any agreements or undedatgs Nordic may have with any such stockholdearoy violations by Nordic of ste
or federal securities laws or any conduct by Nowdigch constitutes fraud, gross negligence, wilthisconduct or malfeasance). If any ac
shall be brought against any Purchaser Party perf which indemnity may be sought pursuantis Agreement, such Purchaser F
shall promptly notify MHA in writing, and MHA shahave the right to assume the defense thereof eaitimsel of its own choosing. A
Purchaser Party shall have the right to employ reé@acounsel in any such action and participatthéndefense thereof, but the fees
expenses of such counsel shall be at the expensachf Purchaser Party except to the extent thathéaemployment thereof has b
specifically authorized by MHA in writing, (b) MHAas failed after a reasonable period of time tarasssuch defense and to employ cot
or (¢) in such action there is, in the reasonabplaion of such separate counsel, a material cdardlicany material issue between the pos
of MHA and the position of such Purchaser Party. MMill not be liable to any Purchaser Party undes tAgreement (i) for any settlem:
by a Purchaser Party effected without MiSASrior written consent, which shall not be unreasdy withheld or delayed; or (ii) to the exte
but only to the extent that a loss, claim, damagédability is attributable to any Purchaser Pastyireach of any of the representati
warranties, covenants or agreements made by Nordids Agreement or in Additional AgreementdHA shall not approve the settlemen
any claims against a Purchaser Party without thigenrconsent of the Purchaser Party, unless settlersment holds such Purchaser F
harmless and releases the Purchaser Party frartaifis.
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9.7 Reservation of Common StoclMHA shall maintain a reserve, free of preemptivghts, from its duly authorized shares
Common Stock for issuance pursuant to the Agreemenich amount as may be required to fulfill idigations under the Agreement in f
including the issuance of Conversion Shares.

9.8 Formation of Newco and General Partnerior to the Closing, MHA and Nordic shall coomterin entering into such agreem
and filing such certificates as are necessaryapgnty form Newco as a Danish limited partnershig the General Partner as a Danish pr
limited company, including, without limitation, ke filing of the Articles of Association of Newcand the Articles of Association &
Memorandum of Association of the General Partnkinahe form attached to the Partnership Agreetetith the Danish Commerce &
Companies Agency.

10. Miscellaneous.

10.1 Termination This Agreement may be terminated by Nordic byttemi notice to MHA, if the Closing has not beensuommate
on or before February 18, 2008.

10.2 Fees and Expensesll fees and expenses incurred by MHA in connectigh the transactions contemplated by this Agres
shall be borne by MHA. All fees and expenses iredifsy Nordic in connection with the transactionstemplated by this Agreement shal
borne by MHA to the extent that such fees and esg&mo do not exceed $125,000, and by Nordic tfteredlordic acknowledges that it t
received $60,000 from MHA as an advance on feesapdnses. Nordic agrees to submit evidence ofiaddi fees and expenses to MH/
order to request additional advances, and MHA agteenake such advances for up to an additionald®65 Nordic is under no obligation
return any portion of any advance made unless tbsir®) does not occur, in which case Nordic agteeseturn to MHA the portion |
advances made, if any, in excess of Nordic’'s adaesd and expenses.

10.3 Entire AgreementThe Agreement and the Additional Agreements, ttogrewith the exhibits and schedules thereto, dorite
entire understanding of the parties with respedh® subject matter hereof and supersede all pgoeements and understandings, or
written, with respect to such matters, which theipa acknowledge have been merged into such dausiexhibits and schedules.

10.4 Notices Any notice, demand, offer or other written instient (“ Notice”) required or permitted to be given shall b
writing signed by the party giving such Notice astthll be hand delivered or sent, postage prepgidehtified or registered mail, rett
receipt requested, or by overnight delivery suckexberal Express, addressed as follows:
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If to MHA: Manhattan Pharmaceuticals, Inc.
810 Seventh Avenue,"Floor
New York, NY 1001¢
Fax: (212) 582-3957
Attn: Chief Financial Officer
Email: mgmcguinness@manhattanpharma.com

with a copy to: Lowenstein Sandler PC
65 Livingston Avenue
Roseland, New Jersey 07068
Telephone: (973) 597-2500
Fax: (973) 597-2400
Attn: Anthony O. Pergola
Email: apergola@lowenstein.com

If to Nordic: Nordic Biotech Advisor:
@stergade 5, 3rd floor
DK-1100 Copenhagen K
Denmark
Attn: Florian Schénharting
Fax: (978) 448-3145
Email: fs@nordicbiotech.com
With a copy to: John M. Barberich
Email: jimb@nordichiotech.com

with a copy to: Nutter, McClennen & Fish LLI
World Trade Center West
155 Seaport Boulevard
Boston, MA 02210
Fax: (617) 310-9000
Attn: James E. Dawson, Esq.
Email: jdawson@nutter.com

Any party shall have the right to change the placeshich such Notice shall be sent or deliveredsimgilar notice sent in like manner to
other parties hereto.

10.5_ Amendments; WaiverdNo provision of this Agreement may be waived imeaded except in a written instrument signed, &
case of an amendment, by MHA and Nordic or, inghse of a waiver, by the party against whom enfoesg of any such waiver is soug
No waiver of any default with respect to any praxis condition or requirement of this Agreementlsha deemed to be a continuing wai
in the future or a waiver of any subsequent default waiver of any other provision, condition eguirement hereof, nor shall any dela
omission of either party to exercise any right beder in any manner impair the exercise of any sigtft.
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10.6 Headings The headings herein are for convenience onlyjataconstitute a part of this Agreement and sheilbe deemed
limit or affect any of the provisions hereof. Ttanguage used in this Agreement will be deemed tthddanguage chosen by the partie
express their mutual intent, and no rules of striietstruction will be applied against any party.

10.7 Successors and Assigrishis Agreement shall be binding upon and inuréhtobenefit of the parties and their successod
permitted assigns. MHA may not assign this Agreememny rights or obligations hereunder withow frior written consent of Nordic.

10.8 No ThirdParty Beneficiaries This Agreement is intended for the benefit of plagties hereto and their respective successol
permitted assigns and is not for the benefit of, may any provision hereof be enforced by, any oHerson, except as otherwise set for
Section 9.6.

10.9 Governing Law All questions concerning the construction, vayidenforcement and interpretation of this Agreetraamd th:
Additional Agreements shall be governed by and taed and enforced in accordance with the intelaak of the State of New Yol
without regard to the principles of conflicts ofMdhereof, except to the extent that the applicatibthe General Corporation Law of the S
of Delaware is mandatorily applicable. If eithertgashall commence an action or proceeding to e@ef@ny provisions of the Transaci
Documents, then the prevailing party in such actioproceeding shall be reimbursed by the othetydar its reasonable attorneyi®es an
other costs and expenses incurred with the inw#tig, preparation and prosecution of such actiorproceeding.Each party herel
irrevocably submits to the exclusive jurisdictiohtbe federal and state courts sitting in the stdt®lew York in any action or proceed
arising out of or relating to this Agreement, théditional Agreements or the transactions conteredl&iereby or thereby. Each party hel
irrevocably agrees, on behalf of itself and on Hfedfasuch partys successors and permitted assigns, that all claimespect of such action
proceeding shall be heard and determined in anly sogrt and irrevocably waives any objection suefspn may now or hereafter have ¢
the venue of any such suit, action or proceediogdpnt in such a court or that such court is annreaient forum.

10.10_Survival The representations, warranties, agreements@rahants contained herein shall survive the Cloamdthe deliver
of the Securities and Conversion Shares.

10.11 Execution This Agreement may be executed in two or morentaparts, all of which when taken together shaltbnsidere
one and the same agreement and shall become weffedtien counterparts have been signed by each gadtylelivered to the other party
being understood that both parties need not sigrséime counterpart. In the event that any signagudelivered by facsimile transmissi
such signature shall create a valid and bindinggabbn of the party executing (or on whose bebatth signature is executed) with the s
force and effect as if such facsimile signaturegpagre an original thereof.

10.12 Severability. If any provision of this Agreement is held to mwalid or unenforceable in any respect, the validinc
enforceability of the remaining terms and provisiaf this Agreement shall not in any way be afféadeimpaired thereby and the parties
attempt to agree upon a valid and enforceable pimvithat is a reasonable substitute therefore ugot so agreeing, shall incorporate
substitute provision in this Agreement.
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10.13_RemediesIn addition to being entitled to exercise allhtig provided herein or granted by law, includingoneery of damage
each of Nordic and MHA will be entitled to specifierformance under this Agreement and the Additidaeements. The parties agree
monetary damages may not be adequate compensatianyf loss incurred by reason of any breach dfjabbns described in the forego
sentence and hereby agrees to waive in any adaiiospecific performance of any such obligation deéense that a remedy at law woulc
adequate.

10.14 Payment Set AsideTo the extent that MHA makes a payment or paymémtNordic pursuant to this Agreement or
Additional Agreements or Nordic enforces or exasists rights thereunder, and such payment or patgmer the proceeds of st
enforcement or exercise or any part thereof arsesylently invalidated, declared to be fraudulenpreferential, set aside, recovered fr
disgorged by or are required to be refunded, repaidtherwise restored to MHA, a trustee, receimerany other person under any
(including, without limitation, any bankruptcy lawtate or federal law, common law or equitable eanfsaction), then to the extent of i
such restoration the obligation or part thereaofiogdlly intended to be satisfied shall be revived aontinued in full force and effect as if s
payment had not been made or such enforcementaif Bad not occurred.

[Signature page follows]
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have exettlis Agreement under seal as of the day andfirsaebove written.
MHA:
MANHATTAN PHARMACEUTICALS, INC.

By: /sl Michael McGuinness

Name:
Title: CFO

NORDIC:
NORDIC BIOTECH VENTURE FUND Il K/

By: /sl Florian Schonharting

Name:
Title:  Partner

By: /sl Christian Hansen

Name:
Title:  Partner

Address @stergade 5, 3rd floor
DK-1100 Copenhagen K
Denmark




DISCLOSURE SCHEDULES
DATE JANUARY 31, 2008
TO JOINT VENTURE AGREEMENT

Schedule 8.6 (Litigation)

Swiss Pharma Contract LTD (“Swiss Pharma)clinical site that MHA used in one of its obeditials, gave notice to MHA that Sw
Pharma believes it is entitled to receive an aodii payment of $322,776 for services in conneatvgh that clinical trial. While the contre
between MHA and Swiss Pharma provides for additigggyments if certain conditions are met, SwissnRahas not specified whi
conditions they believe have been achieved and MidAs not believe that Swiss Pharma is entitleddtitianal payments and has

accrued any of these costs as of September 30, ZO@7contract between MHA and Swiss Pharma previdearbitration in the event o
dispute, such as this claim for an additional paym8wiss Pharma has filed a demand for arbitratftanMHA does not believe that Sw
Pharma is entitled to additional payments, it id&eto defend its position in arbitration.

Schedule 8.22 (Absence of Certain Changes)

MHA's cash balance as of January 31, 2008, is appadely $250,000.




Exhibit 10.20
Executfion Version

AMENDMENT TO JOINT VENTURE AGREEMENT

THIS AMENDMENT TO JOINT VENTURE AGREEMENT (this “Amendment™) is
entered into as of February 18, 2008 by and between Manhatian Pharmaceuticals, Inc., a
Delaware corporation (“MHA™) and Nordic Biotech Venture Fund 11 K8, a Damish limited
liability partnership (“Mordic™).

WITNESSETH:

WHEREAS, MHA and Nordic have entered into a Joint Venture Agreement dated as of
January 31, 2008 (as amended from time to time, the “Joint Venture Agreement™) by which,
among other things, Nordic agrees to contribute capital to a newly formed limited partnership
and MHA agrees to assign and contribute certain assets to the newly formed limited partnership
{eapitalized terms not otherwise defined herein shall have the meanings assigned to them in the
Joint Venture Agreement).

WHEREAS, the closing of the transactions contemplated by the Joint Venture A greement
was scheduled to occur on or before February 18, 2008;

WHEREAS, MHA has requested a waiver of the closing comdition set forth in Section
2.2(b¥xi) of the Joint Venture Agreement with respect 1o the requirements of Section 71(b) of
the Amex Company Guide of the American Stock Exchange;

WHEREAS, Nordic has agrecd to waive such closing condition and amend the date by
which the closing must oceur to February 25, 2008, solely upon the terms and conditions set
forth herein.

NOW, THEREFORE, for good and valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of
which i hereby acknowledged, the parties hereto hereby agree as follows:

1. Amendments.

(a)  Section 2.1 of the Joint Venture Agreement is hereby amended by deleting the
phirase “February 18, 2008" and replacing it with “February 25, 2008,

(b)  Section 10.1 of the Joint Venture Agreement is hereby amended by deleting the
phrase “February 18, 2008 and replacing it with “February 25, 2008,

{e)  Section | of the Joinl Venture Agreement is hereby amended by deleting the
definition of the terms “Call Event™ and “Trading Market™ and replacing them in their entirety
with the following;

“Call Event” means the occurrence of thirty consecutive business days on
which the closing sale price of the Commen Stock as reported on the
Trading Market exceeds ten times the Transaction Price (the “Threshold

Price”).




“Trading Market™ means whichever of the New York Stock Exchange, the
American Stock Exchange, the Masdaq Global Market, the Nasdag Global
Select Market, the Nasdaq Capital Market, the OTC Bulletin Board or
other recognized exchange or markel on which the Common Stock is
listed or quoted on the date in question.

(d}  Section 4.3 of the Joinl Venture Agreement is hereby amended by deleting
the term “$2,000,000" and replacing it with the term “$1,500,000",

()  Section 10.2 of the Jomt Venture Agreement is hercby deleted in its
entirety and replaced with the following:

“10.2 Fees and Expenses. All fees and expenses incurred by MHA in
connection with the transactions contemplated by this Agreement shall be
bome by MHA. All fees and expenses incurred by Nordic in connection
with the transaciions contemplated by this Agreement shall be bome by
MHA to the extent that such fees and expenses to do not exceed 5140,000,
and by Nordic thereafier. Nordic acknowledges that it has reccived
$60,000 from MHA as an advance on fees and expenses. Mordic agrees to
submit evidence of additional fees and expenses o MHA in order o
request additional advances, and MHA agrees to make such advances for
up to an additional $20,000. Mordic is under no obligation to retumn any
portion of any advance made unless the Closing does not occur, in which
case Nordic agrees to retumn to MHA the portion of advances made, if any,
i excess of Nordic's actual fecs and expenses.”

(L) Section 13.1 of Exhibit B 1o the Joint Venture Agreement is herechy
amended by deleting the phrase “5% of Net Sales”™ and replacing it with the following:
“6% of Net Sales™

(g)  Section 13.3 of Exhibit B 1o the Joint Venture Agrecment is herchy
emended by deleting the second sentence of such section und replacing it with the
following: “For the avoidance of doubt, if Nordic’s percentage ownership of Parnership
Shares decreases from 50% to 20%, the Nordic Royalty shall be reduced from 6% 1o
2.4% of Net Sales.”

{h}  The second sentence of Section 8.17 of the Joint Venture Agreement is
herebyy deleted in its entirety and replaced with the following: “The issuance and sale of
the Securities and the Conversion Shares hereunder will not result in the imposition of
any fine or monetary penalty against the Company by the Trading Market.”

2. Waiver. Nordic hereby waives the condition to closing set forth in Section

2.2(b)}xi) of the Joint Venture Agreement.

1 Representations and Warranties. MHA represents and warrants to Nordic that
this Amendment has been duly executed and delivered by MHA and constitutes a legal, valid and

binding obligation of MHA enforceable against MHA in accordance with its terms, subject to
laws of general application relating to bankrupley, msolvency and the relief of debtors and rules
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of law goveming specific performance, injunctive relief or other equitable remedies, and to
limitations of public policy. Nordic represenis and warrants to MHA that this Amendment has
been duly executed and delivered by Nordic and constitutes a legal, valid and binding obligation
of Nordic enforceable against Nordic in accordance with its terms, subject to laws of general
application relating to bankruptcy, insofvency and the reliel of debtors and rules of law
poverning specific performance, injunctive relief or other equitable remedies, and to limitations
of public policy.

4. Ratification, Except as hereby amended, the Joint Venture Agreement and each
provision thercof are hereby ratified and confirmed in every respect and shall continue in full
force and effect.

5. Conditions Precedent. The agreements set forth in this Amendment are
conditional and this Amendment shall not be effective until receipt by each party of a fully-
executed counterpart of this Amendment (which may be a [acsimile or .pdf copy thereof).

fi. Miscellaneous.

() Entire Agreement. This Amendment and the Joinl Venture Agreement contains
the entire understanding of the parties hereto and supercedes all prior or contemporaneous
negotiations, promises, covenants, agreements and representations of every nature whatsoever
with respect to the matters referred 1o in this Amendment and the Joint Venture Agreement, all
of which have become merged and finzlly mtegrated into the Joint Venture Agreement.

(b}  Headings. The headings herein are for convenience only, do not constitute a part
of this Agreement and shall not be deemed to limit or affect any of the provisions hereof. The
language used in this Agreement will be deemed to be the language chosen by the parties to
express their mutual intent, and no rules of strict construction will be applied against any party.

{€) Successors and Assigns. This Amendment shall be binding upon and inure o the
benefit of the parties and their successors and permitted assigns.

(dy  Governing Law. All questions concerning the construction, validity, enforcement
and interpretation of this Amendment shall be govemed by and construed and enforced in
accordance with the internal laws of the State of New York, without regard to the principles of
conflicts of law thereof, except to the extent that the application of the General Corporation Law
of the State of Delaware is mandatorily applicable. If either party shall commencs an action or
proceeding to enforce any provision of this Amendment, then the prevailing party in such sction
or proceeding shall be reimbursed by the other party for its reasonable attomneys” fees and other
cosis and expenses incurred with the investigation, preparation and prosecution of such action or
proceeding. Each party hereby irrevocably submits to the exclusive jurisdiction of the federal
and state courts sitting in the state of New York in any action or procecding ansing out of or
relating to this Amendment. Each party hereby irrevocably agrees, on behalf of itself and on
hehalf of such party's successors and permitted assigns, that all claims in respect of such action
or procesiling shall be heard and determined in any such count and irrevocably waives any
objection such person may now or hereafter have as to the venue of any such suit, action or
proceeding brought in such a court or that such court is an inconvenient forum.
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() Counterparts. This Amendment may be executed in two or more counterparts, all
of which when taken together shall be considered one and the same agreement and shall become
effective when counterparis have been signed by each panty and delivered to the other party, it
being understood that both parties need not sign the same counterpart. In the event that any
signature is delivered by facsimile transmission, such signature shall create a valid and binding
obligation of the party executing (or on whose behalf such signature 18 executed) with the same
force and effect as if such facsimile signature page were an original thercof.

(2)  Severability. If any provision of this Amendment is held to be invalid or
unenforceable in any respect, the validity and enforceability of the remaining terms and
provisions of this Amendment shall not in any way be affected or impaired thereby and the
parties will attempt to agree upon a valid and enforceable provision that is a reasonable substitute
therefore, and upon so agreeing, shall incorporate such substitute provision in this Amendment.

[Signature page follows]




IN WITHNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have executed this Amendment under seal
as of the day and year first above written.

MHA:
MANHATTAN PHARMACEUTICALS, INC.
I hevl—

By:
MName: FMichas] Prfcinness
Title: £Fo

NORDIC:
NORDIC BIOTECH VENTURE FUND Il K/5

By: g/Florian Schonharting

Mame:
Title: Fartner

By: g/Christian Hangsen
Name:
Title: _Partner

1709211.2
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IN WITNESS WHEREOQF, the partics hereto have executed this Amendment under seal

s of the doy and year first above written.

1mzie

MHA:

MANHATTAN PHARMACEUTICALS, INC.

By:

Mame:

Title:

NORDIC:
NORDIC Bl
By:

FUND ITKE/S

Mame: & bl p R

Title: r

By:

Mame:

Tithe:

Sigratre Page to Amsndment o Jaint Ventone Agrooment
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N WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have execuisd this Amendment onder seal
&5 of the day and year first above written.

MHA:
MANHATTAN FHARMACEUTICALS, TNC.

By:
Name:
Title:

NORDIC:
NORDIC BIOTECH VENTURE FUND II Kf5

1._.--_-—'.""'_._' -
By: ) Fose, e ="
Name: " .ﬁ-{._;.r‘-#'.h:

Title: .I'-I'FrM"

17092014

Signature Pape w Amendoent to Joind Venmme A gresmem
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EXHIBIT A

Exhibit 10.2:
ASSIGNMENT AND CONTRIBUTION AGREEMENT

THIS ASSIGNMENT AND CONTRIBUTION AGREEMENT (this “ Agreement”) is made and entered into effective a
February 25, 2008, by and between Manhattan Phawutiaals, Inc., a Delaware corporationMiHA "), Hedrin Pharmaceuticals K/Se
Danish limited liability partnership (Newco”) and, for the purposes of Articledhly, Nordic Biotech Venture Fund Il K/S, a Danighited
liability partnership (“Nordic ).

WHEREAS, MHA and Nordic have entered into a Joint Venturere®&gnent dated as of January 31, 2008 (tdeifit Venture
Agreement”) pursuant to which Newco has been newly formed apitalized by Nordic for the purpose of holding aminmercializing th
Assets (as defined below); and

WHEREAS , subject to and in accordance with the terms amdlitions of this Agreement: (i) MHA desires toigssthe Assets ar
transfer the Assumed Liabilities (as defined beleavNewco, and Newco desires to acquire the Asmstsassume the Assumed Liabili
from MHA; and (ii) as consideration for the assigammof the Assets, in addition to the assumptiothefAssumed Liabilities, Newco desi
to pay to MHA, and MHA desires to receive, the CBalyments (as defined below) and the Equity Paysr@stdefined below).

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the premises and the repreenta warranties and covenants herein containddéme
good and valuable consideration, the receipt affec&umncy of which are hereby acknowledged, thetiparhereby agree as follows:

1. DEFINITIONS

In this Agreement, capitalized terms not otherwdséined herein shall have the meanings assigndtieim in the Joint Ventu
Agreement, and the following terms have the follagvmeanings, unless otherwise defined herein:

“ Assets” means all right, title and interest of MHA in, tadaunder (i) the Hedrin Agreements, (ii) all regafgt application:
approvals, worldwide product registrations and eisded materials relating to the Licensed Prod(assdefined in the Hedrin License), |
all contracts (other than the Hedrin Agreement$lgaelating to the Licensed Products, as listedAppendix A(the “ Other Assignec
Contracts "), (iv) all promotional and informational materials in MHApossession or under its control used in conmneatith the
Licensed Products, (v) all Licensed Products hglcbbon behalf of MHA in inventory or as samplesgluding any Clinical Supply (
defined in the Supply Agreement), (vi) the Scigatidata, including any rights of access that MHA @ the Scientific Data, and (vii) cop
of all other files, records, books, documents, dptans and proposals of MHA relating principalty the Licensed Products, whethe
written, electronic, visual or other form, redactasl necessary to delete all files, records, bodksuments, data, plans and propc
respecting or including other products of MHA andiepects of its business.




“ Assumed Liabilities” means all obligations and liabilities of MHA undée Hedrin Agreements and the Other Assigned Ccis
arising on or after the Closing Date.

“ Hedrin Agreements” means the agreements identified as such on Appéndttached hereto.

“ Hedrin License ” means that certain Exclusive License Agreementiftedrin” among Thornton & Ross, Ltd., Kerris, S.A.
Manhattan Pharmaceuticals, Inc., dated June 26,.200

“ Hedrin Patent Rights " means: (i) U.S. Patent Application Serial No. 15889 and (ii) Canadian Patent Application
2,381,106.

“ Hedrin Product " shall mean the “Products,” as defined in thattaierSupply Agreement between Thornton & Ross, Ltd.
Manhattan Pharmaceuticals, Inc., dated June 2&,,200use by humans in the treatment of infesteatiof head lice, body lice, pubic lice i
scabies mites.

“ Liens” means all liens, claims and encumbrances of amy &r nature, including, without limitation, sutdinses.

“ Permitted Liens” means the Liens listed on AppendixaBached hereto.

“ Scientific Data” means all available laboratory and all clinicalagahcluding raw data and reports created by MHAmy thirc
party on behalf of MHA or in the possession of MHA connection with the Licensed Products (as @efim the Hedrin License).

“ Supply Agreement” means that certaiBupply Agreement between Thornton & Ross, Ltd. Biaehhattan Pharmaceuticals, |l
dated June 26, 2007.

2. CONTRIBUTION OF ASSETS; ASSUMPTION OF ASSUMED LIABI LITIES.

2.1 Contribution of Assets.

In consideration of and subject to News@ayment of the Cash Payments and the Equity Regmaed assumption of the Assur
Liabilities, MHA hereby transfers, sells, convegssigns, and delivers to Newco all of its rightetand interest in and to the Assets, free
clear of any Liens, other than Permitted Liens. tUpl@wcos reasonable request from time to time, MHA shedicaite and deliver to New
such bills of sale, endorsements, assignments et good and sufficient instruments of assignmeatsfer and conveyance, in form
substance reasonably satisfactory to Newco, aklshakcessary to vest in Newco all of MHA's rigtitte and interest in and to the Assets.

2.2 Assumption of Assumed Liabilities.

MHA hereby transfers to Newco and Newco herebyrassu and will satisfy and perform when due, theufssd Liabilities.
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3. REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES OF MHA.
MHA hereby represents and warrants to Newco akeofiosing Date as follows:
3.1 Organization, Authority, Etc.

MHA is a corporation duly organized, validly exmgi and in good standing under the laws of the Staf@elaware. MHA has tt
requisite corporate power and authority to exeeun# deliver this Agreement and to consummate Hieséctions contemplated hereby.
execution and delivery of this Agreement by MHA &hd consummation by MHA of the transactions comieted hereby have been d
authorized by all necessary corporate action onptire of MHA. This Agreement at the time delivenedl have been duly executed ¢
delivered by MHA and constitute a legal, valid didding obligation of MHA enforceable against MHA &ccordance with its terms, exc
as the same may be limited by bankruptcy, insolyemoratorium, reorganization or other laws of gahapplicability relating to or affectir
the enforcement of creditors’ rights and generalgiples of equity.

3.2 No Conflict.

The execution, delivery and performance by MHA bfstAgreement and the consummation by MHA of thengaction
contemplated hereby will not require any notice fiting with, or the consent, approval or authotiaa of, any third party. Neither t
execution and delivery by MHA of this Agreement tioe consummation of the transactions contemplagedby by MHA will: (i) require thi
consent, license, permitaiver, approval, authorization or other actiontnf,or with respect to, or registration, declanatay filing with, any
governmental authority or any other person; (iistdute a default (with or without notice or lapsfetime or both) under, violate or confl
with, or give rise to a right of termination, callagon or acceleration or to a loss of a matenhefit under, anjudgment, order, writ, decre
judgment, license, instrument or agreento which MHA is a party or by which MHA is bound:, 6ii) constitute a violation by MHA of ar
law, regulation, order or other governmental regmient applicable to MHA.

3.3 Title .

Immediately prior to giving effect to the transacis contemplated hereby, MHA is the sole owneanf] has good and markete
title to, the Assets, free and clear of any Lietieeothan Permitted Liens.

3.4 Hedrin Agreements.
Neither MHA, nor to MHAS knowledge any other party to any of the Hedrirre®gnents, is in breach of any of the He

Agreements, and no condition or set of facts exigtich, with notice, lapse of time or both wouldhstitute a default thereunder on the pa
MHA or, to MHA'’s knowledge, on the part of any othgarty thereto.
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3.5 Intellectual Property .

Except as set forth on Schedule 8ttached hereto: (i) except for prosecution ofgatent applications included in the Hedrin Pe
Rights in the ordinary course, there are no interfees or other adversarial proceedings pendintp MHA’s knowledge threatened, w
regard to any of the Hedrin Patent Rights; anddiithe knowledge of MHA, the marketing and sal¢hef Hedrin Product in the United St
and Canada for use by humans in the treatmentfe$tations of head lice, body lice, pubic lice atadbies mitesvould not constitute ¢
infringement of any United States or Canadian pgatalidly issued and existing as of the Closing édat a misappropriation of any tre
secret rights of any third party. MHA has made kidé to Newco (or Nordic) all available Scientifiata.

3.6 Assets.

Except as set forth on Schedule 8t&ched hereto, the Assets constitute all of #seta in MHAS possession or control necessa
develop and commercialize the Licensed Products.

3.7 Royalty Term.
The Royalty Term (as defined in the Hedrin Licerts@ not commenced.
3.8 Durminster Agreement.

MHA has not received any (i) request to conserdrtcamendment or termination of the Durminster Agrext (as defined in tl
Hedrin License) or (ii) notice that any party isdefault of the Durminster Agreement.

3.9 Milestone Payments

The Milestone Payment (as defined in the Hedrirehge) set forth in Section 6.6.1 of the Hedrin hézhas been fully paid and
further obligation exists thereunder. The condsidor the Milestone Payments set forth in Secti®ss2 through 6.6.7 of the Hedrin Lice
have not yet been satisfied.

3.10 Agency Communications

MHA has provided Newco (or Nordic) with all commaations (written, electronic and oral) receiveddryin the possession
MHA from the U.S. Food and Drug Administration aady similar state, local, federal of foreign CongpetAuthority (as defined in tl
Hedrin License) regarding the approvability or ayyad of any Licensed Product, and no such commtiniténdicates that the U.S. Food i
Drug Administration would not treat the LicenseddRrct as a medical device under the Federal Fondy Bnd Cosmetic Act.

3.11 No Other Representations or Warranties.

Except for the representations and warranties ofAMtpressly set forth in this Article 3MHA makes no express or impli
representation or warranty in connection with tla@sactions contemplated by this Agreement.
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4. REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES OF NEWCO.
Newco hereby represents and warrants to MHA akeo@iosing Date as follows:
4.1 Organization, Authority, Etc.

Newco is a Danish limited liability partnership gubrganized, validly existing and in good standingder the laws of Denma
Newco has the requisite partnership power and &tghto execute and deliver this Agreement and tmstimmate the transactic
contemplated hereby. The execution and deliverythif Agreement by Newco and the consummation by ddewf the transactio
contemplated hereby have been duly authorizedlbneakssary partnership action on the part of NeWhs Agreement at the time delive
will have been duly executed and delivered by Neawo constitute a legal, valid and binding obligatof Newco enforceable against Ne
in accordance with its terms, except as the sanyeb@dimited by bankruptcy, insolvency, moratoriuorganization or other laws of gen:
applicability relating to or affecting the enforcen of creditors’ rights and general principle®qtiity.

4.2 No Conflict.

The execution, delivery and performance by Newcothod Agreement and the consummation by Newco ef tilansactior
contemplated hereby will not require any notice fiting with, or the consent, approval or authotiaa of, any third party. Neither t
execution and delivery by Newco of this Agreememt the consummation of the transactions contenglagzeby by Newco will(i) require
the consent, license, permitaiver, approval, authorization or other actionlmf,or with respect to, or registration, declanatar filing with,
any governmental authority or any other persoi;danstitute a default (with or without notice ape of time or both) under, violate
conflict with, or give rise to a right of terminati, cancellation or acceleration or to a loss afaerial benefit under, arjudgment, orde
writ, decree, judgment, license, instrument or agrentto which Newco is a party or by which Newco is bduar (iii) constitute a violatic
by Newco of any law, regulation, order or other gmmental requirement applicable to Newco.

4.3 No Other Representations or Warranties.

Except for the representations and warranties efddeexpressly set forth in this Articleafhd in_Section 5.Below, Newco makes |
express or implied representation or warranty imneetion with the transactions contemplated by Algigeement.

5. CONSIDERATION.
5.1 Cash Payments and Equity Issuances
€)) In consideration of the assignment of the Assetdaria Newco in this Agreement, in addition to tissuanption of th

Assumed Liabilities by Newco pursuant to Sectichtereof, Newco shall:

0] upon the execution and delivery of this Agremt: (A) pay to MHA US$2,000,000.00 in cash (tHeitial Cash
Payment”) and (B) issue to MHA, and deliver a certificateremgnting, 500 Partnership Shares of Newco (asetbfn the Limite
Partnership Agreement of Newco dated as of the liateof (the “Partnership Agreement”)) evidencing the ownership thereo
MHA (the “ Initial Equity Issuance "); and




(i) upon the achievement of the Payment Milestone (@fined below): (A) pay to MHA an additior
US$1,500,000.00 in cash (theSecond Cash Payment and, together with the Initial Cash Payment, th@ash Payments’) anc
(B) if necessary to maintain MHA’50% ownership of outstanding Partnership Shassse to MHA, and deliver a certifici
representing, a number of additional Partnershigr&hof Newco that will constitute, together witie tinitial Equity Issuance, 5C
of all outstanding Partnership Shares (th®8etond Equity Issuance and, together with the Initial Equity Issuancke t* Equity
Issuances’).

(b) All Cash Payments made by Newco hereunder shathdee by wire transfer, in US dollars, to an accapcified il
writing by MHA.

(c) Upon the Initial Equity Issuance, MHA shall own 5@¥sthe outstanding Partnership Shares of Newcanlthe Secor
Equity Issuance, MHA shall own 50% of the outstagdPartnership Shares of Newco (after giving eftecthe issuance of additiol
Partnership Shares, if any, to Nordic pursuanihéoRartnership Agreement).

5.2 Certain Representations and Warranties

Newco hereby (with respect to clauses (a), (c) @hdelow) and at the time of the Second Equitydsee (with respect to clau
(b) through (d) below) represents and warrants kbA\as follows:

€)) The authorized capital of Newco, immediately attee Initial Equity Issuance, consists of 2,000 Renghij
Shares, 1,000 of which are issued and outstan8®@.0f which are owned, beneficially and of recdrd,Nordic and 500 of whic
are owned, beneficially and of record, by MHA.

(b) The authorized capital of Newco, immediately afiee Second Equity Issuance, if any, consists 00Q
Partnership Shares, 1,000 of which are owned, @algf and of record, by Nordic, and 1,000 of whiare owned, beneficially a
of record by MHA.

(c) All of the outstanding Partnership Shares of Newawve been duly authorized, are fully paid and nsessabl
and were issued in compliance with all applicabésidh laws. Newco holds no Partnership Shares ingtsury.

(d) Except for (i) the Partnership Shares refbtein clauses (a) and (b) of this Section 5(R) the obligation t
issue Partnership Shares to MHA pursuant to thteclar5 , and (iii) the Partnership Agreement and the Jdieture Agreemer
Newco has no class or series of Partnership Skab®rized or outstanding and there are no outstgnuptions, warrants, rigt
(including conversion or preemptive rights and tigbf first refusal or similar rights) or agreenmgendral or in writing, to purchase
acquire from Newco any equity or debt securityamy security convertible into or exchangeable foequity or debt security.
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5.3 Definition of Payment Milestone.

For purposes of this Agreement, the terrRdyment Milestone” shall mean a final determination from the U.S. Faeod Dru
Administration received prior to September 30, 26€8 the Licensed Products will be regulated asdical device.

6. INDEMNIFICATION
6.1 Indemnification by MHA.

MHA will indemnify, defend and hold harmless Newdmrdic and each of their respective officers, clives, employees and age
(each, a “ Newco Indemnité® from and against any and all losses, costs, damagignents, settlements, interest, taxes, feexpense
(including all reasonable attorneys’ fees, expeststonsultants’ fees, expenses and costs) (cioldyt “ Losses”) that may be incurred
paid by any of the Newco Indemnitees to the exgeiging out of or resulting from: (i) MHA' breach of any representation, warre
covenant or other provision contained in this Agneat or (ii) any all obligations and liabilities BfHA underthe Hedrin Agreements arisi
prior to the Closing Date.

6.2 Indemnification by Newco.

Newco will indemnify, defend and hold harmless MIdAd its officers, directors, employees and agexdsh, a ‘MHA Indemnites
") from and against any Losses that may be incuoreglaid by any of the MHA Indemnitees to the ektmising out of or resulting from:
Newcc's breach of any representation, warranty, coveaanther provision contained in this Agreemen(igithe Assumed Liabilities.

6.3 Indemnity Procedures.

If any claim or action is asserted that would &t MHA Indemnitee or Newco Indemnitee to indenwaifion pursuant to either
the foregoing Section 6.dr Section 6.4a “ Proceedind), the Party who seeks indemnification will give weaittnotice thereof to the Pa
from whom indemnification is sought (the “ Indenamit) promptly (and in any event within fifteen (15) aadar days after the service of
citation or summons); providechowever, that the failure of the Party seeking indemnifma to give timely notice hereunder will not aft
rights to indemnification hereunder, except to eélxeent that Indemnitor demonstrates actual pregudaused by such failure. Indemnitor 1
elect to direct the defense or settlement of amh Sroceeding by giving written notice to the Paggking indemnification, which elect
will be effective immediately upon receipt by thary seeking indemnification of such written notafeslection. The Indemnitor will have 1
right to employ counsel reasonably acceptable edPirty seeking indemnification to defend any seidteeding, or to compromise, settl
otherwise dispose of the same, if the Indemnit@nteit advisable to do so, all at the expense@fridlemnitor; provided that the Indemn
will not settle, or consent to any entry of judgrin any Proceeding without obtaining either:&i) unconditional release of the Party see
indemnification (and its Affiliates and each of itheespective officers, directors, employees andn&g) from all liability with respect to
claims underlying such Proceeding; or (ii) the prigitten consent of the Party seeking indemnifarat A Party seeking indemnification w
not settle, or consent to any entry of judgmentariy Proceeding without obtaining the prior writieonsent of the Indemnitor. The Par
will fully cooperate with each other in any suclo&reding and will make available to each othertaonks or records useful for the defens
any such Proceeding.




6.4 Indemnification as Sole Remedy.

Other than for specific performance and claimsafimon law fraud, the indemnification provided irstirticle 6, subject to th
limitations set forth herein, shall be the exclasiemedy available to MHA, Newco and Nordic, or afiyheir respective affiliates, arising |
of or relating to this Agreement, the Assets or Alssumed Liabilities, and are in lieu of any andagher rights and remedies which MF
Newco or Nordic may have under this Agreement betise for monetary relief in connection with afithe foregoing

7. GENERAL PROVISIONS.
7.1 Governing Law; Jurisdiction; Venue .

T his Agreement, and any disputes arising directlyndirectly from this Agreement, shall be goveridand construed and enfor
in accordance with the laws of the state of Newkyavithout regard to conflict-ofaws rules. The parties hereto hereby irrevocably
unconditionally (i) agree that any action or pratiag arising out of or in connection with this Agreent shall be brought only in the s
courts located in the Borough of Manhattan in theteSof New York (the ‘NY Courts "), and not in any other state or federal court ir
United States of America or any court in any ottmuntry, (ii) consent to submit to the exclusivagdiction of the NY Courts for purposes
any action or proceeding arising out of or in carioe with this Agreement, (iii) waive any objeatito the laying of venue of any such ac
or proceeding in the NY Courts, and (iv) waive, agee not to plead or to make, any claim thatsamh action or proceeding brought in
NY Courts has been brought in an improper or ineoient forum

7.2 Notices.

All notices, claims, demands and other communicatibereunder shall be in writing and shall be dekmigen if delivere
personally or by telecopier, one business day aftérg sent by major overnight courier, or fouribass days after being mailed by regist
or certified mail (postage prepaid, return recegufuested) to each party at its respective addegstorth below (or at such other addres
any party hereto shall hereafter specify by naticeriting to the other parties hereto).

Contact Information for Newco: Contact Information for MHA:

c/o Nordic Biotech Advisors Manhattan Pharmaceuticals, Inc.

@stergade 5, 3rd floor 810 Seventh Avenue,@Floor

DK-1100 Copenhagen K New York, NY 1001¢

Denmark Fax: (212) 582-3957

Fax +45 70 20 12 64 Attn: Chief Financial Officer

E-mail: fs@nordic-biotech.com Email: mgmcguinness@manhattanpharma.com

Attn.: Florian Schénharting




7.3 Entire Agreement.

This Agreement constitutes the entire agreemerthefparties hereto with respect to the transactmrgemplated hereby a
supersedes all other prior agreements and unddistey both written and oral, among the partiearor of them, with respect to the sub
matter hereof.

7.4 Binding Effect; Assignment.

All the terms, provisions, covenants and conditiofighis Agreement shall be binding upon and intoehe benefit of and |
enforceable by the parties hereto and their resgebeirs, executors, administrators, represergatiguccessors and permitted assigns.
Agreement and the rights and obligations of theigsuhereto shall not be assigned or delegatechipyparty hereto without the prior writt
consent of the other parties hereto.

7.5 Amendment; Waiver .

This Agreement may be amended, modified, supersedednceled, and any of the terms, provisionsiemtations, warrantis
covenants or conditions hereof may be waived, bgly written instrument executed by all partiesteror, in the case of a waiver, by
party waiving compliance. The failure of any paatyany time or times to require performance of pryvision hereof shall in no mani
affect the right to enforce the same. No waiveraby party of any condition contained in this Agresm or of the breach of any te
provisions, representation, warranty or covenantaioed in this Agreement, in any one or more imsta, shall be deemed to be or cons!
as a further or continuing waiver of any such ctadior breach, or as a waiver of any other coaditr of the breach of any other te
provision, representation, warranty or covenant.

7.6 Execution and Delivery; Counterparts.

A facsimile, telecopy or other reproduction of thigreement may be executed by one or more paréie=tdrand such execution :
delivery shall be considered valid, binding anceefifze for all purposes. At the request of anyyph#reto, all parties hereto agree to exe
an original of this Agreement as well as any fadsintelecopy or other reproduction hereof. Thigégment may be executed simultanec
in two or more counterparts, each of which shaklleemed an original, but all of which together bbaihstitute one and the same instrument.

7.7 Rules of Construction.

All references in this Agreement to Sections arttbotsubdivisions refer to the Sections and othedisisions of this Agreeme
unless expressly provided otherwise. The wordss“thgreement,” “herein,” “hereof,” “hereby,” “hereder,” and words of similar impc
refer to this Agreement as a whole and not to amiqular subdivision unless expressly so limitathenever the words “include,” “i

includes,
and “including” are used in this Agreement, suchrdgoshall be deemed to be followed by the wordgHaeuit limitation.” Each referenc
herein to a Schedule or Exhibit refers to the iidemtified separately in writing by the partiesthe described Schedule or Exhibit to
Agreement. All Schedules and Exhibits are herebgriporated in and made a part of this Agreemeiftsat forth in full herein.

(signature page follows)
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have caused thireAgent to be executed and delivered in their namdeon their behalf .
of the date first above written.

MANHATTAN PHARMACEUTICALS, INC.

By: /s/ Michael McGuinness
Print Name
Title: CFO

HEDRIN PHARMACEUTICALS K/S

By: /sl Michael McGuinness By: /s/ Florian Schonharting
Print Name Print Name
Title: Director Title: Director

For the purposes of Article 6only:

NORDIC BIOTECH VENTURE FUND II K/S

By: By:
Print Name Print Name
Title: Title:
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APPENDIX A
HEDRIN AGREEMENTS

1. Exclusive License Agreement for “Hedrin” amongpinton & Ross, Ltd., Kerris, S.A. and Manhattamaceuticals, Inc., dated June 26,
2007

2. Supply Agreement between Thornton & Ross, Lidl. lanhattan Pharmaceuticals, Inc., dated Jun2(@,
3. Deed of License among Durminster Limited, Thom& Ross, Ltd., Kerris, S.A. and Manhattan Phamugicals, Inc., dated June 26, 2007

OTHER ASSIGNED CONTRACTS

None.




APPENDIX B

PERMITTED LIENS

None.




SCHEDULE 3.5

INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY

None.




SCHEDULE 3.6
ASSETS
1. Cash and cash equivalents held by MHA;
2. right to receive services of MHA personnel (ithg, but not limited to, the services to be pdexd under the Services Agreement); and

3. real property, plant and equipment of MHA




Exhibitc 10.22

Execution Version
REGISTRATION RIGHTS AGREEMENT

This Registration Rights Agreement (this “Agresmens”) is made and entered into
as of February 25, 2008, among Manhattun Pharmaceuticals, Inc., s Delaware corporation (the
“Company™), and Nordic Biotech Venture Fund [1 K/S, a Danish limited liability partnership
fthe " Purchaser”).

This Agreement is made pursuant to the Joint Venture Agrecment, dated as of
January 31, 2008 between the Company and the Purchaser (the “JV Agreement™),

The Company and the Purchaser hereby agree as follows:

1 Definitions. Capitalized rerms wsed and not otherwise defined herein that are
defined in the JV Agreement shall have the meanings given such terms in the JV Agreement, As
used in this Agreement, the following terms shall have the following meanings:

“Advies” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 6(d).

“Effectiveness Date” means the 105™ calendar day following the applicable
Filing Date; provided, however, in the event the Company is notified by the SEC that one of the
above Registration Statements will not be reviewed or is no longer subject io further review and
comments, the Effectiveness Date us to such Registration Statement shall be the fifth Trading
Day following the date on which the Company is so notified if such date precedes the dates
required above,

“Effectiveness Period” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 2(a).
“Event” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 2(b).
“Event Date” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 2(b).

“Filing Date” means, with respect to the initial Registration Statement required
hereunder, the date that 15 10 calendar days fellowing the date on which the Company's Anmual
Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2007 is required (o be fled with the SEC
and, with respect to any additional Registration Statements which may be required pursuant 1o
Section 3(c), the 45 day following the date on which the Company first knows, or reasonably
should have known that such additional Registration Statement is required hereunder.

“Holder” or “Holders"” means the Purchaser and any other holder or holders, as
the case may be, from time to time of Registrable Securities, provided that any holder
other than the Purchaser agrees that the Purchaser shall act as agent for all Holders
pursuant to Section 6(f) hereof,

“Indemunified Party” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 5(c).
“Indemnifying Party” shall have the meaning set forth m Section 5(c).




“Losses” shall have the meaning set forth in Scction 5(2).

“Preceeding” means an action, claim, swit, investigation or proceeding (including,
without limitation, an investigation or partial proceeding, such as a deposition), whether
commenced or threatened.

“Prospecius” means the prospectus included in a Registration Statement
(including, without limitation, a prospectus that incledes any information previously
omitted from a prospectus filed as pant of an effective registration statement in reliance
upan Rule 430A promulgated under the Securities Act), as amended or supplemented by
any prospectus supplement, with respect (o the terms of the offering of any portion of the
Registrable Securities covered by a Registration Statement, and all other amendments and
supplements 1o the Prospectus, including post-effective amendments, and all matenal
mcorporated by reference or deemed 1o be incorporated by reference in such Prospectus.

“Registrable Securifies” means all of (i) the Conversion Shares izsuable and (i)
any shares of Commeon Stock issued or issuable upon any stock split, dividend or other
distribution, recapitalization or stmilar event with respeet to the foregoing.

“Registration Statement” means the imitial registration statement required to be
filed hereunder and any additional registration staternents contemplated by Sections 2{c)
and 3{c), including (in cach case) the Prospectus, amendments and supplements to such
registration statement or Prospectus, including pre- and post-effective amendments, all
exhibits thereto, and all material incorporated by reference or deemed to be incorporated
by reference in such registration statement.

“Rule 415" means Rule 415 promulgated by the SEC pursuant to the Securities
Act, as such Rule may be amended from time to time, or any similar rule or regulation
hereafter adopted by the SEC having substantially the same purpose and effect as such
Rule.

“Rufe 424" means Rule 424 promulgated by the SEC pursuant to the Securities
Act, nz such Rule may be amended from time to time, or any similar rule or regulation
hereafter adopted by the SEC having substantially the same purpose and effect as such
Rule.

“SEC shall mean the Umited States Secunties and Exchange Commission.
“SEC Guidance™ means (1) any publicly-available wntten guidnnce, or rale of

general applicability of the SEC staff, or (i) wrillen comments, requirements of requests of the
SEC staff to the Company in connection with the review of the Registration Statements,

“Selling Stockholder Questionnaire” shall have the meaning set forth in Section
3(a).

“Trading Day" means a day on which the Common Stock is traded on a Trading
Market




“Trading Markef” means whichever of the New York Stock Exchange, the
American Stock Exchange, the Nasdag Global Market, the Nasdaq Global Select Market, the
Masdaq Capital Market or the OTC Bulletin Board on which the Common Stock is listed or
guoted on the date in question.

2. shelf Registration.

(a)  Omorprior to exch Filing Date, the Company shall prepare and file with
the SEC a “Shell™ Registration Statement covering the resale of the Registrable Securities
on such Filing Date that are not then registered on an effective Registration Statement for
an offering to be made on a continuous basis pursuant to Rule 415, The Registration
Statemnent shall be on Form 8-3 (except if the Company is not then eligible to register for
resale the Registrable Securities on Form 5-3, in which eage such registration shall be on
another appropriate form in accordance herewith) and shall contain substantially the
“Plan of Distribution” attached hereto as Annex A; provided, however, that no Holder
shall be named as an “underwriter” in the Registration Statement without the Holder's
prior written consent. Subject 1o the terms of this Agreement, the Company shall use
commercially reasonable efforts to cause the Registration Statement to be declared
effective under the Securities Act as prompily as possible after the filing thereof, but in
any event prior o the applicable Effectiveness Date, and shall use commercially
reasonable efforts to keep the Registration Statement continuously effective under the
Securities Act until all Registrable Securities covered by such Registration Statement
have been sold or may be sold without volume restrictions pursuant to Rule 144 {or any
successor Rule under the Securitics Act) as determined by the counsel to the Company
pursuant to a written opinion letter to such effect, addressed and acceptable to the
Company's transfer agent and the affected Holders (the *Effectiveness Period"). The
Company shall telephonically request effectiveness of a Registration Statement as of 5:00
pm Eastern Time on a Trading Day. The Company shall immediately notify the Holders
via facsimile of the effectivencss of a Registration Statement on the same Trading Day
that the Company telephonically confirms effectiveness with the SEC, which shall be the
date requested for effectivencss of a Registration Statement. The Company shall, by 9:30
am Easten Time on the Trading Day after the Registration Stalement is first declared
effective by the SEC, file a Form 424(b)(5) with the SEC. Failure to so notify the Holder
within | Trading Day of such notification shall be deemed an Event under Seciion 2(b},

{b)  IE (i) a Registration Statement is not filed on or prior to its Filing Date or
the Company files a Registration Statement without affording the Holders the opportunity
to review and comment on the same as required by Section 3(a), or (ii) the Company fails
1o file with the SEC a request for acceleration in accordance with Rule 461 promulgated
under the Securities Act, within five Trading Days of the date that the Company is
notified (orally or in writing, whichever is earlier) by the SEC that a Registration
Statement will not be “reviewed,” or not subject to further review, or (iii) prior to its
Effectiveness Date, the Company fails to file a pre-effective amendment and otherwise
respond in writing to comments made by the SEC in respect of such Registration
Statement within 10 calendar days after the receipt of comments by or notice from the
SEC that such amendment is required in order for a Registration Statement to be declared
effective, or (iv) a Registration Statement filed or required to be filed hereunder is not




declared effective by the SEC by its Effectivencss Date, or (v) after the Effectiveness
Date, a Registration Statement ceases for any reason to remain continuously effective as
to all Registrable Securities for which it is required to be effective, or the Holders are not
permitted 1o utilize the Prospectus therein o resell such Registrable Securities for 10
conseculive ealendar days but no more than an aggregate of 15 calendar days during any
12-momth period {(which need not be consecutive Trading Days) (any such failure or
breach being referred to as an “Eves”, and for purposes of clause (i) or {iv) the date on
which such Event occurs, or for purposes of clause (i) the date on which such five
Trading Day period is exceeded, or for purposes of clause (iii) the date which such 10
calendar day period is exceeded, or for purposes of clause (v) the date on which sech 10
or 15 calendar day period, as applicable, is exceeded being referred to as “Evems Date™),
then in addition to any other rights the Holders may have hereunder or under applicable
lww, on each such Event Date and on each monthly anniversary of each such Event Date
{if the applicable Event shall not have been cured by such date) until the applicable Event
1% cured, the Company shall pay to each Holder an amount in cash, as partial liquidated
damages and not as a penalty, oqual to one-hall percent (0.5%) of the aggregate
Investment Amount paid by such Holder pursuant to the JV Agreement for any
Registrable Securities then held by such Holder; provided, however, that in no event shall
the aggregate amount payable by the Company to all Holders under this sentence exceed
nine percent (9%) of the Investment Amount. If the Company fails to pay any partial
liquidated damages pursuant to this Section in full within seven days after the date
payable, the Company will pay interest thereon at a rate of nine percent (9%) per annum
{or such lesser maximum amount that is permitied to be paid by applicable law) to the
Holder, acoruing daily from the date such partial liquidated damages are due until such
amounts, plus all such interest thereon, are paid in full. The panial liquidated damages
pursuant to the terms hereol shall apply on a daily pro-rata basis for any portion of a
month prior to the cure of an Event,

{c) If at any time the SEC takes the position that the offering of some or all of
the Registrable Securifies in & Registration Statement is not eligible to be made on a
delayed or continuous basis under the provisions of Rule 415 or requires any Holder 1o be
named as an “underwriter”, the Company shall use its commercially reasonable efforts to
persuade the SEC that the offering contemplated by the Registration Statement is a valid
secondary offering and not an offering “by or on behalf of the issuer™ as defined in Rule
415 and that none of the Holders is an “underwriter”. The Holders shall have the rght w
participate or have their counsel participate in any meetings or discussions with the SEC
regarding the SEC's position and to comment or have their counsel comment on any
written submission made 1o the SEC with respeet thereto. No such written submission
shall be made to the SEC to which the Holders' counsel reasonably objects. In the event
that, despite the Company’s commercially reasonable efforts and compliance with the
terms of this Section 2{¢), the SEC refuses to altér s position, the Company shall remove
from the Registration Statement such portion of the Registrable Securities (the “Cut Back
Shares") and/or agree 1o such restrictions and limitations on the registration and resale of
the Registrable Securities as the SEC may require to assure the Company's compliance
with the requirements of Rule 415; provided, however, that the Company shall not agree
to name any Helder as an “underwriter” in such Registration Statement without the prior
wrilten consent of such Holder (collectively, the “SEC Restrictions™). Any cul-back
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imposed on the Holders porsuant to this Section 2(c) shall, unless the SEC Restrictions
otherwise requite or provide and unless otherwise dirccted in wniting by a Holder as to its
Registrable Securities, will first be applied 1o Registrable Securities represented by the
Conversion Shares other than Warrant Shares {applied, in the case that some of such
shares of Common Stock may be registered, to the Holders on a pro rata basis based on
the total number of unregistered Conversion Shares other than Warrant Shares held by
such Holders) and second to the Warrant Shares (applicd, in the case that some Warrant
Shares may be registered, to the Holders on a pro rata basis based on the total number of
unregistered Warrant Shares held by such Flolders). Mo liguidated damages shall accrue
on or as to any Cut Back Shares until such time as the Company is able to effect the
registration of the Cut Back Shares in sccordance with any SEC Restrictions (such date,
the “Resfriction Termination Date™), From and after the Restriction Termination Date,
all of the provisions of this Section 2 (including the liquidated damages provisions) shall
agan be applicable to the Cut Back Shares; provided, however, that for such purposes,
the Filing Date with respect to any such Cut Back Shares shall be the 45 day following
the Restnction Termination Date.

3. Registration Procedures.

In conncction with the Company's registration obligations hercunder, the
Company shall:

(=) Mot less than five Trading Days prior to the filing of cach Hegistration
Statement or any related Prospectus or any amendment or supplement thersto (including
any document that would be incorporated or deemed to be incorporated therein by
reference), the Company shall, (i) fumish to each Holder copies of all such documents
proposed to be filed, which documents (other than those incorporated or deemed 1o be
incorporated by reference) will be subject to the review of such Holders, and (ii) cause its
officers and dircctors, counsel and independent certified public accountants to respond to
such inquiries as shall be necessary, in the rexsonable opinion of respective counsel io
conduct a reasonable investigation within the meaning of the Securities Act. The
Company shall not file a Repistration Statement or any such Prospectus or any
amendments or supplements thereto to which the Holders of a majority of the Registrable
Securities shall reasonably object in good fuith, provided that, the Company is notified of
such objection in writing no later than five Trading Days afier the Holders have been so
fumished copics of such documents. Each Holder agrees to fumnish to the Company a
completed Questionnaire in the form attached to this Agreement as Annex B (a “Selling
Stockholder Questionnaire”™) not less than two Trading Days prior o the Filing Date or
by the end of the fourth Trading Day following the date on which such Holder receives
drafi matenals in aceordance with this Section.

() (i) Prepare and file with the SEC such amendments, including post-
effective amendments, to a2 Registration Statement and the Prospectus used in connection
therewith as may be necessary to keep a Registration Statement continuously effective as
to the applicable Registrable Securities for the Effectiveness Period and prepare and file
with the SEC such additional Registration Statements in order to register for resale under
the Securities Act all of the Registrable Securitics; (ii) cause the reluted Prospectus to be




amended or supplemented by any required Prospectus supplenent (subject to the terms of
this Agreement), and as so supplemented or amended to be filed pursuant to Rule 424;
(iii) respond as prompily as reasonably possible to any comments received from the SEC
with respect to a Registration Statement or any amendment thereto and as prompily as
reasonably possible provide the Holders true and complete copies of all correspondence
from and to the SEC relating to a Registration Statement; and (iv) comply in all material
respects with the provisions of the Securities Act and the Exchange Act with respect to
the disposition of all Registrable Securities covered by a Registration Statement during
the applicable period in accordance (subject to the terms of this Agreement) with the
intended methods of disposition by the Holders thercof st forth in such Registration
Staternent as 50 amended or i such Prospectus as so supplemented.

(c) If during the Effectiveness Period, there occurs any change in the Adjusted
Transaction Price (as defined in the JV Agreement) or the Per Share Wammant Price (as
defined in the Warrant) such that additional shares of Common Stock become issuahle
upon the exercise of the Put Option, the Call Option or the Warrants, then the Company
shall file s soon 2s reasonably practicable but in any case prior to the applicable Filing
Date, an additional Registration Statement covering the resale by the Holders of such
additional shares of Common Stock, but only 1o the extent that such additional shares of
Commaon Stock are not ul the time covered by an effective Registration Statement.

(d)  Notify the Holders of Registrable Securities 1o be sold as promptly as
reasonably possible (1)(A) when a Prospectus or any Prospectus supplement or post-
effective amendment to a Registration Stmtement is proposed 1o be filed; (B) when the
SEC notifies the Company whether there will be a “review™ of such Registration
Statement and whenever the SEC comments in writing on such Registration Statement
(the Company shall provide true and complete copies thereof and all wrilten responses
thereto to each of the Holders), and (C) with respect 1o a Registration Statemeni or any
post-cffective amendment, when the same has become effective; (i) of any request by the
SEC or any other Federal or state governmental anthority for amendments or supplements
to a Registration Stalement or Prospectus or for additional information; (iii) of the
issuance by the SEC or any other federal or state governmental authonity of any stop
order suspending the effectivencss of a Registration Statement covering any or all of the
Remstrable Secunities or the imtiation of any Proceedings for thal purpose; (iv) of the
receipt by the Company of any notification with respect to the suspension of the
gualification or exemption from qualification of any of the Registrable Securities for sale
in any junsdiction, or the mitiation or threatening of any Proceeding for such purpose;
and (v} of the occurrence of any event or passage of time that makes the financial
statements included in a Registration Statement ineligible for inclusion therein or any
sinfement made in a Registration Statement or Prospectus or any document incorporated
or deemed to be incorporated therein by reference untrue in any material respect or that
requires any revisions lo a Registration Statement, Prospectus or other documents so that,
in the case of a Registration Statement or the Prospectus, as the case may be, it will not
contain any untrue statement of a materal fact or omit to state any material fact required
to be stated therein or necessary 1o make the statements therein, in light of the
circumstances under which they were made, not misleading.




(e) Use commercially reasonable efforts to avoid the 1ssuance of, or, if issued,
obtain the withdrawal of (i) any order suspending the effectiveness of a Registration
Statement, or (it) any suspension of the qualification (or exemption from qualification) of
any of the Registrable Securities for sale in any jurisdiction, at the carliest practicable
maoment.

(f) Furmish to each Holder, without charge, at least ong conformed copy of
each such Registration Statement and each amendment thereto, including financial
statements ‘and schedules, all documents incorporated or deemed to be incorporated
therein by reference to the extent requested by such Holder, and all exhibits to the extent
requested by such Person (including those previously furnished or incorporated by
reference) promptly after the filing of such documents with the SEC.

(g)  Promptly deliver to each Holder, without charge, as many copies of the
Prospectus or Prospectuses (including each form of prospectus) and each amendment or
supplement thereto as such Persons may reasonably request in connection with resales by
the Holder of Registrable Securitics.  Subject to the terms of this Agreement, the
Company hereby consents to the use of such Prospectus and each amendment or
supplement thereto by each of the selling Holders in connection with the offering and sale
of the Registrable Securities covered by such Prospectus snd any amendment or
supplement thereto, except after the giving on any notice pursuant to Section 3(d).

(hy  If NASD Rule 2710 requires any broker-dealer to make a filing prior to
executing a sale by a Holder, make an Issuer Filing with the NASD, Inc. Corporste
Financing Department pursuant to NASD Rule 2710(b} 10M AN 1) and respond within five
Trading Days 1o any comments received from NASD in connection therewith, and pay
the filing fee required in connection therewith,

(1) Prior to any resale of Remstrable Securibes by a Holder, use its
commercially reasonable efforts to register or qualify or cooperate with the selling
Holders in connection with the registration or qualification (or exemption from the
Registration or qualification) of such Registrable Secunties for the resale by the Holder
unider the securities or Blue Sky laws of such jurisdictions within the United States as any
Holder reasonably requests in writing, to keep each registration or qualification (or
exemption therefrom) effective during the Effectiveness Period and to do any and all
other acts or things reasonably necessary o enable the disposition in such junisdictions of
the Registrable Securities covered by each Registration Statement; provided, that the
Company shall not be required to qualify generally to do business in any jurisdiction
where it is not then so qualified, subject the Company to any material tax in any such
jurisdiction where it is not then so subject or file a general consent 1o service of process
i any such jurisdiction,

i If requested by the Holders, cooperate with the Holders to facilitate the
timely preparation and delivery of certificates representing Registrable Securities to be
delivered to a transferce pursuant to a Registration Statement, which certificates shall be
free, to the extent permitted by the IV Agreement, of all restrictive lepends, and 1o enable




such Registrable Securities to be in such denominations and registered in such names as
any such Holders may request.

(ky Upon the oceurrence of any event contemplated by this Section 3, as
promptly as reasonably possible under the circumstances laking inlo account the
Company’s good faith assessment of any adverse consequences to the Company and its
stockholders of the premature disclosure of such event, prepare a supplement or
amendment, including a post-cffective amendment, to a Registration Statement or a
supplement to the related Prospectus or any document incorporated or deemed to be
incorporated therein by reference, and file any other required document so that, as
thereafter delivered, neither a Registration Statement nor such Prospectus will contain an
untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact required o be stated
therein or necessary to make the statements therein, in light of the circumstances under
which they were made, not misleading. If the Company notifies the Holders in
accordance with clauses (iii) through (v) of Section 3(d) above to suspend the use of any
Prospectus uniil the requisite changes to such Prospectus have been made, then the
Holders shall suspend use of such Prospectus. The Company will use commercially
reasonable efforts to ensure that the use of the Prospectus may be resumed as promptly as
is practicable. The Company shall be entitled to exercise its right under this Section 3(k)
to suspend the availability of a Registration Statement and Prospectus, subject to the
payment of partial liquidated damages pursuant o Section 2{b), for 2 period not to exceed
60 days (which need not be consecutive days) in any 12-month period.

{Iy  Comply with all applicable rules and regulations of the SEC,

(m)  The Company may require cach selling Holder to fumish to the Company
a certified statement as to the pumber of shares of Commeon Stock beneficially owned by
such Holder and, if required by the SEC, the person thereof that has voting and
dispositive comtrol over the Shares. During any periods that the Company is unable 1o
meet ils obligations hercunder with respect to the registration of the Registrable
Securitics solely because any Holder fails to furnish such information within three
Trading Days of the Company”s request, any rights of such Holder under this Agreement,
including, without limitation, the rights to include such Holder's Registrable Securities in
the Registration Statement and the liquidated damages that are accruing at such time 2= 1o
such Holder, shall be tolled and any Event that may otherwise occur solely because of
such delny shall be suspended as to such Holder only, uniil such information is delivered

to the Company.

4, Registration Expenses. All fees and expenses incident to the performance of or
complignce with this Agreement by the Company shall be bome by the Company whether or not
any Registrable Securities are sold pursuant to a Registration Statement. The fees and expenses
referred to in the foregoing sentence shall include, without limitation, (i) all registration and
filing fees (including, without limitation, fees and expenses (A) with respect to filings required to
be made with the Trading Market on which the Commeon Stock is then Listed for trading, (B) in
complience with applicable state securities or Blue Sky laws reasonably agreed to by the
Company in writing (including, withowt limitation, fees and disbursements of counsel for the
Company in connection with Blee Sky qualifications or exenptions of the Registrable Securitics




and determination of the eligibility of the Registrable Securities for investment under the laws of
such jurisdictions as requested by the Holders) and {(C) if net previously paid by the Company in
connection with an Issuer Filing, with respect to any filing that may be required 1o be made by
any broker through which a Holder intends to make sales of Registrable Securities with NASD
Regulation, Inc. pursuant to the NASD Rule 2710, so long as the broker is receiving no more
than a customary brokerage SEC in connection with such sale), (i) printing expenses (including,
without limitation, expenses of printing certificates for Registrable Sccurities and of printing
prospectuses if the printing of prospectuses is reasonably requested by the holders of & majority
of the Registrable Securities included in a Registration Statement), (iii) messenger, telephone and
delivery expenscs, (iv) fees and disbursements of counsel for the Company, (v) Securitics Act
lishility insurance, if the Company so desires such insurance, and (vi) fees and expenses of all
oiher Persons retained by the Company in connection with the consummation of the transactions
contemplated by this Agreement. In addition, the Company shall be responsible for all of its
infernal expenses incurred in conmection with the consummation of the transactions
contemplated by this Agreement (including, without limitation, all salaries and expenses of its
officers and employees performing legal or accounting duties), the expense of any annual audit
and the fees and expenses incurred in connection with the listing of the Registrable Securities on
any securities exchange as required hereunder. In no event shall the Company be responsible for
any broker or similar SECs or, except to the extent provided for in the Transaction Documents,
any legal fees or other costs of the Holders.

5. Indemnification

(a) Indemnification by the Company. The Company shall, notwithstanding
any termination of this Agreement, indemnify and hold harmless cach Holder, the
officers, directors, members, partners, agents, brokers (including brokers who offer and
sell Registrable Securitics as principal as a result of a pledge or any failure to perform
under a margin call of Common Stock), investment advisors and employees (and any
other Persons with a functionally equivalent role of a Person holding such titles,
notwithstanding a lack of such title or any other title) of cach of them, each Person who
controls any such Holder (within the meaning of Section 15 of the Securities Act or
Section 20 of the Exchange Act) and the officers, directors, members, partners, agenis
and employees (and any other Persons with a functionally equivalent role of a Person
holding such titles, notwithstanding a lack of such title or any other title) of cach such
controlling Person, to the fullest extent permiited by applicable law, from and against any
and all losses, claims, damages, liabilitics, costs (including, without limitation, reasonable
attomeys’ fees) and expenses (collectively, “Losses™), as incurred, arising oul of or
relating to (i) any untrue or alleged untrue statement of a material fact contained in a
Registration Statement, any Prospectus or any form of prospecius or in any amendment
or supplement thereto or in any preliminary prospectus, or arising oul of or relating to any
omission or alleged omission of a material fact required to be stuted therein or necessary
to make the statements therein (in the case of any Prospectus or form of prospectus or
supplement therelo, in light of the cireumstances under which they were made) not
misleading, or (i) any violation or alleged violation by the Company of the Securities
Act, Exchange Act or any state securities law, or any rule or regulation thereunder, in
connection with the performance of its obligations under this Agreement, except to the
extent, but only to the extent, that (A) such untrue statements or omissions are based




solely upon information regardimg sech Holder fumished m writing to the Company by
such Holder expressly for use therein, or to the extent thal such information relates o
such Holder or such Holder's proposed method of distribution of Registrable Securitics
and was reviewed and expressly approved in writing by such Holder expressly for use in
4 Registration Statement, such Prospectus or such form of Prospectus or in any
amendment or supplement thereto (it being understood that the Holder has approved
Annex A hereto for this purpose) or (B) in the case of an occurrence of un event of the
type specified in Section 3(dWiii)-{v), the use by such Holder of an outdated or defective
Prospectus after the Company has notified such Holder in writing that the Prospectus is
outdated or defective and prior to the receipt by such Holder of the Advice contemplated
in Section 6(d). The Company shall notify the Holders promptly of the institution, threat
or assertion of any Proceeding arising from or in comnection with the transactions
contemplated by this Agreement of which the Company is aware,

(b)  Indemnification by Holders. Each Holder shall, severally and not jointly,
indemnify and hold harmless the Company, its directors, officers, agents and employees,
each Person who controls the Company (within the meaning of Section 15 of the
Securitics Act and Section 20 of the Exchange Act), and the directors, officers, agents or
employees of such controlling Persons, to the fullest extent permitted by applicable low,
from and against all Losses, as incurred, to the extent arsing oul of or based solely upon:
(i} such Holder's failure to comply with the prospectus delivery requirements of the
Securities Act or (ii) any untrue or alleged unirue stalement of a material fact contained
in mny Registration Statement, any Prospectus, or any form of prospectus, or in any
amendment or supplement thereto or in any preliminary prospectus, or arising oul of or
relating to any omission or alleged omission of a malerial fact required to be stated
therein or necessary to make the statements therein not nm]mdmg (A) to the extent, but
only to the extent, that such untrue statement or omission is contained in any information
so furnished in writing by such Holder to the Company specifically for inclusion in such
Registration Statement or such Prospectus or (B) to the extent that such information
relates to such Holder or such Holder®s proposed method of distribution of Registrable
Securities and was reviewed and expressly approved in writing by such Holder expressly
for use in a Registration Statement (it being understood that the Holder has approved
Annex A herelo for this purpose), such Prospectus or such form of Prospectus or in any
amendment or supplement thereto or (C) in the case of an ocourrence of an event of the
typee specified n Section 3(d)iii}-(v), the use by such Holder of an outdated or defective
Prospectus after the Company has notified such Holder in writing that the Prospectus is
outdated or defective and prior to the receipt by such Holder of the Advice contemplated
in Section 6{d). In no event shall the liability of any selling Holder hereunder be greater
in amounlt than the dollar amount of the net proceeds received by such Holder upon the
sale of the Registrable Securities giving rise to such indemnification obligation.

{¢) Conduet of Indemnification Proccedings. If any Proceeding shall be
brought or asserted against any Person entitled to indemnity hereunder (an “Frndesmmified
Party”), such Indemnified Party shall promptly notify the Person from whom indemnity
is sought (the “Indemnifying Party”) in writing, and the Indemnifying Party shall have
the right to assume the defense thereof, including the emplovment of counsel reasonably
satisfactory to the Indemmnified Party and the pavment of all fees and expenses incurred in
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connection with defense thereof;, provided, that the failure of any Indemnified Party to
give such notice shall not relieve the Indemnifying Party of its obligations or linbilities
pursuant o this Agreement, except (and only) to the extent thal it shall be finally
determined by a court of competent jurisdiction {which determination is not subject to
appeal or further review) that such failure shall have prejudiced the Indemnifying Party.

An Indemmified Party shall have the nght to employ separate counsel in any such
Proceeding and to participate in the defense thereof, but the fees and expenses of such
counsel shall be at the expense of such Indemnified Party or Parties unless: (i) the
Indemnifying Party has agreed in writing to pay such fees and expenses; (i) the
Indemnifying Party shall have failed prompily to assume the defense of such Proceeding
and to employ counsel reasonably satisfactory to such Indemnified Parly in any such
Proceeding; or (iii) the named parties to any such Proceeding (including any impleaded
parties) include both such Indemnified Party and the Indemnifiing Party, and such
Indemnificd Party shall reasonably believe that & material conflict of interest is likely to
exist if the same counsel were o represent such Indemnified Party and the Indemnifving
Party (in which case, if such Indemnified Party notifies the Indemnifving Party in writing
that it clects to employ separate counsel at the expense of the Indemnifying Party, the
Indemnifying Party shall not have the right to assume the defense thereof and the
reasonable fees and expenses of one separate counsel shall be at the expense of the
Indemnifying Party). The Indemnifving Party shall not be liable for any settlement of
any such Procceding effected without its written consent, which consent shall not be
unreasonably withheld, No Indemmnifying Party shall, without the prior written consent of
the Indemnified Party, effect any settlement of any pending Proceeding in respect of
which any Indemnified Party is a party, unless such setilement includes an unconditional
release of such Indemnified Party from all liahility on claims that are the subject matter

of such Proceeding.

Subject to the terms of this Agreement, all reasonable fees and expenses of the
Indemnified Party (including reasonable fees and expenses to the extent incurred in
connection with investigating or prepanng to defend sach Proceeding in a mamnmer not
inconsistent with this Section) shall be paid to the Indemnified Party, as incurred, within
ten Trading Days of written notice thereof to the Indemnifying Party; provided, that the
Indemmified Party shall promptly reimburse the Indemnifying Party for that portion of
such fees and expenses applicable to such actions for which such Indemnified Party is
Judicially determined to be not entitled to indemmnification hereunder,

(d) Contribution, [If the indemnification under Sectiom 5a) or 5(b) is
unavailable o an Indemnified Party or insufficient to hold an Indemnified Party harmless
for any Losses, then easch Indemnifying Party shall contribute to the amount paid or
payable by such Indemnified Party, in such proportion as is appropriate to reflect the
relative fault of the Indemmifying Party and Indermmified Party in connection with the
actions, statements or omissions that resulted in such Losses as well as any other relevant
equitable considerations. The relative fault of such Indemnifying Party and Indemnified
Party shall be determined by reference to, among other things, whether any action in
question, including any untrue or alleged untrue statement of 2 matenial fact or omission
or alleged omission of & material fact, has been taken or made by, or relates o
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information supplied by, such Indemnifying Party or Indemnified Party, and the parties’
relative intent, knowledge, access to information and opportunity to correct or prevent
such action, ststement or omission, The amount paid or payable by a party as a result of
any Losses shall be deemed to include, subject to the limitations set forth in this
Agreement, any reasonable altomeys® or other fees or expenses incurred by such party in
connection with any Procesding to the extent such party would have been indemnified for
such fees or expenses if the indemnification provided for in this Section was available to
such party in accordance with its terms.

The parties hereto agree that it would not be just and equitable if contribution
pursuant to this Section 5(d) were determined by pro rata allocation or by any other
method of allecation that does not take into account the equitable considerations referred
to in the immediately preceding paragraph. Notwithstanding the provisions of this
Section 5(d), no Holder shall be required to contribute, in the ageregate, any amount in
excess of the amount by which the proceeds actually reccived by such Holder from the
sale of the Registrable Securities subject to the Proceeding exceeds the amount of any
damages that such Holder has otherwise been required to pay by reason of such untrue or
alleged untrue statement or omission or alleged omission, except in the case of fraud by
such Holder.

The indemnity and contribution agreements contained in this Section are in
addition 0 any liability that the Indemnifying Parties may have to the Indemnified
Parties.

6. Miscellancous

(a)  Remedics. In the event of 4 breach by the Company or by a Holder, of
any of their respective obligations under this Agreement, cach Holder or the Company, as
the case may be, in addition (o being entitled to exercise all rights granted by law and
under this Agreement, including recovery of damages, shall be entitled to specific
performance of its rights under this Agreement, The Company and each Holder agree
that monetary damages would not provide adequate compensation for any losses incurred
by reason of a breach by it of any of the provisions of this Agreement and hereby further
agrees that, in the event of any action for specific performance in respect of such breach,
it shall not assert or shall waive the defense that a remedy at law would be adequate.

(t)  No Piggvback on Registrations. Except as set forth on Schedule 6(b)
attached hereto, neither the Company nor any of its secunty holders (other than the
Holders in such capacity pursuant hereto) may include securities of the Company in the
Registration Statement other than the Registrible Securitics. Except for the rights
granted hereunder, no Person has any right to cause the Company to effect the
registration under the Securities Act of any securities of the Company, The Company
shall not file any other registration statements until the initial Registration Statement
required hereunder is declared effective by the SEC, provided that this Section 6(b) shall
not prohibil the Company from filing amendments to registration statements filed prior to
the date of this Agreement.




(¢} Complance. Each Holder covenants and agrees that it will comply with
the prospectus delivery requirements of the Securities Aet as applicable fo it in
connection with sules of Registrable Securities pursuant to a Registration Statement,

(dy  Discontinued Disposition. Each Holder agrees by its acquisition of such
Registrable Sccurities that, upon receipt of a notice from the Company of the occurrence
of any event of the kind descnbed in Section 3(d}, such Holder wall forthwith discontinue
disposition of such Registrable Securities under a Registration Statement until such
Holder's receipt of the copies of the supplemented Prospectus andior amended
Registration Statement or until it is advised in writing (the “Advice”) by the Company
that the use of the applicable Prospectus may be resumed, and, in either case, has
received copics of any additional or supplemental filings that are incorporated or deemed
to be incorporated by reference in such Prospecius or Registration Statement. The
Company will use commercially reasonable efforts to ensure that the use of the
Prospecius may be resumed as promptly as it practicable. The Company agrees and
acknowledges that any periods during which the Holder is required to discontinue the
disposition of the Registrable Securities hereunder shall be subject 1o the provisions of
Section 2(h).

(&) Pigey-Back Registrations. If at any time during the Effectiveness Period
there is not an effective Registration Statement covering all of the Registrable Securitics
and the Company shall determine to prepare and file with the SEC a registration
statement refating to an offering for its own account or the account of others under the
Securities Act of any of its equity securities, other than on Form 5-4 or Form 5-8 (cach as
promulgated under the Secunties Act) or their then equivalents relating to equity
securities to be issued solely in connection with any acquisition of any entity or business
or equily securitics issuable in connection with the stock option or other employee benefit
plans, then the Company shall send to each Holder a written notice of such determination
and, if within fifteen days after the date of such notice, any such Holder shall 5o request
in writing, the Company shall include in such registration statement all or any part of
such Registrable Securitics such Holder requests to be registered; provided, however,
that, the Company shall not be required to register any Registrable Secunties pursuant (o
this Scction (¢} that are eligible for resale without volume restrictions pursuant fo Rule
144 (or any successor Rule under the Securitics Act) promulgated under the Securities
Act or that are the subject of a then eflective Registration Staleiment,

(f) Amendments and Waivers. The provisions of this Agreement, including
the provisions of this sentence, may not be amended, modificd or supplemented, and
waivers or consenis to departures from the provisions hereof may not be given, unless the
same shall be in writing and signed by the Company and each Holder of the then
outstanding Registrable Securities. Notwithstanding the foregoing, a waiver or consent
to depart from the provisions hereof with respect to a matter that relates exclusively to the
rights of Holders and that does not directly or indirectly afTect the nghts of ather Holders
may be given by Holders of all of the Registrable Secunities fo which such waiver or
consent relates; provided, however, that the provisions of this sentence may not be
amended, modified, or supplemented except in accordance with the provisions of the
immediately preceding sentence.
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(g)  Motices. Any and all notices or other communications or deliveries
required or permitted to be provided hereunder shall be delivered as set forth in the IV

Agreement.

(h) 15 g Agent. This &.g:tmm:m shall inure
1o the benefit ufm:ui I:cbmd.m,g upm lhcﬂm:mmandpmmmd assigns of each of the
parties and shall inure 1o the benefit of each Holder. The Company may not assign its
rights or obligations hereunder without the prior written consent of all of the Holders of
the then-outstanding Registrable Securities. Each Holder may transfer or assign, in whole
or from time to time in part, to one or more persons its rights hereunder in connection
with the transfer of Registrable Securities by such Holder to such person, provided that
such Holder complies with all laws applicable thereto and provides written notice of
assignment to the Company promptly following such assignment. Each Holder and each
assignee of a Holder agrees (by acceptance of the rights afforded 1o such party under this
Agreement and without any further action) that (1) the Purchaser shall be the agent for
each Holder and each assignee of a Holder, solely for purposes of receiving notices or
other information required to be sent by the Company to the Holders or soliciting
consents from the Holders, and (ii) the Company need only deal with the Purchaser with
respect (o notices and consents, and that the Purchaser may consent (o any request
without consulting any such Holder or assignee,

(i)  No Inconmstent Agreements. Neither the Company nor any of s
subsidiarics has entered, as of the date hercof, nor shall the Company or any of its
subsidiaries, on or after the date of this Agreement, enter into any agreement with respect
to its securitics, that would have the effect of impairing the rghts granied to the Holders
in this Agreement or otherwise conflicts with the provisions hereof. Except as set forth
on Schedule 6(i), neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries has previously entered
inlo any agreement granting any regstration dghts with respect to any of its securities to
any Person that have not been satisfied in full.

i) Execution and Counterparts. This Agreement may be executed in twa or
more counterparts, all of which when taken together shall be considered one and the same
agreement and shall become effective when counterparts have been signed by each party
and delivered to the other party, it being understood that both parties need not sign the
same counterparl. In the event that any signature is delivered by facsimile transmission or
by e-mail delivery of a “.pdf™ format dota file, such signature shall create a valid and
hinding obligation of the party executing {or on whose behalfl such signature 15 executed)
with the same force and effect as if such facsimile or *.pdf™ signature page were an
original thereof.

ik} Croverning Law. All questions conceming the construction, validity,
enforcement and interpretation of this Agreement shall be determined in accordance with
the provisions of the JV Agreement.

{1 Cumulative Remedies. The remedies provided herein are cumulative and
not exclusive of any other remedies provided by law,
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(m) Severability. If any lerm, provision, covenanl or restnction of this
Agreement is held by a court of competent jurisdiction to be invalid, illegal, void or
uncnforceable, the remainder of the terms, provisions, covenants and restrictions set forth
herein shall remain in full force and effect and shall in no way be affected, impaired or
invalidated, and the partics hereto shall uge their commercially reasonable efforts to find
and employ an allemative means o achieve the same or substantially the same result as
that contemplated by such term, provision, covenant or restriction. It is hereby stipulated
and declared to be the intention of the parties that they would have executed the
remaining terms, provisions, covenants and restrictions without including any of such
that may be hereafter declared invalid, illegal, void or unenforecshle.

(n}  Headings. The headings in this Agreement are for convenmience of
reference only, do not constitule a part of this Agreement, and shall not be deemed o
limit or affect any of the provisions hereof,

ights.  The ohligations
of cach Holder hm:umi:r are Sr-'vwal and not juml w1lh the ubhga.u-mu of any other
Holder hereunder, and no Holder shall be responsible in any way for the performance of
the ohligations of any ather Holder hereunder. Mothing contained herein or in any other
agreement or document delivered at any closing, and no pction taken by any Holder
pursuant hereto or thereto, shall be deemed to constitute the Holders as a partnership, an
association, 4 joint venture or any other kind of entity, or create a presumption that the
Holders are in any way acling in concerl with respect to such obligations or the
transactions contemplated by this Agreement. Esch Holder shall be entitled to protect
and enforce ils rights, including without limitation the rights ansing out of this
Agreement, and it shall not be necessary for any other Holder to be joined as an
additional party in any proceeding for such purpose.
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Execation Version

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have executed this Registration Rights
Agreement as of the date first writien above,

MANHATTAN FPHARMACEUTICALS, INC,

B
Name: M clwel G- feGuanmes
Title: <for.

NORDIC BIOTECH VENTURE FUND I K75

By g/Florian Schonharting

Mame:
Title: Partner

g/Christian Hansen

Narme:
Tithe: Partner




Execution Version

N WITNESS WHEREOF, the partics have execoted this Registration Rights
Agreement as of the date first written above,

MANHATTAN PHARMACEUTICALS, INC,

By:

!".BITI e
Title:

NORDIC BT VENTURE FUND 1T K55

By:

Name: &, Ham s
Title; }g-p-;l =

Name:
Title:
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Execution Verslon

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have executed this Registration Ri
Agreement as of the date first written above. Rights

MANHATTAN PHARMACEUTICALS, INC.

By:

Mamme:
Title:

NORDIC BIOTECH VENTURE FUND 1T K/S

By: S A
Name: — to e fam b
Title: t ol o i

By:

Name:
Titles




Annex A

Plan of Distribui

Each selling stockholder (the *Selling Stockholders™) of the Common Stock and any of their
pledgees, assignees, and suceessors-in-interest may, from time fo time, sell any or all of their
shares of common stock on any stock exchange, market or trading facility on which the shares
are traded or in private transactions. These sales may be at fixed or nogotiated prices. A Selling
Stockholder may use any one or more of the following methods when selling shares:

+ ordinary hrokerage transactions and transactions in which the broker-dealer solicits
purchasers;

* block trades in which the broker-dealer will attemipt to sell the shares as agent but may
position and resell a portion of the block as principal to facilitate the transaction;

+ purchases by a broker-dealer as principal and resale by the broker-dealer for its account;
+ an exchange distribution in accordance with the rules of the applicable exchange;
- privaiely negotiated transactions;

- seltlement of short sales entered into after the effective date of the registration stalement
of which this prospectus is a part;

+ broker-dealers may agree with the Selling Stockholders to sell a specified number of
such shares ai a stipulated price per share;

+ through the writing or settlement of options or other hedging transactions, whether
through an options exchange or otherwise;

* @ combination of any such methods of sale; ar
* any other method permitied pursuant to applicable law,

The Selling Stockholders may also sell shares under Rule 144 under the Securities Act of 1933,
as amended (the “Securities Act”), if available, rather than under this prospectus.

Broker-dealers engaged by the Selling Stockholders may arrange for other brokers-dealers o
participate in sales. Broker-dealers may reccive commissions or discounts from the Selling
Stockholders (or, if any broker-dealer scts as agent for the purchaser of shares, from the
purchaser) in amounts to be negotiated, but, except as set forth in a supplement o this
prospectus, in the case of an agency transaclion nol in excess of a customary brokerage
commission in compliance with NASDE Rule 2440; and in the case of a principal transaction a
markup or markdown in compliance with NASDR IM-2440.




The Selling Stockholders and any broker-dealers or agents that are involved in selling the shares
may be deemed to be “underwriters™ within the meaning of the Securities Act in connection with
such sales. In such evenl, any commissions received by such broker-dealers or agenis and any
profit on the resale of the shares purchased by them may be decmed to be underwriting
commissions or discounts under the Securitics Act. Each Selling Stockholder has informed the
Company that it docs nol have any written or oral agreement or understanding, directly or
indirectly, with any person to distribute the Common Stock. In no event shall any broker-dealer
receive fees, commissions and markups which, in the aggregate, would exceed ecight percent
(8%,




Annex B
MANHATTAN PHARMACEUTICALS, INC.
Selling Securityholder Notice and Questionnaire

The undersigned beneficial owner of commeon stock, par value $0.001 per share (the
“Commen Stock”™), of Manhattan Pharmaceoticals, Ine., a Delaware corporation (the
“Company’), (the “Registrable Securities™) understands that the Company has filed or intends 1o
file with the Securitics and Exchange SEC (the “SEC") a rcgistration stalement (the
“Registration Statemeny’™) for the registration and resale under Rule 415 of the Secunities Act of
1933, as amended (the “Securitfes Aer™), of the Registrable Securities, in accordance with the
terms of the Registration Rights Agreement, dated as of February _, 2008 (the “Registration
Righes Agreement’”), between the Company and the Purchaser named therein. A copy of the
Registration Rights Agreement is available from the Company upon request at the address set
forth below. All capitalized terms not otherwise defined herein shall have the meanings ascribed
thereto in the Registration Rights Agreement.

Certain legal consequences arise from being named as a selling securitvholder in the
Registration Statement and the related prospecius,  Accordingly, holders and beneficial owners
of Registrable Securities are advised to consult their own securities law counsel regarding the
consequences of being named or not being named as a selling secuntyholder in the Registration
Statement and the related prospectus.

NOTICE
The undersigned bencficial owner (the “Seflimg Securityholder”™) of Registrable

Secunibies hereby clects fo include the Registrable Secunitics owned by it and listed below in
Item 3 (unless otherwise specified under such Item 3) in the Registration Statement.




The undersigned hereby provides the following information to the Company and represents and
warrants that such information is accurate:

QUESTIONNAIRE

1. MName,

{a)  Full Legal Name of Selling Securityholder

(b}  Full Legal Name of Registered Holder (if not the same as (a) above) through
which Registrable Securitics Listed in Item 3 below are held:

() Full Legal Name of Natural Control Person (which means a natural person who
directly or indirectly alone or with others has power 1o vole or dispose of the
securitics covered by the questionnaire):

2. Address for Notices to Selling Securityholder:

Telephone:
Fax:
Contact Person:

3. Beneficial Ownership of Registrable Securities:
{a)  Type and Number of Registrable Securities beneficially owned:
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4. Broker-Dealer Status:

(a)

(h)

MNote:

(<)

(d)

MNote:

Are you a broker-dealer?
Yes [ Ne O

If “yes" to Section 4{a), did you receive your Repistrable Securities as
compensation for investment banking services to the Company.

Yes O Ne O

Ifno, the SEC"s staff has indicaied that you should be identified as an underwriter
in the Registration Statement,

Are you an affiliate of a broker-dealer?

Yes O No O
If you are an affiliate of a broker-dealer, do you certify that vou bought the
Registrable Securitics in the ordinary course of business, and at the time of the
purchase of the Registrable Securitics to be resold, you had no agreements or
understandings, directly or indireetly, with any person to distribute the Registrahle
Securitics?

Yes O MNo O

If no, the SEC"s staff has ndicated that you should be identified as an underwriter
in the Registration Staterment.

5. Beneficial Ownership of Other Securities of the Company Owned by the Selling

Securitvholder.

Except as sel forth below in ihiz fiem 5, the undersigned ix not the bengficial or
registered owner of any recurities of the Company other than the Regisirable Securities
lizted above in ftem 3.

(a)

Type and Amount of Other Securities beneficially owned by the Selling
Securityholder:
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6. Relationships with the Company:

Except ax set forth below, neither the undersigned nor any of its affiliaies, officers,
directors or principal equity holders {owners of 5% of more of the equity securities of the
undersigned) has held any position or office or has had any other material refationship
with the Company (or its predecessors or affiliates) during the past three years.,

State any exceptions here:

The undersigned agrees to promptly nolify the Company of any inaccuracies or changes
in the information provided herein that may occur subsequent to the date hercof at any time
while the Registration Staterment remains effective.

By signing below, the undersigned consents to the disclosure of the nformation
contained herein in its answers to ltems 1 through 6 and the inelusion of such information in the
Registration Statement and the related prospectus and any amendmenis or supplements thereto. The
undersigned understands that such information will be relied upon by the Company in
connection with the preparation or amendment of the Registration Statement and the related

prospectus.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF the undersigned, by authority duly given, has caused this
MNotice and Questionnaire to be executed and delivered either in person or by its duly autherized
agent.

Dated: Beneficial Owner;

By:

WName:
Title:

FLEASE FAX A COPY OF THE COMPLETED AND EXECUTED NOTICE AND
QUESTIONNAIRE, AND RETURN THE ORIGINAL BY OVERNIGHT MAIL, TO:

I710735.2
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Exhibit 10.2!

AMENDMENT TO EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENT

BY AND BETWEEN

MANHATTAN PHARMACEUTICALS, INC. AND DOUGLAS ABEL

This AMENDMENT TO EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENT (the "Amendemt") is entered into as of March 28, 2008, by baetivee!
Manhattan Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (the "Company")@adglas Abel (the "Executive").

WITNESSETH THAT:

WHEREAS, the Company and the Executive entered th& certain Employment Agreement, dated as ofil Alpr 2005 (th
"Agreement"); and

WHEREAS, the Company and the Executive desire tenekthe Term (as defined in the Agreement) ofAbeeement by a period
one year.

NOW THEREFORE, for and in consideration of the émimg, the Company and the Executive hereby agrdellaws:

1. The Term is hereby extended by one year, throughl Ap 2009, and, notwithstanding any other prasisiof the
Agreement to the contrary, such one-year extershiafl be deemed an "Additional Term" (as definethenAgreement).

2. This Amendment may be executed in counterpartd) ehavhich shall constitute an original, but bothwhich togethe
shall constitute one and same instrument. This Atmesmt shall be governed by, and construed ancpiretierd in accordance with, the law:

the State of New York, without giving effect to fignciples of conflicts of laws.

3. Except as specifically amended hereby, the Agreémamains otherwise unmodified and in full force effect, and i
hereby ratified by the Company and the Executive.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have signed thissadment to Employment Agreement as of the day aad set forth abow
MANHATTAN PHARMACEUTICALS, INC.

By: Michael McGuinness
Chief Financial Officer

/s/ Michael McGuinness

DOUGLAS ABEL

/sl Douglas Abel




Exhibit 23.1
CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTINGRM

Our report on our audits of the consolidated finanstatements of Manhattan Pharmaceuticals, imt.Subsidiaries as of December 31, 2
and 2006 and for the years then ended and on tieplidated statements of operations, changes @klstéders' equity (deficiency) and ci
flows for the period from August 6, 2001 (date rdeption) to December 31, 2007, included in thisal Report on Form 1K-for the yea
ended December 31, 2007, is dated March 28, 20@cMisent to the incorporation by reference ofreport in the following registratic
statements previously filed by the Company with Becurities and Exchange Commission pursuant toStmurities Act of 1933: tl
registration statements on Forms S-3 with SEC Ris. 333-131814 and the registration statementSasms S-8 with SEC file Nos. 333-
15807, 333-112888, 333-112889 and 333-48531.

Is/ J.H. Cohn LLP

Roseland, New Jersey
March 28, 2008




EXHIBIT 31.1

CERTIFICATION

I, Douglas Abel, certify that:

1.

2.

I have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 106ffanhattan Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (the “Registhant

Based on my knowledge, this report does notatoriny untrue statement of a material fact or donéttate a material fact necessary to
make the statements made, in light of the circuntgts.under which such statements were made, nigadisg with respect to the peri
covered by this report;

Based on my knowledge, the financial statememts,other financial information included in théport, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operatand cash flows of the Registrant as of, andilie periods presented in this report;

The Registrant's other certifying officer(s) drade responsible for establishing and maintaimiisglosure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 198(e)} for the Registrant and have:

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procsgdorecaused such disclosure controls and procedaoitge designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the Registrant, including its consolidhageibsidiaries, is made known to us by
others within those entities, particularly durithg tperiod in which this report is being prepared;

(b) designed such internal control over finanoggdarting, or caused such internal control overrfaial reporting to be designed under
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance reggitae reliability of financial reporting and tipeeparation of financial statements for
external purposes in accordance with generally@edeaccounting principles;

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the Registsaglisclosure controls and procedures and preséntbd report our conclusions about
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and proees] as of the end of the period covered by #psit based on such evaluation; and

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the Begnt's internal control over financial reportthgt occurred during the Registrant's
most recent fiscal quarter (the Registrarigurth fiscal quarter in the case of an annuabrg that has materially affected, or is reasoy
likely to materially affect, the Registrant’s int@t control over financial reporting; and

The Registrant's other certifying officer(s) drhve disclosed, based on our most recent evatuat internal control over financial
reporting, to the Registrant’s auditors and thetaxanmittee of the Registrant’s board of direct@spersons performing the equivalent
functions):

(a) All significant deficiencies and material weakses in the design or operation of internal cootrer financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the Regidtsaability to record, process, summarize and refioancial information; and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that invedvmanagement or other employees who have a samiifiole in the Registrant’s
internal control over financial reporting.

Date: March 31, 2008 /sl Douglas Abel

Douglas Abel
Chief Executive Officer




EXHIBIT 31.2
CERTIFICATION

I, Michael G. McGuinness, certify that:
1. | have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 16fflanhattan Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (the “Registjant

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does notatom@ny untrue statement of a material fact or aongtate a material fact necessary to
make the statements made, in light of the circuntsts.under which such statements were made, nigadisg with respect to the peri
covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statememts,other financial information included in théport, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operatand cash flows of the Registrant as of, anditie periods presented in this report;

4. The Registrant's other certifying officer(s) drade responsible for establishing and maintaimiisglosure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 198(e)} for the Registrant and have:

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procsgorecaused such disclosure controls and procsdorge designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the Registrant, including its consolidhageibsidiaries, is made known to us by
others within those entities, particularly durihg tperiod in which this report is being prepared;

(b) designed such internal control over finanoggdarting, or caused such internal control overrfaial reporting to be designed under
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance rieggitie reliability of financial reporting and tipeeparation of financial statements for
external purposes in accordance with generally@edeaccounting principles;

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the Registsaglisclosure controls and procedures and preséntbds report our conclusions about
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and pros] as of the end of the period covered by #psnt based on such evaluation; and

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the Begnt's internal control over financial reportthgt occurred during the Registrant's
most recent fiscal quarter (the Registrarigurth fiscal quarter in the case of an annuabrg that has materially affected, or is reasoy
likely to materially affect, the Registrant’s int@t control over financial reporting; and

5. The Registrant's other certifying officer(s) antave disclosed, based on our most recent evaluafiagmternal control over financi
reporting, to the Registrant’s auditors and theitazammmittee of the Registrastboard of directors (or persons performing thevedent
functions):

(a) All significant deficiencies and material weakses in the design or operation of internal cootrer financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the Regidtsaability to record, process, summarize and refioancial information; and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that invedvmanagement or other employees who have a simiifiole in the Registrant’s
internal control over financial reporting.

Date: March 31, 2008 /sl Michael G. McGuinness

Michael G. McGuinness
Chief Financial Officer




Exhibit 32.1
CERTIFICATION

Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adoptedipnir$o Section 906 of the Sarbaridey Act of 2002, the undersigned offic
of Manhattan Pharmaceuticals, Inc. hereby certtfias, to the best of their knowledge:

(a) the Annual Report on Form 10-K of ManhattanrRteeuticals, Inc. for the year ended DecembeBQ7 (the “Report”fully
complies with the requirements of Section 13(a)%(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and

(b) information contained in the Report fairly preserits all material respects, the financial conditiand results ¢
operations of Manhattan Pharmaceuticals, Inc.

Dated: March 31, 2008 /s/ Douglas Abel

Douglas Abel
President and Chief Executive Officer

Dated: March 31, 2008 /s/ Michael G. McGuinness

Michael G. McGuinness
Chief Financial Officer




